PEDIATRIC CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM TUMORS: STATE-OF-THE-ART AND DEBATED ASPECTS

EDITED BY: Angela Mastronuzzi, Andrea Carai, Elisabetta Ferretti and Evelina Miele PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pediatrics and Frontiers in Oncology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-664-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-664-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

PEDIATRIC CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM TUMORS: STATE-OF-THE-ART AND DEBATED ASPECTS

Topic Editors:

Angela Mastronuzzi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Andrea Carai, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Elisabetta Ferretti, Dipartimento di Medicina Sperimentale, Facoltà di Medicina e Odontoiatria, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Evelina Miele, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Citation: Mastronuzzi, A., Carai, A., Ferretti, E., Miele, E., eds. (2020). Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-664-8

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects

Andrea Carai and Angela Mastronuzzi

06 Numb Isoforms Deregulation in Medulloblastoma and Role of p66 Isoform in Cancer and Neural Stem Cells

Luana Abballe, Angela Mastronuzzi, Evelina Miele, Andrea Carai, Zein Mersini Besharat, Marta Moretti, Enrico De Smaele, Felice Giangaspero, Franco Locatelli, Elisabetta Ferretti and Agnese Po

16 Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects

Mitchell T. Foster, Lalgudi Srinivasan Harishchandra and Conor Mallucci

24 BRAF V600E Inhibitor (Vemurafenib) for BRAF V600E Mutated Low Grade Gliomas

Francesca Del Bufalo, Giulia Ceglie, Antonella Cacchione, Iside Alessi, Giovanna Stefania Colafati, Andrea Carai, Francesca Diomedi-Camassei, Emmanuel De Billy, Emanuele Agolini, Angela Mastronuzzi and Franco Locatelli

- **30** *EZH2, HIF-1, and Their Inhibitors: An Overview on Pediatric Cancers* Marco Papale, Elisabetta Ferretti, Giuseppe Battaglia, Diana Bellavia, Antonello Mai and Marco Tafani
- **43** Application of Small Epigenetic Modulators in Pediatric Medulloblastoma Clemens Zwergel, Annalisa Romanelli, Giulia Stazi, Zein Mersini Beshara
- 53 Long Noncoding RNAs: Emerging Players in Medulloblastoma Pietro Laneve, Jessica Rea and Elisa Caffarelli
- 62 Direct Involvement of Cranial Nerve V at Diagnosis in Patients With Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: A Potential Magnetic Resonance Predictor of Short-Term Survival

Giovanna Stefania Colafati, Ioan Paul Voicu, Chiara Carducci, Massimo Caulo, Maria Vinci, Francesca Diomedi-Camassei, Pietro Merli, Andrea Carai, Evelina Miele, Antonella Cacchione, Paolo Tomà, Franco Locatelli and Angela Mastronuzzi

72 Vemurafenib Treatment of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma in a Child With Down Syndrome

Giuseppe Petruzzellis, Diletta Valentini, Francesca del Bufalo, Giulia Ceglie, Andrea Carai, Giovanna Stefania Colafati, Emanuele Agolini, Francesca Diomedi-Camassei, Tiziana Corsetti, Iside Alessi, Angela Mastronuzzi, Franco Locatelli and Antonella Cacchione

78 Elevated NLR May Be a Feature of Pediatric Brain Cancer Patients Michal Yalon, Amos T





Editorial: Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects

Andrea Carai¹ and Angela Mastronuzzi^{2*}

¹ Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Neuro-Oncology Unit, Department of Onco-Hematology, Cell and Gene Therapy, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

Keywords: brain tumors, pediatric neuro-oncology, children, central nervous system tumors, pediatric oncology

Editorial on the Research Topic

Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects

Central nervous system tumors are the second most frequent malignancy in children and young adults. Despite this, they remain rare conditions and management standardization continues to be challenging despite international networking efforts.

The Research Topic on "pediatric central nervous system tumors: state-of-the-art and debated aspects" we included innovative and original contributions on multiple aspects of pediatric neuro-oncology.

In reference to the neuroimaging, the work of Colafati et al. presents preliminary data suggesting direct involvement of the V cranial nerve at diagnosis as a negative prognostic marker in DIPG.

In their analysis, 13.8% of the children presented cranial nerve V involvement at diagnosis. This finding was associated with a poor prognosis (median overall survival: 7 vs. 13 months), concluding that cranial nerve V should be routinely evaluated with diagnostic scans.

Even if these findings need to be confirmed with a larger series, it is important to notice that, in the era of radiomics, accurate interpretation of traditional MR sequences can still contribute in advancing clinical knowledge.

In the paper by Yalon et al. an elevated neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, which is a relatively simple blood-derived biomarker, is suggested to be a hallmark of malignant brain tumors. The biological justification for this observation would be both a reduction in lymphocytes, considered to be protective from cancer, and an increase in neutrophils, usually associated to tumor progression. This paper highlights two promising fields of pediatric neuro-oncology: the potential role of immunity modulation for treatment and the opportunity offered by the development of biomarkers to assist in the treatment of patients.

The contribution by Foster et al. offers a wide overview on the advancement of neuro-oncology surgery. Sophisticated techniques allow more accurate surgical planning, better visualization and orientation during surgery, and an increase of intraoperative safety. Advancing the possibilities in tumor resection while preserving neurological functions, will certainly overall contribute to better treatment results, specifically for patients with low-grade lesions that still suffer significant surgical morbidity.

In the last decades, significant progress in oncology has been achieved through molecular characterization of tumors and targeted therapies. Unfortunately, not all tumor types are eligible for these treatment options. into It is critical for the treatment to detect if the BRAF V600E mutation is found in a subset of pediatric low-grade gliomas, thus specific inhibitors of the mutated protein, such as Vemurafenib, can be used. In the paper by Del Bufalo et al., the authors investigated

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Paul A. Northcott, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Angela Mastronuzzi angela.mastronuzzi@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 21 September 2019 Accepted: 21 February 2020 Published: 10 March 2020

Citation:

Carai A and Mastronuzzi A (2020) Editorial: Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects. Front. Pediatr. 8:91. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00091

4

Vemurafenib's safety and efficacy as a single agent in pediatric patients with BRAFv600E positive LGG, which showed very encouraging results.

Petruzzellis et al. further demonstrated the efficacy and safety of this target therapy, in the setting of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (PXA) associated with Down syndrome. PXA is a rare WHO grade II tumor that can harbor the BRAF mutation p.V600E. This case report describes the first occurrence of a PXA reported in a child with Down syndrome (DS) as well as the first use of Vemurafenib in DS. The treatment was welltolerated, and the efficacy was seen by a partial response and a stabilization of the disease. In conclusion, despite the use of Vemurafenib, not yet standardized for pediatric patients affected by brain tumors and DS, we have shown the feasibility of this therapeutic approach.

In addition to the molecular characterization of tumors, several significant discoveries have contributed to shedding light on the role of epigenetic modification and cellular microenvironment in tumor growth and progression. Proteins of the Polycomb group (PcG), which is one of the major epigenetic modification, can be differentiated in polycomb repressive complexes (PRCs): PRC1 and PRC2. The trimethylation of lysine on Histone H3 is an epigenetic modification induced by enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), the catalytic core subunit of PRC2, leading to the silencing of many tumor suppressor genes. Overexpression of EZH2, evidenced by a growing number in data, is associated with a poor outcome and progression in a large number of cancer cases.

Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF), a crucial transcription factor involved in promoting and regulating tumor development, promotes inflammation, angiogenesis, metabolic reprogramming, invasion, and metastatic fate.

In their review, Papale et al. analyzed the activity and influence of EZH2 and HIF in pediatric cancer progression, the correlation between them and the possible future role of specific inhibitors.

Medulloblastoma is among the most common malignant childhood brain tumors (WHO grade IV). Genomic studies have defined four consensus molecular subgroups (WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4), each are characterized by distinct clinical outcomes, copy-number variation, transcriptional profiles, and somatic mutations.

Aberrant expression of long non-coding RNAs, which are normally expressed in the human brain, have been linked to neuro-oncological disorders. In their paper, Laneve et al. tried to explain the function of long non-coding RNAs in the medulloblastoma biology and development. From another point of view, several studies have investigated the role of epigenetic modulators in various types of cancers. Recently, the molecular epigenetic deregulation in Medulloblastoma has been reviewed, highlighting the pathways implicated in the disease, their different biological behaviors and possible future target therapies. In this setting, Zwergel et al. have summarized and highlighted epigenetic modulators as promising drug targets in MB.

Moreover, Abballe et al. investigated the role of Numb in medulloblastoma's cancer cells. Their study showed that Numb p66, which is expressed in medulloblastoma stem-like cells and cerebellar neuronal stem cells (NSCs), modulates cancer staminality. In particular, the medulloblastoma samples analyzed in this study, showed low levels of Numb p66 and overexpression of Numb p72 compared to normal tissue. These results show different roles for the two major Numb isoforms evaluated in medulloblastoma, which highlighted a central role for Numb p66 in regulating stem-like cells and NCS maintenance.

Pediatric neuro-oncology remains a challenging arena for researchers with different expertise. We believe that the coordinated work on the study of different types of tumor, as found in this Research Topic, from various points of view, will be vital in the contribution to advancing the knowledge of these tumors, will be key to the improvement clinical results.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AC and AM have jointly contributed intellectually and materially to the work, and approved for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely would like to thank Evelina Miele and Elisabetta Ferretti and all the authors for their contribution to this Research Topic and Megan Eckley for the revision of the language.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Carai and Mastronuzzi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Numb Isoforms Deregulation in Medulloblastoma and Role of p66 Isoform in Cancer and Neural Stem Cells

Luana Abballe^{1†}, Angela Mastronuzzi^{2†}, Evelina Miele², Andrea Carai³, Zein Mersini Besharat¹, Marta Moretti⁴, Enrico De Smaele¹, Felice Giangaspero^{5,6}, Franco Locatelli^{2,7}, Elisabetta Ferretti^{1,6‡} and Agnese Po^{4*‡}

¹ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology and Cellular and Gene Therapy, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ³ Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Radiological, Oncological and Pathological Science, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ⁶ IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy, ⁷ Department of Paediatrics, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rimas J. Orentas, Seattle Children's Research Institute, United States

Reviewed by:

Mingfu Wu, Albany Medical College, United States Anshu Malhotra, Emory University, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Agnese Po

agnese.po@uniroma1.it

[†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors share last authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 03 July 2018 Accepted: 04 October 2018 Published: 01 November 2018

Citation:

Abballe L, Mastronuzzi A, Miele E, Carai A, Besharat ZM, Moretti M, De Smaele E, Giangaspero F, Locatelli F, Ferretti E and Po A (2018) Numb Isoforms Deregulation in Medulloblastoma and Role of p66 Isoform in Cancer and Neural Stem Cells. Front. Pediatr. 6:315. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00315 Numb is an intracellular protein with multiple functions. The two prevalent isoforms, Numb p66 and Numb p72, are regulators of differentiation and proliferation in neuronal development. Additionally, Numb functions as cell fate determinant of stem cells and cancer stem cells and its abnormal expression has been described in several types of cancer. Involvement of deregulated Numb expression has been described in the malignant childhood brain tumor medulloblastoma, while Numb isoforms in these tumors and in cancer stem-like cells derived from them, have not been studied to date. Here we show that medulloblastoma stem-like cells and cerebellar neuronal stem cells (NSCs) express Numb p66 where its expression tampers stemness features. Furthermore, medulloblastoma samples evaluated in this study express decreased levels of Numb p66 while overexpressed Numb p72 compared with normal tissues. Our results uncover different roles for the two major Numb isoforms examined in medulloblastoma and a critical role for Numb p66 in regulating stem-like cells and NSCs maintenance.

Keywords: medulloblastoma, numb, NUMB isoforms, cancer stem cells, neural stem cells, sonic hedgehog signaling

INTRODUCTION

Medulloblastoma (MB) arises in the cerebellum and is the most common malignant pediatric brain tumor (1, 2), originating from both granule cell progenitor (GCPs) and neural stem cells (3). Human medulloblastoma is divided in at least 4 molecular subgroups (WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4) which are characterized by different patterns of gene expression, genetic aberrations, and clinical outcomes (4). SHH MBs account for roughly 27% of tumors and are characterized by aberrant activation of the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) pathway. This aberrant activation is mostly achieved by genetic loss of negative regulators (i.e., Ptch) or amplification of positive regulators (i.e., Gli2) (4–6).

6

Cancer subpopulations with stemness features (stem-like cells, SLCs) are considered the ultimate reservoir of cancer cells and have been isolated and characterized in several solid tumors, including brain tumors (7). In our previous studies we isolated and characterized cerebellar NSCs and SLCs of human and murine origin and we showed that Shh is a major driver of stemness in this context, through the transcriptional activity of the transcription factor Gli1 and the post-transcriptional regulation of Gli1 activity (8–12).

Numb is an adaptor protein, evolutionary conserved from flies to mammals, (13), which is involved in many cellular processes (14), and is able to behave as a cell fate determinant, being responsible for daughter cell polarization in asymmetric division (14-16). Numb has been described in cortical ventricular zone cells (17) and neural crest lineages (18), where it segregates preferentially in neural daughter cell during asymmetric division (16). Mammalian Numb is transcribed in four isoforms, namely p65, p66, p71, and p72, produced by alternative splicing (19), of which the p66 and p72 have been the main focus of research. Several studies described the role of Numb in stem cells compartment's maintenance, acting as intrinsic determinant through the interaction with signaling pathways such as Notch, p53 and Shh (20-23). To this regard, Numb was shown to control Gli1 function by inducing Gli1 ubiquitination and degradation (23, 24). Interestingly, Numb is abnormally expressed in many cancer types (25-29), and has been demonstrated to play a role in cancer stem cell subpopulation of colorectal cancer (30) and gliomas (31).

The role of Numb as fate determinant in different types of stem cells, the important role of Shh in the maintenance of NSCs and MB SLCs and the molecular relationship between Numb and Gli prompted us to investigate the role of Numb in the mouse cerebellar neural stem cells (NSCs) as well as in medulloblastoma stem-like cells (MB-SLCs). Moreover, we aimed to investigate the expression of Numb isoforms in MB subgroups, since previous studies were conducted before the definition of the molecular subgroups and also the differential expression of Numb isoforms was not explored (23).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Cultures

Stem Cells. Cerebellar NSCs were obtained from cerebella of postnatal 4-day-old wild-type black 6 /C56 (C57BL/6) mice (Charles River). NSCs were derived as previously described (12).

Mouse Medulloblastoma stem-like cells (mMB-SLCs) were derived from spontaneous tumors arisen in Ptc+/- mice, as previously described (9, 32).

Human Medulloblastoma stem-like cells (hMB-SLCs) were derived from primary human MB during surgical resection as previously described (9). hMB-SLCs were immunostained with APC-conjugated anti-CD133 (Miltenyi Biotec) according to manufacturer's protocol and sorted using a FACSAriaIII (BD Biosciences) prior to experiments (32).

NSCs and MB-SLCs were cultured in Selective medium (SM) for stem cells enrichment, containing DMEM/F12 (Gibco) supplemented with 0.6% glucose, 25 mg/ml insulin, 60 mg/ml *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine, 2 mg/ml heparin, 20 ng/ml EGF, 20 ng/ml bFGF (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ), 1X penicillin-streptomycin, and B27 supplement without vitamin A (Gibco).

For neurosphere/oncosphere forming assay NSCs and MB-SLCs were disaggregated to single cell and plated at clonal density (1–2 cells/mm²) into 96-well plates, in selective medium. After 10–14 days, the number of neurospheres or oncospheres was divided by the number of cells plated to determine the percentage of neurosphere forming cells and oncosphere forming cells, respectively.

To induce differentiation, NSCs were disaggregated and plated on poly-lysine coated dishes in differentiation medium containing platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF; 10 ng/ml) (Sigma, P3076), for 48 h (9).

Animal experiments were approved by local ethic authorities and conducted in accordance with Italian Governing Law (D.lgs 26/2014; Prot. no. 03/2013).

P19 were purchased from ATCC and maintained in Alpha Minimum Essential Medium with ribonucleosides and deoxyribonucleosides supplemented with 7.5% bovine calf serum, 2.5% fetal bovine serum, 2 mM l-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and $100 \,\mu$ g/ml streptomycin (Thermo scientific).

Treatments

Transduced NSCs were treated with a Smoothened antagonist cyclopamine-KAAD, (Calbiochem), at the 1 μ M, and with Smoagonist SAG (200 nM, Alexis), for 48 h. For differentiation experiment, cells were treated with platelet derived growth factor (PDGF, Sigma-Aldrich) for 48 h.

Immunofluorescence

To detect Gli1 and Numb, neurospheres were blandly disaggregated and plated on poly-lysine-coated Lab-Tek chamber slides (cover slips) for 2 h. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at room temperature, incubated in blocking solution (5% normal goat serum, 1% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100) and stained overnight with primary antibodies diluted in blocking solution and for 2 h with secondary antibodies. Primary antibodies were mouse anti-Gli1 and rabbit anti-Numb (Cell Signaling Technology Inc). 594- or 488-conjugated antimouse and anti- rabbit secondary antibodies were purchased from Molecular Probes (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR). Nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst reagent. Cover slips were mounted with fluorescence mounting medium (Dako, Carpinteria, CA). Images were acquired with Carl Zeiss microscope (Axio Observer Z1) and AxioVision Digital Image Processing Software.

Lentiviral Transduction

Neurospheres were transduced with pGreenZeo Lentiviral Reporter Vectors containing specific promoters for NANOG

Abbreviations: MB, Medulloblastoma; Shh, Sonic Hedgehog; NSC, Neural Stem Cells; SLC, Stem-like cells; LvNumb, Lentivirus Numb; hMB-SLC, Human Medulloblastoma stem-like cells; MB-SLC, Murine Medulloblastoma stem-like cells.

(Nanog-GFP) or CMV (Zeo-GFP) (9) and infected cells were selected with Zeocin (Thermo Fisher) treatment.

Numb p66 lentiviral infection was performed using a lentiviral vector pRRL-CPPT-CMV-PGK-GFP-WPRE (TWEEN) containing Numb p66 coding sequence (23). NSCs and MB-SLCs were infected for 48 h prior to analyses.

Knockdown Experiments

Silencing of endogenous Numb was performed using ON-TARGET plus Human NUMB siRNA (L-015902-00-0005) for hMB-SLCs and ON-TARGET plus Mouse Numb siRNA (L-046935-01-0005) for NSCs and mMB-SLCs. Dharmacon. Hiperfect reagent (Qiagen) was used for siRNA transfections according to manual instructions. After 72 h, cells were harvested and subjected to mRNA expression analysis.

RNA Extraction and Gene Expression Analysis

Total RNA was isolated from cells and human tissue using Trireagent (Ambion) and reverse transcribed in cDNA as previously described (12). cDNA was used for quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis using ViiA TM 7 Real-Time PCR System and SensiFASTTM Probe Lo-ROX (Bioline).

For each mRNA analysis 10 ng of cDNA were used. We selected best coverage TaqMan gene expression assay from Applied Biosystems and used according to the manufacturer's instructions. To analyze Numb isoforms, the following assay IDs were used: murine Numb p66 Mm01302754_m1; murine Numb p72 Mm01304901_m1, human Numb p66 Hs01105435_m1; human Numb p72 Hs01105426_m1.

mRNA quantification was expressed in arbitrary units and each amplification reaction was performed in triplicate. All Results were evaluated using the $2-\Delta\Delta CT$ method and values were normalized to three endogenous controls: β -actin, β 2-microglobulin, and Gapdh.

Western Blot Assay

Western blot was performed as previously described (33). Cellular pellets were lysed using lysis buffer: Tris-HCl pH 7.6 50 mM, deoxycholic acid sodium salt 0.5%, NaCl 140 mM, NP40 1%, EDTA 5 mM, NaF 100 mM, sodium pyrophosphate 2 mM, and protease inhibitors. Cellular lysates were separated on 8% acrylamide gel and western blot analysis was performed using standard procedures. Membranes were incubated overnight with the following antibodies: anti-Numb (ab4147; Abcam), antimouse Nanog (Cosmo Bio Co, Japan), anti-GAPDH (ab8245; Abcam), anti-Actin I-19 (sc-1616; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), anti-mouse Gli1 (#2643; Cell signaling), anti-NeuN (MAB377 Millipore), anti-BIII-tubulin (MAB 1637 Millipore). HRPconjugated secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) were applied on membranes and signals were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL Advansta). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ software and protein levels were normalized to the respective loading control. Error bars represent mean \pm standard deviation of at least three experiments.

Human MB Samples and Controls

Surgical specimens of primary MBs were originated from a cohort of patients included in the present study, enrolled with Institutional Review Board approval, as previously described (34). Molecular subgroup classification was performed as described in (34). Number of MBs analyzed for each molecular subgroup: WNT n: 10; SHH n: 25; G3 n: 25; G4 n: 19.

Correlation analysis between the isoforms was measured using GraphPad Prism 6 software (La Jolla, CA, USA).

Commercial non-neoplastic cerebellum was purchased from Bio-chain Institute (n = 4: R1234039-50, Total RNA-Human Brain cerebellum Adult; n = 4: R1244041-50 and R1244040-50, Total RNA-Human Brain cerebellum Fetal).

RESULTS

Numb has a Pro-Differentiation Role in Cerebellar Neural Stem Cell (NSCs)

Involvement of Numb in cell determination and differentiation and in cortical neurogenesis has already been described (35), while the role of Numb in cerebellar neural stem cell (NSCs) differentiation has not been studied to date. First of all, we evaluated Numb protein expression in NSCs with respect to starting population (Figure 1A). NSCs were identified as the neurosphere forming cells after at least 30 days in selective medium (SM), and were compared to both the bulk cell population and to cerebellar cells after 5 days in SM. Notably, Numb protein level was lower at day 5 in SM with respect to both bulk population and NSCs, probably due to a selection of stem cells in medium, and its expression increased at day 30, when NSC culture was established (Figure 1A). Since only one band was revealed by western blot analysis, we compared Numb protein expression pattern of NSCs with the protein expression in murine embryonal carcinoma P19 cells after differentiation stimuli. P19 cells represent a model of neuronal differentiation which express both Numb p66 and Numb p72 isoforms (19). Interestingly, NSCs expressed high levels of the Numb p66 isoform while Numb p72 was not detectable (Supplementary Figure 1). To investigate the distribution of Numb positive cells in the heterogeneous population of neurosphere culture, we performed immunofluorescence staining of Numb and Gli1 (Figure 1B), a stemness marker in the context of cerebellar NSCs (9). Interestingly, Numb is expressed in both Gli1 positive and Gli1 negative cells.

To further investigate whether Numb was associated with stemness features in the neurosphere population, we sorted cells according to their expression of the stemness factor Nanog (9), and we observed that Nanog positive cells expressed significantly lower levels of Numb p66, with respect to control (**Figure 1C**).

In order to explore the role of Numb in influencing the balance between stemness and neural differentiation, we evaluated Numb p66 protein level with western blot analysis, in NSCs before and after *in vitro* differentiation (**Figure 1D**). Numb p66 protein level was increased in NSCs after differentiation stimuli such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), together with an



enhanced expression of differentiation markers (Rbfox3/NeuN) and a reduced expression of Nanog stemness marker.

We next proceeded to investigate the role of Numb p66 in NSCs by modulating its expression. We performed lentiviral infection of NSCs with a virus encoding the ORF of Numb p66 (LvNumb) and evaluated the effects after 48 h. LvNumb-transduced NSC cells showed a differentiated phenotype with adherent morphology (**Figure 2A**, left), up-regulation of differentiation neural markers (Rbfox3/NeuN and β III-tubulin) and down-regulation of the stemness markers Nanog and Gli1 (**Figure 2A**, right). Thus, our data support the role for Numb in promoting the "differentiated phenotype" of NSCs.

To deepen our understanding of the relationship between Numb p66 expression, stemness features and Shh signaling, we evaluated the expression of relevant markers in LvNumbtransduced NSCs. In detail, we observed a strong reduction, at transcription level, of both key components in the Shh pathway (Gli1, Gli2) and the stemness markers Prom1 and Nanog compared with control cells (**Figure 2B**). Consistently with mRNA level data of stemness markers, Numb overexpression also impaired the ability of NSCs to form secondary neurospheres, i.e., their clonogenicity (**Figure 2C**) and Numb transduced NSCs formed smaller neurospheres. We previously showed that the modulation of the Shh signaling in NSCs is able to significantly enhance or impair clonogenicity (9). Interestingly, after modulation of the Shh signaling in LvNumb-transduced NSCs, we did not observe any significant variation of self-renewal, suggesting that Numb overexpression could counteract this pathway (**Figure 2C**, right).

In order to further investigate the role of Numb p66 in NSCs, we performed silencing of Numb (siNumb) and observed an upregulation of Nanog and Gli1 (Figure 2D). Altogether, these data support a role for Numb p66 in NSCs where it induces neural differentiation and controls stemness by negatively regulating the Shh signaling.

NUMB p66 Controls Self-Renewal of SHH MB Stem-Like Cells

To investigate the role of NUMB in cancer stem-like cells (SLCs) from SHH MB, we performed the following set of experiments in SLCs derived from a human SHH MB, referred to as hMB-SLCs, as previously described (32). First of all, we sorted hMB-SLCs for



loading control. (A–D) Data are means ± SD from three independent experiments. Full-length images are presented in Supplementary Figures.

the stemness marker CD133 (32), and analyzed the expression profile of CD133 positive (CD133+) and negative (CD133-) cells.

As shown in **Figure 3A**, expression level of NUMB p66 was significantly lower in CD133+ cells, with respect to CD133- ones, while NUMB p72 showed a positive trend in CD133 positive cells, without reaching statistical significance. Interestingly, mRNA levels of NUMB p66 resulted higher than NUMB p72 in CD133+ hMB-SLCs (**Supplementary Figure 1B**), in accordance with protein data. We also investigated markers of the Shh pathway (GLI1, CYCLIN D1, HIP1), that we previously showed to drive stemness in cerebellar

NSCs and SHH MB SLCs (9). Shh pathway resulted more active in CD133+ (Figure 3A). These data suggest that NUMB p66 was associated with a reduced state of stemness hMB-SLCs.

We then proceeded to evaluate the role of NUMB in hMB-SLCs *in vitro*. As shown in **Supplementary Figure 1A**, hMB-SLCs express high protein levels of NUMB p66 isoform. To explore the role of NUMB p66 in hMB-SLCs, we performed lentivirus-mediated overexpression of NUMB p66 (**Figure 3B**, left). We then evaluated the clonogenicity of LvNumb-transduced hMB-SLCs cells, a significant decrease of



 \pm SD from three independent experiments. *P*-values *p < 0.05. (B–C) Data are means \pm SD from three independent experiments. Full-length images are presented in **Supplementary Figures**.

the oncospheres' forming capability was observed in hMB-SLCs overexpressing NUMB vs. control cells (Figure 3B, right).

To further understand the role of p66 in regulating stemness in MB-SLCs, we depleted the expression of NUMB using small interfering RNA (siNUMB) in hMB-SLCs. As shown in **Figure 2C**, following NUMB silencing, hMB-SLCs showed an increase of GL11 protein level respect to control siRNA-transfected cells. Moreover, siNUMB hMB-SLCs showed an increase of NANOG stemness marker (**Figure 3C**) and oncosphere-forming ability (**Figure 3D**). These results suggest that NUMB may have a role in negatively regulating stemness features in hMB-SLCs. Additionally, we performed silencing of Numb in stem like cells isolated from murine SHH MB spontaneously arisen in Ptch +/- mice (9, 32). Numb

silencing caused an increase in Gli1 and Nanog protein levels (Supplementary Figure 2A) and enhanced clonogenicity (Supplementary Figure 2B).

Our evidence show that NUMB plays a critical role in influencing MB-SLCs behavior, blocking the Sonic Hedgehog signaling and stemness features.

Numb Alternative Splicing in Medulloblastoma

We then investigated NUMB expression in a cohort of MB using the MB dataset provided by Cavalli (Tumor Medulloblastoma– Cavalli–763 -rma_sketch—hugene11t) in the R2 platform (36). MB samples were divided into molecular subgroups and according to total NUMB expression level (low or high). As shown in **Supplementary Figure 3**, low expression of NUMB was



associated with shorter overall survival (OS) in SHH and G3 subgroups.

Unfortunately, in the publicly available datasets the present probes do not discriminate the different isoforms of NUMB.

The expression level of NUMB 66 (p66) [Isoform 2, identifier: P49757-2] and NUMB 72 (p72) [Isoform 1, identifier: P49757-1] was evaluated in a cohort of human MB patients' samples characterized and divided in molecular subgroups.

The transcript level of p66 resulted significantly reduced only in SHH subgroup, whereas the p72 mRNA level was significantly up-regulated in all tumor molecular subgroups, as shown in **Figure 4A**, compared with normal adult cerebellar tissue (control). Interestingly, the up-regulation of p72 was stronger and more significant in G3, G4, and WNT with respect to SHH, although not reaching statistical significance in the comparison among subgroups. Furthermore, the expression of Numb p66 transcript was significantly higher in non-SHH tumors with respect to SHH. We also investigated the mRNA expression of NUMB isoforms in normal fetal cerebellum. With respect to adult tissues, fetal cerebellum showed a trend toward down-regulation of p66 and a trend of up-regulation of p72, even though it didn't reach statistical significance (**Figure 4A**). NUMB p66 expression in MBs failed to show statistical significance in the comparison with fetal cerebellum, and NUMB p72 resulted statistically up-regulated only in G4 MBs and WNT MBs. These data support previous findings that showed that SHH MB derive from of proliferating granule cell progenitors in the external granular layer (EGL) (37), that physiologically dissipates during the first year of postnatal life (38).

Next, we performed a correlation analysis of the expression level of the two isoforms analyzed that indicated significant positive correlation (p < 0.05) in SHH, G3, and G4 subgroups. WNT subgroup showed a trend toward positive correlation but didn't reach the statistical significance, possibly due to the small number of samples included in the study, with respect to other subgroups (**Figure 4B**).

Together, these data suggest a different role of NUMB p66 and p72 isoforms in human MB samples. Interestingly, we demonstrated a decreased expression of p66 only

in the SHH subset, suggesting that different isoforms may exert divergent functions in the different MB subgroups.

DISCUSSION

In this study we investigated for the first time, the expression of the two main NUMB isoforms p66 and p72 in a wide MB cohort, finding that different NUMB isoforms were differentially expressed among subgroups.

Indeed, NUMB p66 and p72 have been shown to have different/opposite roles regulating cellular functions. In murine embryonic carcinoma cells, it is described that p66 isoform is involved in differentiation but not in proliferation, whereas p72 has a role in proliferation but not in differentiation (39). This difference in the role of each isoform could explain the different functions described for NUMB in different types of cancer.

Specifically, NUMB has been described as an oncosuppressor in breast cancer (29), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (27) and mesothelioma (40), but evidence showed also a role for NUMB as an oncogene in hepatocellular carcinoma (41), in astrocytomas (42) in cervical squamous carcinoma cells (43), and in endometrial cancer (44).

These different roles could reflect the different isoforms' expression in our cohort of human MB samples. Indeed, regardless of the molecular subgroup, NUMB p72 is up-regulated. The expression of this isoform could have a role in accelerating cell proliferation and promoting EMT features in MB as suggested by studies in other context (41, 45).

Interestingly, we found that NUMB p66 was significantly down-regulated in SHH MB only. Numb p66 is expressed during development and in adult brain (39, 46), and in murine P19 embryonic carcinoma cell line, p66 is reported to promote neural differentiation (39). Numb p66 was also shown to be downregulated in murine models of SHH MB and to control Shh pathway activation through the regulation of Gli1 function, via its ubiquitination and proteasome dependent degradation (23, 24). Thus, our results strongly suggest that low levels of NUMB p66 in SHH MB contribute to Shh pathway deregulation keeping cancer cells in an undifferentiated state and enhancing their cancer stemness features. Altogether these results point out to different roles for NUMB isoforms in the MB subgroups possibly reflecting the diverse cell signaling pathways governing them. We believe that the dual role of NUMB as oncosuppressor or oncogene might be ascribed to the different isoform expressed, a topic that has not been fully investigated in the cited literature.

NUMB isoforms differential expression is controlled by alternative splicing. Of note, RBFOX3 a member of RNAbinding Fox (Rbfox) family, is one of the most important regulators of NUMB alternative splicing in neuronal lineages (47). RBFOX3/NEUN is expressed in neurons (47, 48) and

REFERENCES

1. Ferretti E, Di Marcotullio L, Gessi M, Mattei T, Greco A, Po A, et al. Alternative splicing of the ErbB-4 cytoplasmic domain and its regulation during spinal neuronal development, RBFOX3/NEUN regulates neuronal differentiation promoting the alternative splicing of NUMB mRNA, from the isoform p72 to p66 (47). Interestingly, we found up-regulated RBFOX3/NEUN both after *in vitro* differentiation of NSCs (**Figure 1D**) and after Numb p66 over-expression (**Figure 2A**), suggesting that there could be a regulatory feedback between Numb p66 and RBFOX3/NEUN. As shown in **Figure 1D**, RBFOX3/NEUN is up-regulated during differentiation of NSCs along with Numb. Moreover, SHH MB shows the highest expression of RBFOX3/NEUN compared to the other molecular subgroups (**Supplementary Figure 4**). These evidence suggest that RBFOX3/NEUN could be responsible for NUMB alternative splicing in SHH MB context, leading to isoforms shift from p72 to p66.

Notably, we identified expression of Numb p66 also in NSCs and in MB-SLCs, as a common feature of "stem cell phenotype." We have previously demonstrated that these cellular models are characterized by Hedgehog pathway activation (9, 49). Numb p66 expression inversely correlates with stem cells features: indeed, NSCs and SHH MB-SLCs show high clonogenic potential when Numb is silenced (**Figures 2C**, **3C**), where it cannot antagonize survival pathways, such as Hedgehog signaling (23). We demonstrated the role of the Numb p66 isoform in promoting neural differentiation, antagonizing the expression of stemness/Shh markers and inhibiting self-renewal of stem cells.

In conclusion, in this study we demonstrated for the first time the expression of Numb isoforms in Medulloblastoma, highlighting possible different roles for each isoform in MB subgroups, that we believe are worthy of further investigation in follow up studies. Moreover, we described the suppressive role of Numb p66 on stemness features of cerebellar NSC and of SHH MB-SLCs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LA and AP designed experiments, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. AM, EM, AC, ZB, and MM performed the experiments and analyzed the data. EDS, FG, FL, and EF assisted the study.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work was supported by Sapienza University Research Grant 2016 to EF; Sapienza University Research Grant 2017 to EDS; Ricerca Corrente to EM; Associazione Heal ONLUS to AM.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped. 2018.00315/full#supplementary-material

by hedgehog signaling identify distinct medulloblastoma subsets. *Oncogene* (2006) 25:7267–73. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209716

2. Northcott P, Shih DJ, Peacock J, Garzia L, Morrissy A, Zichner T, et al. Subgroup-specific structural variation across 1,000

medulloblastoma genomes. Nature (2012) 488:49-56. doi: 10.1038/nature 11327

- Fan X, Eberhart CG. Medulloblastoma stem cells. J Clin Oncol. (2008) 26:2821. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.2264
- Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones D, Schlanstein M, Northcott P, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international meta-analysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:473–84. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0958-8
- Ocbina PJR, Anderson KV. Intraflagellar transport, cilia, and mammalian Hedgehog signaling: analysis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. *Dev Dyn*. (2008) 237:2030–8. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.21551
- Kim J, Kato M, Beachy PA. Gli2 trafficking links Hedgehog-dependent activation of Smoothened in the primary cilium to transcriptional activation in the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:21666–71. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912180106
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature* (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- Gulino A, Ferretti E, De Smaele E. Hedgehog signalling in colon cancer and stem cells. *EMBO Mol Med*. (2009) 1:300–2. doi: 10.1002/emmm.200900042
- Po A, Ferretti E, Miele E, De Smaele E, Paganelli A, Canettieri G, et al. Hedgehog controls neural stem cells through p53-independent regulation of Nanog. *EMBO J.* (2010) 29:2646–58. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.131
- Garg N, Po A, Miele E, Campese A, Begalli F, Silvano M, et al. microRNA-17-92 cluster is a direct Nanog target and controls neural stem cell through Trp53inp1. *EMBO J.* (2013) 32:2819–32. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.214
- Miele E, Po A, Begalli F, Antonucci L, Mastronuzzi A, Marras CE, et al. βarrestin1-mediated acetylation of Gli1 regulates Hedgehog/Gli signaling and modulates self-renewal of SHH medulloblastoma cancer stem cells. *BMC Cancer* (2017) 17:488. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3477-0
- Besharat ZM, Abballe L, Cicconardi F, Bhutkar A, Grassi L, Le Pera L, et al. Foxm1 controls a pro-stemness microRNA network in neural stem cells. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:3523. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21876-y
- Uemura T, Shepherd S, Ackerman L, Jan LY, Jan YN. Numb, a gene required in determination of cell fate during sensory organ formation in Drosophila embryos. *Cell* (1989) 58:349–60. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90849-0
- Gulino A, Di Marcotullio L, Screpanti I. The multiple functions of Numb. *Exp* Res. (2010) 316:900–6. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.11.017
- Petersen PH, Zou K, Krauss S, Zhong W. Continuing role for mouse Numb and Numbl in maintaining progenitor cells during cortical neurogenesis. *Nat Neurosci.* (2004) 7:803–11. doi: 10.1038/nn1289
- Cicalese A, Bonizzi G, Pasi CE, Faretta M, Ronzoni S, Giulini B, et al. The tumor suppressor p53 regulates polarity of self-renewing divisions in mammary stem cells. *Cell* (2009) 138:1083–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.048
- Zhong W, Feder JN, Jiang M-M, Jan LY, Jan YN. Asymmetric localization of a mammalian numb homolog during mouse cortical neurogenesis. *Neuron* (1996) 17:43–53. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80279-2
- Wakamatsu Y, Maynard TM, Weston JA. Fate determination of neural crest cells by NOTCH-mediated lateral inhibition and asymmetrical cell division during gangliogenesis. *Development* (2000) 127:2811–21. Available online at: http://dev.biologists.org/content/127/13/2811
- Rajendran D, Zhang Y, Berry D, McGlade C. Regulation of numb isoform expression by activated ERK signaling. *Oncogene* (2016) 35:5202–13. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.69
- Androutsellis-Theotokis A, Leker RR, Soldner F, Hoeppner DJ, Ravin R, Poser SW, et al. Notch signalling regulates stem cell numbers *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Nature* (2006) 442:823–6. doi: 10.1038/nature04940
- Jiang J, Hui C-C. Hedgehog signaling in development and cancer. Dev Cell (2008) 15:801–12. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2008.11.010
- Meletis K, Wirta V, Hede S-M, Nistér M, Lundeberg J, Frisén J. p53 suppresses the self-renewal of adult neural stem cells. *Development* (2006) 133:363–9. doi: 10.1242/dev.02208
- Di Marcotullio L, Ferretti E, Greco A, De Smaele E, Po A, Sico M, et al. Numb is a suppressor of Hedgehog signalling and targets Gli1 for Itchdependent ubiquitination. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2006) 8:1415–23. doi: 10.1038/ ncb1510

- Di Marcotullio L, Greco A, Mazza D, Canettieri G, Pietrosanti L, Infante P, et al. Numb activates the E3 ligase Itch to control Gli1 function through a novel degradation signal. *Oncogene* (2011) 30:65–76. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2010.394
- Xie C, Lu Z, Liu G, Fang Y, Liu J, Huang Z, et al. Numb downregulation suppresses cell growth and is associated with a poor prognosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Mol Med.* (2015) 36:653–60. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2015.2279
- Maiorano E, Favia G, Pece S, Resta L, Maisonneuve P, Di Fiore P, et al. Prognostic implications of NUMB immunoreactivity in salivary gland carcinomas. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol.* (2007) 20:779–89. doi: 10.1177/039463200702000414
- Hong J, Liu Z, Zhu H, Zhang X, Liang Y, Yao S, et al. The tumor suppressive role of NUMB isoform 1 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5:5602–14. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2136
- Liu D, Cui L, Wang Y, Yang G, He J, Hao R, et al. Hepatitis B e antigen and its precursors promote the progress of hepatocellular carcinoma by interacting with NUMB and decreasing p53 activity. *Hepatology* (2016) 64:390–404. doi: 10.1002/hep.28594
- Pece S, Serresi M, Santolini E, Capra M, Hulleman E, Galimberti V, et al. Loss of negative regulation by Numb over Notch is relevant to human breast carcinogenesis. J Cell Biol. (2004) 167:215–21. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200406140
- Hwang W-L, Yang M-H. Numb is involved in the non-random segregation of subcellular vesicles in colorectal cancer stem cells. *Cell Cycle* (2016) 15:2697– 703. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2016.1218101
- 31. Jiang X, Xing H, Kim TM, Jung Y, Huang W, Yang HW, et al. Numb regulates glioma stem cell fate and growth by altering epidermal growth factor receptor and Skp1-Cullin-F-box ubiquitin ligase activity. *Stem Cells* (2012) 30:1313–26. doi: 10.1002/stem.1120
- Miele E, Valente S, Alfano V, Silvano M, Mellini P, Borovika D, et al. The histone methyltransferase EZH2 as a druggable target in SHH medulloblastoma cancer stem cells. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:68557–70. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19782
- 33. Celano M, Schenone S, Cosco D, Navarra M, Puxeddu E, Racanicchi L, et al. Cytotoxic effects of a novel pyrazolopyrimidine derivative entrapped in liposomes in anaplastic thyroid cancer cells *in vitro* and in xenograft tumors *in vivo*. *Endocrine Relat Cancer* (2008) 15:499–510. doi: 10.1677/ERC-07-0243
- Laneve P, Po A, Favia A, Legnini I, Alfano V, Rea J, et al. The long noncoding RNA linc-NeD125 controls the expression of medulloblastoma driver genes by microRNA sponge activity. *Oncotarget* (2017) 9:31003–15. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16049
- Zhong W, Jiang M-M, Schonemann MD, Meneses JJ, Pedersen RA, Jan LY, et al. Mouse numb is an essential gene involved in cortical neurogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2000) 97:6844–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.12.6844
- 36. R2. R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform. Available online at: http://r2.amc.nl
- Skowron P, Ramaswamy V, Taylor MD. Genetic and molecular alterations across medulloblastoma subgroups. J Mol Med. (2015) 93:1075–84. doi: 10.1007/s00109-015-1333-8
- Volpe JJ. Cerebellum of the premature infant: rapidly developing, vulnerable, clinically important. J Child Neurol. (2009) 24:1085–104. doi: 10.1177/0883073809338067
- Verdi JM, Bashirullah A, Goldhawk DE, Kubu CJ, Jamali M, Meakin SO, et al. Distinct human NUMB isoforms regulate differentiation vs. proliferation in the neuronal lineage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:10472–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.18.10472
- Kang Y, Ding M, Tian G, Guo H, Wan Y, Yao Z, et al. Overexpression of Numb suppresses tumor cell growth and enhances sensitivity to cisplatin in epithelioid malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Oncol Rep.* (2013) 30:313–9. doi: 10.3892/or.2013.2429
- Lu Y, Xu W, Ji J, Feng D, Sourbier C, Yang Y, et al. Alternative splicing of the cell fate determinant Numb in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* (2015) 62:1122–31. doi: 10.1002/hep.27923
- Yan B, Omar FM, Das K, Ng WH, Lim C, Shiuan K, et al. Characterization of Numb expression in astrocytomas. *Neuropathology* (2008) 28:479–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2008.00907.x
- 43. Chen H, Chen X, Ye F, Lu W, Xie X. Symmetric division and expression of its regulatory gene Numb in human cervical squamous

carcinoma cells. *Pathobiology* (2009) 76:149–54. doi: 10.1159/0002 09393

- Wang C, Cui T, Feng W, Li H, Hu L. Role of Numb expression and nuclear translocation in endometrial cancer. *Oncol Lett.* (2015) 9:1531–6. doi: 10.3892/ol.2015.2901
- 45. Misquitta-Ali CM, Cheng E, O'Hanlon D, Liu N, McGlade CJ, Tsao MS, et al. Global profiling and molecular characterization of alternative splicing events misregulated in lung cancer. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2011) 31:138–50. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00709-10
- 46. Dho SE, French MB, Woods SA, McGlade CJ. Characterization of four mammalian numb protein isoforms identification of cytoplasmic and membrane-associated variants of the phosphotyrosine binding domain. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:33097–104. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.46.33097
- Kim KK, Nam J, Mukouyama Y-S, Kawamoto S. Rbfox3-regulated alternative splicing of Numb promotes neuronal differentiation during development. J Cell Biol. (2013) 200:443–58. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201206146
- 48. McKee AE, Minet E, Stern C, Riahi S, Stiles CD, Silver PA. A genome-wide in situ hybridization map of RNA-binding proteins reveals anatomicallyrestricted expression in the developing

mouse brain. BMC Dev Biol. (2005) 5:14. doi: 10.1186/1471-213 X-5-14

 Ronci M, Catanzaro G, Pieroni L, Po A, Besharat ZM, Greco V, et al. Proteomic analysis of human sonic hedgehog (SHH) medulloblastoma stem-like cells. *Mol Biosyst.* (2015) 11:1603–11. doi: 10.1039/C5MB0 0034C

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Abballe, Mastronuzzi, Miele, Carai, Besharat, Moretti, De Smaele, Giangaspero, Locatelli, Ferretti and Po. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects

Mitchell T. Foster*, Lalgudi Srinivasan Harishchandra and Conor Mallucci

Department of Neurosurgery, Alder Hey NHS Foundation Trust, Liverpool, United Kingdom

Pediatric neuro-oncology surgery continues to progress in sophistication, largely driven by advances in technology used to aid the following aspects of surgery: operative planning (advanced MRI techniques including fMRI and DTI), intraoperative navigation [preoperative MRI, intra-operative MRI (ioMRI) and intra-operative ultrasound (ioUS)], tumor visualization (microscopy, endoscopy, fluorescence), tumor resection techniques (ultrasonic aspirator, micro-instruments, micro-endoscopic instruments), delineation of the resection extent (ioMRI, ioUS, and fluorescence), and intraoperative safety (neurophysiological monitoring, ioMRI). This article discusses the aforementioned technological advances, and their multimodal use to optimize safe pediatric neuro-oncology surgery.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Angela Mastronuzzi, Bambino Gesù Ospedale Pediatrico (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Luca Massimi, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Italy Alessandro De Benedictis, Bambino Gesù Ospedale Pediatrico (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Mitchell T. Foster

mitchell.foster@doctors.org.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 24 July 2018 Accepted: 01 October 2018 Published: 01 November 2018

Citation:

Foster MT, Harishchandra LS and Mallucci C (2018) Pediatric Central Nervous System Tumors: State-of-the-Art and Debated Aspects. Front. Pediatr. 6:309. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00309 Keywords: intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging, pediatric neuroimaging, technology in surgery, neurooncology, pediatric brain tumors

INTRODUCTION

Following clinical and radiological diagnosis, the surgical management of pediatric brain tumors involves tumor biopsy, tumor excision, and the management of perioperative surgical complications including CSF diversion. There is a balance between maximizing surgical resection whilst minimizing surgical morbidity. This has to be balanced with post-operative plans for further oncological treatment, and the natural history of the tumor in question. Advances in preoperative and operative tools and techniques help to optimize this process of perioperative decision making and the operative intervention itself. A full discussion of pre-operative workup is beyond the scope of this article. In short, MRI techniques & radiologist expertise have evolved such that preoperative prediction of not only the tumor histology but also molecular subgroup is increasingly accurate (1, 2).

OPERATIVE INTERVENTION

Tumor Biopsy

Biopsy may be performed with an open technique (through craniotomy), through a small burr hole, or endoscopically.

The precision of biopsy has evolved over time with progression of technology: first open biopsy, then stereotactic frame biopsy, then frameless biopsy which continues to evolve in sophistication, including the use of robotic assisted biopsy which is now becoming mainstream (3).

Neuro-navigation is used to plan biopsy entry sites, trajectory and the intracranial target. This can be done with precision to avoid eloquent gray or white matter and vessels within the trajectory.

Volume MRI is used alongside stereotactic frame, optical neuro-navigation, or electromagnetic neuro-navigation (4). Stereotactic frame and optical techniques require pin fixation to the skull; this

16

makes them more accurate, but contraindicated in infants. Electromagnetic navigation allows head movement, is not dependant on skull pin fixation, but as a consequence has less precision. Optical and electromagnetic techniques allow realtime tracking of the biopsy tip during the procedure (5).

In cases where the surgical target is small, intraoperative MRI can be used to confirm the biopsy site's accuracy to the planned target prior to waking the patient, should further biopsy be required.

Tumor Excision

Planning

The surgical plan may be for tumor debulking or complete excision. Within this range, there is complex decision making to maximize safe resection whilst minimizing morbidity which depends on two main factors: tumor type (influencing propensity for recurrence, metastasis, overall survival and the need for adjuvant therapies), and tumor location (proximity to eloquent areas of brain and vital neurovascular, or neuroendocrine structures).

Software can be used to mark out the tumor extent and a resection plan which can be used intraoperatively to navigate to the tumor. Functional MRI can be used to identify eloquent areas involved in motor generation, speech and language (6). The applicability of fMRI in pediatric neurosurgery is limited because it needs patient cooperation and some form of sedation, especially in children under 6 years (7). Diffusion weighted MRI can be processed using diffusion tensor imaging based tractography to map out white matter tracts in the vicinity of the resection cavity (8). Tracts may be for example within tumor, abutting the tumor, or split by the tumor, which may impact the decision of both resection extent and direction of approach (**Figure 1**). DTI has the disadvantage that it does not offer any functional information, and based on the *post-hoc* analysis it can be represented in several ways (9).

In complex intrinsic tumors, multi-voxel MR spectroscopy is used to identify the most aggressive components and aid resection planning (**Figure 1**).

Preoperative volume MRI, once registered for neuronavigation can be used to plan an optimal skin incision and craniotomy on the patient on the table (10).

Operative Microscope

The history and vital role of the microscope in neurooncology surgery is well described elsewhere (11). It provides magnification and illumination, while allowing ergonomic movement to resect tumors with increased precision. Each successive iteration of microscope has improved their functionality and utility. The most recent advances include 3D stereoscopic visualization to an external screen for the operating surgeon if desired, assistant(s) and theater staff (12). This is beneficial for safety, as the non-operating surgical team can visualize the current surgical activity in real-time, and respond promptly to problems such as hemorrhage. This also benefits teaching within the department. Another development is angled micro-endoscopy (12). This system permits visualization around corners, and has been used with success in brainstem tumor resection in our department.

Navigation

Neuro-navigation can be used for tumor biopsy as discussed above, and for operative planning for resection as described above. Intraoperatively, it is used to confirm the location of tumor alongside normal anatomy. Plans made preoperatively which include anatomical regions of interest, fMRI, or tractography can be used in real-time to ensure maximal safety.

A navigated "pointer" is the most commonly used tool. In addition, the operative microscope can be integrated with the neuro-navigation system such that the point of maximal focus (indicated by the convergence of two laser pointers in the operative field) becomes visible on the navigation screens. It is also possible to overlay navigation onto the microscope view to the surgeon (**Figure 2**). Recently, a navigable suction catheter has been developed to allow synchronous tumor resection with navigation, reducing the need to continually re-site a navigation pointer.

Navigation has become a standard technique for pediatric neuro-oncological surgery, and indeed much of all cranial neurosurgery. However it is not without limitations: It is subject to error during the fusion of different image sequences, and at the point of registration to the patient. Once craniotomy and durotomy have been performed, the brain will be permitted to shift. The variable degree to which this occurs can unpredictably diminish navigation's accuracy to the intracranial anatomy. This inaccuracy increases with progressive tumor resection as the brain shifts more. Operating theaters can be crowded with staff and equipment; it can be challenging to ensure the navigation camera's field of view can see the optical reference points at all times.

Furthermore, two recent Cochrane reviews have highlighted the lack of evidence for intraoperative neuro-navigation in terms of tumor resection and quality of life (13, 14). While there is a lack of evidence in support of these techniques, there is no evidence against, and most surgeons would agree, this is an invaluable resource that is a mainstay of neuro-oncology surgery (11).

There is anticipated to be a greater role for "augmented reality" techniques in neuro-navigation as technology progresses (15).

Intraoperative MRI

Tejada et al provide a comprehensive summary of intraoperative MRI at our center, with the largest published series of ioMRI tumor resections (16).

The patient's head is placed in a non-magnetic frame with (or without) pin fixation. The patient is registered to their preoperative volume MRI and the operation is performed. After tumor resection, at a point of safety with adequate hemostasis, the skin is loosely approximated, and the wound is draped to ensure sterility. The MRI coil head is placed over the drapes and secured. The patient is then transferred to the neighboring ioMRI room, scanned, and returned to the operative theater. Optical markers on the MRI coil allows the patient to be automatically re-registered to the new intraoperative scan.

The choice of MR sequence is determined by the preoperative findings. For example, a low grade tumor that does not enhance on T1 MRI with gadolinium, but is visible on FLAIR





sequences, would have this sequence performed intraoperatively, and then mapped onto an intraoperative volume T1 sequence for intraoperative navigation. Images are reviewed with a consultant neuro-radiologist familiar with the case and intraoperative MRI alongside the operating surgeon.

IoMRI may occasionally be performed after the wound has been closed: this occurs in cases when the surgeon is confident of the surgical resection, or if further resection is thought to be too high risk for post-operative morbidity. This is logistically advantageous for theater efficiency, but still preserves sterility of the field, in case the MRI identifies anything requiring further surgery (for example unexpected resectable residual tumor or haematoma). If as predicted, no further surgery is required, the patient can then simply be undraped and woken. This technique can also be done for biopsy cases, to confirm the target site. In most cases, this will serve as the immediate post-operative scan, and the patient will proceed to extubation and recovery. However, the patient remains within the ioMRI frame, to permit automatic re-registration to the ioMRI, for re-opening of the wound if deemed necessary (for example for further tumor resection, repeat biopsy or hemorrhage control).

There are multiple advantages to ioMRI: It allows diagnosis of residual tumor and surgical damage (ischemia, or hemorrhage). It allows automatic reregistration to an accurate scan to correct for brain shift, and the anatomic distortion after tumor resection. This means the surgeon can then navigate to the area of residual tumor quickly and efficiently. This is particularly helpful in tumors where there is no overt tumor plane, or where the appearances are similar to that of normal tissue (for example low grade glioma).





IoMRI can also identify hemorrhage not immediately visible in the operative field; since the introduction of ioMRI, there have been no returns to theater for post-operative hemorrhage in our unit.

Nevertheless, ioMRI also has limitations: setup and running cost is a major prohibitory factor. A two room setup (as in our unit) can offset this, as the scanner can be used as a routine diagnostic tool when not in use intraoperatively (11). Another ioMRI suite option involves a ceiling mounted, moveable ioMRI scanner between two operating theaters (17).

While there is limited evidence in support of ioMRI in the pediatric neuro-oncology practice, an RCT in adults receiving craniotomy for glioma resection has been performed: the ioMRI group had 96% complete resection vs. 68 in the non ioMRI group (p = 0.02) (18).

Endoscopy

Technological advances in neuro-endoscopy have improved illumination, image resolution, and field of view (19). Recent technological developments include the use of smartphone integrated endoscopes (20), and the exoscope (21). The role and applicability of these emerging techniques in pediatric neuro-oncology surgery will become clearer as technology becomes more widely available.

The range of neuro-endoscopes offer different qualities making each one more appropriate for certain procedures. In our center, rigid endoscopy is performed exclusively. However, flexible neuro-endoscopy has been described for use in tumor excision (22).

Endoscopic (or endoscopic assisted) surgery may be used during the following: intraventricular surgery [tumor biopsy (23) tumor resection (24), perioperative hydrocephalus management including endoscopic third ventriculostomy (25)], endoscopic endo-nasal-trans-sphenoidal surgery (for resection of sella lesions) (26, 27), supra-cerebellar infra-tentorial endoscopic approaches to pineal region tumors, (28) and as an adjunct to the microscope during open craniotomy.

Pure endoscopic tumor resection is described for select cases, but is seldom performed in our practice, and is better described elsewhere (29, 30). The dexterity of endoscopic instruments and techniques is improving; the advent of endoscopic lasers, and ultrasonic aspirators has expanded the capability of endoscopic tumor resection (31). Endoscopy can be combined in a multimodal approach for example alongside neuronavigation and ioMRI (**Figure 3**).

Ultrasound

2D or 3D ultrasound can be used as a standalone tool (32), or in tandem with MRI for neuro-navigation (33). It allows real-time visualization of the parenchymal and ventricular anatomy. Doppler USS can be performed to assess vessels if required. US is also helpful in identifying normal ventricular anatomy which may be dynamic. It has limitations, being user dependent with a learning curve, susceptibility to artifact and non-uniform resolution (33). Echogenicity of tumors can vary depending on their type, meaning ioUS may sometimes be of little use. Furthermore, the walls of the resection cavity may be hyperechoic which can lead to overestimation of tumor residual (11).

Intraoperative Fluorescence

Intra-operative fluorescence techniques can occasionally be used in pediatric neuro-oncology surgery. Orally administered 5aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA) induces fluorescent porphyrin accumulation within certain tumors, which can be visualized with a modified microscope (34). The use of 5-ALA in pediatric patients is off label, but has been described (11, 35). An RCT in adults found 5-ALA improved the extent of tumor resection and benefitted progression free survival (36), however evidence in pediatric surgery is limited. Roth et al. noted that fluorescence is only seen in a small proportion of pediatric brain tumors (outside of glioblastoma multiforme), and therefore advise against the routine use of 5-ALA (35).

Indocyanine green is used in vascular neurosurgery to provide fluorescence to vessels directly visible in the operative microscope (11). This can be useful in pediatric neuro-oncology surgery if the tumor is especially vascular, or in close proximity to vital vascular structures (11).

The use of other fluorescence agents has also been described, including fluorescein, hypericin, 5-aminofluorescein-human serum albumin, and endogenous fluorophores, albeit with less evidence, especially in pediatrics (37).

Intraoperative Raman spectroscopy is an emerging technique with promise in distinguishing normal from pathological tissue (38). It has recently been described *in vivo* for core needle "biopsy" and delineation of pathological vs. normal tissue within resection cavity margins in a pig model (39).

Ultrasonic Aspirator

There are various ultrasonic aspirators available that utilize ultrasound to emulsify and aspirate tissues (11). The weak intracellular bonds and high liquid content of tumor tissue make it susceptible to ultrasonic aspiration. Conversely, vessels and nerves with higher elastin and collagen content are less likely to be damaged (11).

Intraoperative Neuromonitoring (ION)

Neuromonitoring intraoperatively is considered to be the gold standard in localizing brain function in brain tumor surgery (40). Mapping is the process of identifying the proximity to eloquent areas in the brain and avoiding damage to these regions (41). Both cortical and subcortical mapping can be performed (42). In pediatric neurosurgery where most of the supratentorial tumors are low grade lesions, the use of neuromonitoring helps in maximizing the extent of safe resection with least possible morbidity. Continuous, dynamic subcortical mapping with a suction monopolar device has recently been described (43).

Neurophysiological monitoring can also be used during resection of intramedullary spinal tumors by acquisition of data to confirm the integrity of neural pathways in the form of Motor evoked potentials (MEPs), D-waves and Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) (41, 44).

When using these techniques, total intravenous anesthesia is preferred, with avoidance of neuromuscular paralysis (11). Intraoperative neurophysiology is different in children to adults (especially infants), and requires and age adjustment to the stimulation techniques and interpretation of results because of the immaturity of the developing brain (41).

Awake craniotomy can be performed to allow real-time monitoring of neurological deficit alongside with cortical and subcortical mapping (45). However, this is seldom performed in children, although it has been described (46, 47).

Though there is sufficient evidence to support the use of ION in *predicting* neurological injury, there isn't much evidence for injury *prevention* (40).

IMPROVED UNDERSTANDING OF NEUROSCIENCE AND NEUROANATOMY

Neuroanatomy education has benefitted from the capability of both 3D digital, and 3D printed models (48). In general,



FIGURE 3 | Multimodal use of technology: The use of intraoperative endoscopy for an extended endo-nasal approach, in tandem with neuro-navigation and intraoperative MRI was vital in maximizing resection of this complex recurrent atypical meningioma.

the interest in, and sophistication of general neurosurgical simulation is continually increasing (49), however there remains a need for more sophisticated tools to accurately replicate the challenges of pediatric neuro-oncology surgery.

Recent deeper understanding of the mechanisms behind cerebellar mutism following posterior fossa surgery have led to refinements in surgical technique to avoid damage to the proximal efferent cerebellar pathway (50).

DISCUSSION

Surgery has progressed through advances in the following areas: visualization (microscopes, endoscopes), Navigation (ioUS, MRI), and delineation of tumor resection (ioMRI, ioUS, 5ALA), all of which, in tandem can improve the ability to carry out maximal safe resection. However, many more major advances in pediatric neuro-oncology are non-surgical: the molecular classification of tumors, and the advances in chemotherapy and radiotherapy. The impact of these on surgical decision making is complex, and a full discussion of is beyond the scope of this article. However, one notable paradigm shift is seen in with molecular subcategorization of Medulloblastoma: gross total resection conferred no survival advantage in comparison with near total resection when taking into account molecular subgroups (51). Therefore, re-look surgery for residual disease is now not necessarily recommended if the risk of neurological morbidity from complete excision is high (51, 52). In contrast, the survival benefit from complete resection of Ependymoma is established (53, 54), and current consensus opinion is that molecular subcategorization should not change this surgical decision making (52, 55) As a result, re-look surgery for residual disease is recommended, and may involve referral to a quaternary center such as ourselves for second opinion.

In our unit, we use a combination of the following imaging modalities to delineate tumor resection: pre-operative MRI, intraoperative macroscopic, and microscopic assessment of tissues, intraoperative ultrasound, and intraoperative MRI. Since the introduction of the ioMRI in our unit, there have been no returns to theater for post-operative haematoma following craniotomy for tumor.

The best methodology for ensuring maximal safe tumor resection continues to be debated; however it is clear that no operative tool is flawless in isolation. MRI (preoperative or intraoperative) has superior anatomical resolution to ultrasound, but is a static, historic image. Conversely, ultrasound is in real-time, but is very user dependant, with variable tumor echogenicity. Advanced pediatric neuro-oncology surgery therefore utilizes a multimodal approach with navigation, microscopy, endoscopy if appropriate, and ioUS. The combination of tools with varying strengths can offset the limitations of tools also in use.

While the use of state of the art equipment discussed here has advanced pediatric neuro-oncology surgery, the importance of the perioperative and intraoperative MDT cannot be understated: without a complete, competent team (neuroanesthetists, theater staff, nursing staff, neuro-radiologists, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech and language therapy, oncologists, endocrinologists, neurologists), outcomes would be compromised.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MF drafted article. LH critically appraised and edited. CM is a lead surgeon in unit, critically appraised and edited.

REFERENCES

- Colafati GS, Voicu IP, Carducci C, Miele E, Carai A, Di Loreto S, et al. MRI features as a helpful tool to predict the molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: state of the art. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2018) 11:1–14. doi: 10.1177/1756286418775375
- Perreault S, Ramaswamy V, Achrol AS, Chao K, Liu TT, Shih D, et al. MRI surrogates for molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2014) 35:1263–69. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3990
- Marcus HJ, Vakharia VN, Ourselin S, Duncan J, Tisdall M, Aquilina K. Robotassisted stereotactic brain biopsy: systematic review and bibliometric analysis. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2018) 34:1299–1309. doi: 10.1007/s00381-018-3821-y
- Verploegh IS, Volovici V, Haitsma IK, Schouten JW, Dirven CM, Kros JM, et al. Contemporary frameless intracranial biopsy techniques: Might variation in safety and efficacy be expected? *Acta Neurochir*. (2015) 157:2011–16; discussion 2016. doi: 10.1007/s00701-015-2543-0
- Gempt J, Buchmann N, Ryang YM, Krieg S, Kreutzer J, Meyer B, et al. Frameless image-guided stereotaxy with real-time visual feedback for brain biopsy. *Acta Neurochir.* (2012) 154:1663–7. doi: 10.1007/s00701-012-1425-y
- Silva MA, See AP, Essayed WI, Golby AJ, Tie Y. Challenges and techniques for presurgical brain mapping with functional MRI. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 17:794–803. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.12.008
- Altman NR, Bernal B. Pediatric applications of functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Pediatr Radiol.* (2015) 45(Suppl. 3):S382–96. doi: 10.1007/s00247-015-3365-1
- Ekstrand CL, Mickleborough MJ, Fourney DR, Gould LA, Lorentz EJ, Ellchuk T, et al. Pre-surgical integration of fMRI and DTI of the sensorimotor system in transcortical resection of a high-grade insular astrocytoma. *Front Integr Neurosci.* (2016) 10:15. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2016.00015
- Farquharson S, Tournier JD, Calamante F, Fabinyi G, Schneider-Kolsky M, Jackson GD, et al. White matter fiber tractography: why we need to move beyond DTI. *J Neurosurg.* (2013) 118:1367–77. doi: 10.3171/2013.2.JNS 121294
- Mahvash M, Boettcher I, Petridis AK, Besharati Tabrizi L. Image guided surgery versus conventional brain tumor and craniotomy localization. J Neurosurg Sci. (2017) 61:8–13. doi: 10.23736/S0390-5616.16.03142-8
- Zebian B, Vergani F, Lavrador JP, Mukherjee S, Kitchen WJ, Stagno V, et al. Recent technological advances in pediatric brain tumor surgery. CNS Oncol. (2017) 6:71–82. doi: 10.2217/cns-2016-0022
- Zeiss. Zeiss Kinevo 900 (2018). Available online at: https://www.zeiss.com/ meditec/int/products/neurosurgery/surgical-microscopes/kinevo-900.html (Accessed July 24, 2018).
- Barone DG, Lawrie TA, Hart MG. Image guided surgery for the resection of brain tumours. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2014) 28:CD009685. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009685.pub2
- Jenkinson MD, Barone DG, Bryant A, Vale L, Bulbeck H, Lawrie TA, et al. Intraoperative imaging technology to maximise extent of resection for glioma. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 1:CD012788. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012788.pub2
- Meola, Cutolo F, Carbone M, Cagnazzo F, Ferrari M, Ferrari V. Augmented reality in neurosurgery: a systematic review. *Neurosurg Rev.* (2017) 40:537–48. doi: 10.1007/s10143-016-0732-9
- Tejada S, Avula S, Pettorini B, Henningan D, Abernethy L, Mallucci C. The impact of intraoperative magnetic resonance in routine pediatric neurosurgical practice-a 6-year appraisal. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2018) 34:617–26. doi: 10.1007/s00381-018-3751-8
- Chicoine MR, Lim CC, Evans JA, Singla A, Zipfel GJ, Rich KM, et al. Implementation and preliminary clinical experience with the use of ceiling mounted mobile high field intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging between two operating rooms. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* (2011) 109:97–102. doi: 10.1007/978-3-211-99651-5_15

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Zebian et al. (11), from which his article has been greatly influenced.

- Senft C, Bink A, Franz K, Vatter H, Gasser T, Seifert V. Intraoperative MRI guidance and extent of resection in glioma surgery: a randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2011) 12:997–1003. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70196-6
- Li KW, Nelson C, Suk I, Jallo GI. Neuroendoscopy: past, present, and future. Neurosurg Focus (2005) 19:E1. doi: 10.3171/foc.2005.19.5.4
- Mandel M, Petito CE, Tutihashi R, Paiva W, Abramovicz Mandel S, Gomes Pinto FC, et al. Smartphone-assisted minimally invasive neurosurgery. J Neurosurg. (2018) 13:1–9. doi: 10.3171/2017.6.JNS1712
- Sack J, Steinberg JA, Rennert RC, Hatefi D, Pannell JS, Levy M, et al. initial experience using a high-definition 3-dimensional exoscope system for microneurosurgery. *Oper Neurosurg Hagerstown Md* (2018) 14:395–401. doi: 10.1093/ons/opx145
- Ishikawa T, Takeuchi K, Tsukamoto N, Kawabata T, Wakabayashi T. A novel dissection method using a flexible neuroendoscope for resection of tumors around the aqueduct of sylvius. *World Neurosurg.* (2018) 110:391–6. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.11.044
- Depreitere B, Dasi N, Rutka J, Dirks P, Drake J. Endoscopic biopsy for intraventricular tumors in children. J Neurosurg. (2007) 106(Suppl.):340–6. doi: 10.3171/ped.2007.106.5.340
- Ahmad F, Sandberg DI. Endoscopic management of intraventricular brain tumors in pediatric patients: a review of indications, techniques, and outcomes. J Child Neurol. (2010) 25:359–67. doi: 10.1177/08830738093 40318
- Fritsch MJ, Doerner L, Kienke S, Mehdorn HM. Hydrocephalus in children with posterior fossa tumors: role of endoscopic third ventriculostomy. *J Neurosurg.* (2005) 103(1 Suppl.):40–2. doi: 10.3171/ped.2005.103. 1.0040
- Zhan R, Xin T, Li X, Li W, Li X. Endonasal endoscopic transsphenoidal approach to lesions of the sellar region in pediatric patients. *J Craniofac Surg.* (2015) 26:1818–22. doi: 10.1097/SCS.00000000001946
- Alalade AF, Ogando-Rivas E, Boatey J, Souweidane MM, Anand VK, Greenfield JP, et al. Suprasellar and recurrent pediatric craniopharyngiomas: expanding indications for the extended endoscopic transsphenoidal approach. J Neurosurg Pediatr. (2018) 21:72–80. doi: 10.3171/2017.7.PEDS 17295
- Snyder R, Felbaum DR, Jean WC, Anaizi A. Supracerebellar infratentorial endoscopic and endoscopic-assisted approaches to pineal lesions: technical report and review of the literature. *Cureus* 9:e1329.6. doi: 10.7759/cureus.1329
- Barber SM, Rangel-Castilla L, Baskin D. Neuroendoscopic resection of intraventricular tumors: a systematic outcomes analysis. *Minim Invasive Surg.* (2013) 2013;898753. doi: 10.1155/2013/898753
- Rocque BG. Neuroendoscopy for intraventricular tumor resection. World Neurosurg. (2016) 90:619–20. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2015.12.010
- Cinalli G, Imperato A, Mirone G, Di Martino G, Nicosia G, Ruggiero C, et al. Initial experience with endoscopic ultrasonic aspirator in purely neuroendoscopic removal of intraventricular tumors. J Neurosurg Pediatr. (2017) 19:325–32. doi: 10.3171/2016.10.PEDS 16352
- Moiyadi V, Shetty P. Direct navigated 3D ultrasound for resection of brain tumors: a useful tool for intraoperative image guidance. *Neurosurg Focus* 40:E5 (2016). doi: 10.3171/2015.12.FOCUS15529
- Sastry R, Bi WL, Pieper S, Frisken S, Kapur T, Wells W, et al. Applications of ultrasound in the resection of brain tumors. J Neuroimaging (2017) 27:5–15. doi: 10.1111/jon.12382
- Stummer W, Novotny A, Stepp H, Goetz C, Bise K, Reulen HJ. Fluorescenceguided resection of glioblastoma multiforme by using 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced porphyrins: a prospective study in 52 consecutive patients. J Neurosurg. (2000) 93:1003–13. doi: 10.3171/jns.2000.93.6.1003
- Roth J, Constantini S. 5ALA in pediatric brain tumors is not routinely beneficial. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2017) 33:787–92. doi: 10.1007/s00381-017-3371-8

- 36. Stummer W, Pichlmeier U, Meinel T, Wiestler OD, Zanella F, Reulen HJ, et al. Fluorescence-guided surgery with 5-aminolevulinic acid for resection of malignant glioma: a randomised controlled multicentre phase III trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2006) 7:392–401. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(06) 70665-9
- Senders JT, Muskens IS, Schnoor R, Karhade AV, Cote DJ, Smith TR, et al. Agents for fluorescence-guided glioma surgery: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical results. *Acta Neurochir.* (2017) 159:151–67. doi: 10.1007/s00701-016-3028-5
- Broadbent B, Tseng J, Kast R, Noh T, Brusatori M, Kalkanis SN, et al. Shining light on neurosurgery diagnostics using Raman spectroscopy. J Neurooncol. (2016) 130:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11060-016-2223-9
- Desroches J, Jermyn M, Pinto M, Picot F, Tremblay MA, Obaid S, et al. A new method using Raman spectroscopy for *in vivo* targeted brain cancer tissue biopsy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1792. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20233-3
- Coppola, Tramontano V, Basaldella F, Arcaro C, Squintani G, Sala F. Intra-operative neurophysiological mapping and monitoring during brain tumour surgery in children: an update. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2016) 32:1849–59. doi: 10.1007/s00381-016-3180-5
- Kim K, Cho C, Bang M, Shin H, Phi JH, Kim SK. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring : a review of techniques used for brain tumor surgery in children. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. (2018) 61:363–75. doi: 10.3340/jkns.2018.0078
- 42. Bello L, Riva M, Fava E, Ferpozzi V, Castellano A, Raneri F, et al. Tailoring neurophysiological strategies with clinical context enhances resection and safety and expands indications in gliomas involving motor pathways. *Neuro Oncol.* (2014) 16:1110–28. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/not327
- Moiyadi, Velayutham P, Doctor J, Borkar A, Singh V. Continuous dynamic subcortical mapping using a suction monopolar device in a child: case report and technical note. *J Pediatr Neurosci.* (2018) 13:279–82. doi: 10.4103/JPN.JPN_148_17
- Chatterjee S, Chatterjee U. Intramedullary tumors in children. J Pediatr Neurosci. (2011) 6(Suppl.1):S86–90. doi: 10.4103/1817-1745.85718
- 45. Duffau H, Peggy Gatignol ST, Mandonnet E, Capelle L, Taillandier L. Intraoperative subcortical stimulation mapping of language pathways in a consecutive series of 115 patients with Grade II glioma in the left dominant hemisphere. J Neurosurg. (2008) 109:461–71. doi: 10.3171/JNS/2008/109/9/0461
- Akay, Rükşen M, Çetin HY, Seval HÖ, Işlekel S. Pediatric awake craniotomy for brain lesions. *Pediatr Neurosurg*. (2016) 51:103–8. doi: 10.1159/000 442988
- Balogun JA, Khan OH, Taylor M, Dirks P, Der T, Carter Snead O III, et al. Pediatric awake craniotomy and intra-operative stimulation mapping. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2014) 21:1891–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2014. 07.013

- Arantes M, Arantes J, Ferreira MA. Tools and resources for neuroanatomy education: a systematic review. BMC Med Educ. (2018) 18:6. doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1210-6
- Zhang L, Kamaly I, Luthra P, Whitfield P. Simulation in neurosurgical training: a blueprint and national approach to implementation for initial years trainees. *Br J Neurosurg.* (2016) 30:577–81. doi: 10.1080/02688697.2016.1211252
- Avula S, Spiteri M, Kumar R, Lewis E, Harave S, Windridge D, et al. Postoperative pediatric cerebellar mutism syndrome and its association with hypertrophic olivary degeneration. *Quant Imaging Med Surg.* (2016) 6:535–44. doi: 10.21037/qims.2016.10.11
- Thompson EM, Hielscher T, Bouffet E, Remke M, Luu B, Gururangan S, et al. Prognostic value of medulloblastoma extent of resection after accounting for molecular subgroup: a retrospective integrated clinical and molecular analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* (2016) 17:484–95. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15) 00581-1
- 52. Guerreiro Stucklin S, Ramaswamy V, Daniels C, Taylor MD. Review of molecular classification and treatment implications of pediatric brain tumors. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2018) 30:3–9. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000 00562
- Merchant TE, Li C, Xiong X, Kun LE, Boop FA, Sanford RA. A prospective study of conformal radiation therapy for pediatric ependymoma. *Lancet* Oncol. (2009) 10:258–66. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70342-5
- Sanford RA, Merchant TE, Zwienenberg-Lee M, Kun LE, Boop FA. Advances in surgical techniques for resection of childhood cerebellopontine angle ependymomas are key to survival. *Childs Nerv Syst.* (2009) 25:1229–40. doi: 10.1007/s00381-009-0886-7
- Pajtler KW, Mack SC, Ramaswamy V, Smith CA, Witt H, Smith A, et al. The current consensus on the clinical management of intracranial ependymoma and its distinct molecular variants. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2017) 133:5–12. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1643-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AD and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Foster, Harishchandra and Mallucci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





BRAF V600E Inhibitor (Vemurafenib) for **BRAF V600E Mutated Low Grade** Gliomas

Francesca Del Bufalo^{1†}, Giulia Ceglie^{1†}, Antonella Cacchione¹, Iside Alessi¹, Giovanna Stefania Colafati², Andrea Carai³, Francesca Diomedi-Camassei⁴, Emmanuel De Billy¹, Emanuele Agolini⁵, Angela Mastronuzzi^{1*} and Franco Locatelli^{1,6}

¹ Department of Paediatric Haematology/Oncology, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Imaging, Neuroradiology Unit, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Neurosurgery Unit, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Laboratories, Pathology Unit, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Laboratory of Medical Genetics, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Department of Paediatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Suzie Chen, Rutgers University, The State University of New Jersey, United States

Reviewed by:

Leyuan Ma, Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research at MIT, United States Min Hee Kang, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Angela Mastronuzzi angela.mastronuzzi@opbg.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Molecular Targets and Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 10 August 2018 Accepted: 26 October 2018 Published: 14 November 2018

Citation:

Del Bufalo F, Ceglie G, Cacchione A, Alessi I, Colafati GS, Carai A, Diomedi-Camassei F, De Billy E, Agolini E, Mastronuzzi A and Locatelli F (2018) BRAF V600E Inhibitor (Vemurafenib) for BRAF V600E Mutated Low Grade Gliomas. Front. Oncol. 8:526. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00526 Low-grade gliomas (LGG) are the most common central nervous system tumors in children. Prognosis depends on complete surgical resection. For patients not amenable of gross total resection (GTR) new approaches are needed. The BRAF mutation V600E is critical for the pathogenesis of pediatric gliomas and specific inhibitors of the mutated protein, such as Vemurafenib, are available. We investigated the safety and efficacy of Vemurafenib as single agent in pediatric patients with V600E⁺ LGG. From November 2013 to May 2018, 7 patients have been treated in our Institution; treatment was well-tolerated, the main concern being dermatological toxicity. The best responses to treatment were: 1 complete response, 3 partial responses, 1 stable disease, only one patient progressed; in one patient, the follow-up is too short to establish the clinical response. Two patients discontinued treatment, and, in both cases, immediate progression of the disease was observed. In one case the treatment was discontinued due to toxicity, in the other one the previously assessed BRAF V600E mutation was not confirmed by further investigation. Two patients, after obtaining a response, progressed during treatment, suggesting the occurrence of resistance mechanisms. Clinical response, with improvement of the neurologic function, was observed in all patients a few weeks after the therapy was started. Despite the limitations inherent to a small and heterogeneous cohort, this experience, suggests that Vemurafenib represents a treatment option in pediatric patients affected by LGG and carrying BRAF mutation V600E.

Keywords: pediatric central nervous system tumors, low-grade gliomas, vemurafenib, targeted therapies, pediatric neuro-oncology

INTRODUCTION

Low-grade gliomas (LGG) are common tumors in children. The prognosis varies widely among the different tumor subgroups and is determined by several factors, including grading, location, age at diagnosis, and extent of surgery, the gross total resection (GTR) being one of the main factors affecting the chance of cure. Surgery, along with radio- and chemotherapy, is currently the

24

standard of care in the treatment of these neoplasms. However, there is a subgroup of patients that is judged not amenable of GTR, mainly because of the localization and extent of the mass. Despite the low biological malignity of these tumors, patients with unresectable masses and with clinical progression of the disease undergo chemotherapy or radiotherapy, suffering for the short- and long-term toxicities associated with these regimens. The main approaches of conventional chemotherapy for LGG includes carboplatin and vincristine, TPCV (thioguanine, procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine) and weekly vinblastine monotherapy (1). Bevacizumab is another promising approach as it has shown improvements in the treatment of optic pathway gliomas (2). All this considered, new approaches, tailored on the biological characteristics of the disease, are needed for these patients.

The main molecular alterations shown by LGG relate to the activation of the MAP Kinase (MAPK) pathway and can be caused by either duplication or mutation of the BRAF gene (3). Therefore, inhibitors of the MAPK pathway have been considered as a potential target of therapy for tumors harboring these types of alterations (4, 5). Vemurafenib is a competitive small molecule that selectively recognizes the ATPbinding domain of the BRAF^{V600E} mutant. It has proved effective in the treatment of metastatic melanoma, a neoplasm frequently mutated for BRAF. More recently, an activity of this drug was proved also in pediatric BRAF^{V600E} mutated malignant astrocytomas (6-8), while less data are available on the use of the drug in patients with LGG (9, 10). We herein present a retrospective, monocentric analysis of the safety and efficacy of Vemurafenib as single agent for the treatment of 7 patients affected by unresectable LGG.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We retrospectively evaluated the medical reports of patients diagnosed with LGG and treated with Vemurafenib at Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital in Rome. The histological diagnosis was obtained in all patients either from biopsy or resected part in those children undergoing partial resection. *BRAF* ^{V600E} mutation was assessed by immunohistochemistry in all patients and in one case, due to a progression of the disease under treatment, also through Sanger sequencing of the *BRAF* gene.

Exon 15 of BRAF, spanning the V600 locus, was amplified by PCR using the KAPA2G Fast HotStart PCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's protocol with the following primers: BRAF_Ex15_Fw: CTTCATAATGCTTGGTCTGATAG and BRAF_Ex15_Rv: CTAGTAACTCAGCAGCATCTCAG. The amplification product was purified and sequenced by using the BigDye Terminator Version 3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol on a 3130XL automatic sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

As for immunohistochemistry, 3-micron paraffin embedded sections were dehydrated, pretreated with avidin block for 15' and biotin block for 15', then incubated with BSA for 30' and incubated with mouse anti-human BRAF V600E monoclonal

antibody (clone VE1, Spring Bioscience) at room temperature for 60' (dilution 1:50, PT-link antigen retrival at high pH). Incubation with biotinylated secondary antibodies for 15' at room temperature and incubation with alkaline phosphatase or 3,3'-diaminobenzidine-tetrahydrochloride-dihydrate (DAB) conjugated streptavidin for 15' at room temperature were performed. The BRAF staining for all patients is shown in **Figure 1** and a quantitative measure of the intensity of the staining can be found in **Table 1**. Normal cerebellar parenchyma served as negative control (shown in the same Figure).

In the absence of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data of Vemurafenib in a pediatric population, we decided to start the treatment with the minimal dose proved to be active in adults (240 mg/day *per os* in 2 administrations). Subsequent dose adjustment was evaluated case by case, depending on drug tolerance. Radiologic response to treatment was evaluated and classified according to RECIST criteria; major responses included complete response (CR), partial response (PR) and stable disease (SD). Toxicity was graded according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE), v 4.0. The mean time for the radiologic evaluation of response was 6 months for all the patients.

All the parents/legal guardians of patients provided formal, informed consent to the treatment and the study was approved by Institutional Review Board (Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù).

RESULTS

From November 2013 to May 2018, 7 patients have been treated; the main characteristics of the patients are reported in **Table 1**. The median age at diagnosis was 75.2 months (range 1–125); F:M ratio was 1:6. Histological diagnosis were: Gangliogliomas (GG) (4 patients), Pleomorphic Xantoastrocytoma (PXA, 1 patient), Ganglio-neurocytoma (1 patient) and Pylocitic Astrocytoma (PA, 1 patient). Only one of the seven patients had undergone previous treatment consisting of surgery and chemotherapy according to the treatment protocol SIOP LGG 2004 (including mainly Vincristine, Carboplatin, Etoposide).

Vemurafenib was started at a median time from diagnosis of 17 months (range 1–52) and was administered orally for a median of 22 months (range 3–52). Dose adjustments were carried out depending on observed toxicity and efficacy; in one case the dose remained 240 mg/day, in two cases was increased up to 480 mg/day and in four cases up to 960 mg/day. The median follow-up time from initiation with Vemurafenib therapy is currently 24 months (range 2–54).

The treatment was overall well-tolerated. Skin toxicity developed in 5/7 pts, reaching grade 3 (CTC v4.0) in one of them (at the dose of 960 mg/day) and leading to a 2-month discontinuation of the treatment that was later restarted without safety issues at the same dose. One patient developed grade 2 toxicity and the remaining 5 cases experienced only grade 1 toxicity, not requiring discontinuation of the treatment. The skin changes were mainly in the photo-exposed areas and consisted of a maculo-papular rash and diffused xerosis. These adverse effects occurred around 1 month after the treatment was started.



FIGURE 1 | BRAF^{V600E} immunohistochemistry in tumor samples of patients' series and in normal cerebellar parenchyma (small neurons of cortical molecular layer, Purkinje cells and underlining white mater resulted negative). Magnifications: Pt. 1 20x, Pts. 2-7 40x, Neg. 20x. 3,3'-diaminobenzidine-tetrahydrochloride-dihydrate (DAB) substrate for Pt.1 and alkaline phosphatase substrate for Pts. 2-7 and negative control. Hematoxylin counterstain in all samples.

	Pt 1	Pt 2	Pt 3	Pt 4	Pt 5	Pt 6	Pt 7
Age (months)	28 m	54 m	1 m	108 m	89 m	122 m	125 m
Site	Cervico- medullary	Vermis + cerebellar hemisphere	Medulla oblongata	Midbrain	Medulla oblongata	Midbrain	Optic chiasm
Histology	GG	GG	Ganglioneurocytom	ia PXA	GG	GG	Pylocitic Astrocytoma
BRAF ^{V600E} IHC	++	++	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+
Surgery	Biopsy	Partial resection	Partial resection	Partial resection	Partial resection	Partial resection	Partial resection
Previous CT	SIOP LGG 2004	No	No	No	No	No	No
Max dose	960 mg/day	480 mg/day	240 mg/day	960 mg/day	480 mg/day	480 mg/day	960 mg/day
Toxicity	Skin (grade 3)	No	No	Skin (grade 1)	Skin (grade 1)	Skin (grade 1)	Skin (grade 2)
Best response	PR	CR	PD	PR	SD	Insufficient follow-up	Treatment stopped for BRAF ^{V600E} negativity at Sanger Sequencing
Follow-up/(months)	54 m	40 m	4 m	30 m	13 m	2 m	24 m
Duration of treatment (months)	54 m	40 m	3m	30 m	13 m	2 m	9 m

TABLE 1 | Clinical-pathological characteristics of patients and BRAF^{V600E} immunostain intensity.

Pt 4 is also affected by constitutional chromosome 21 trisomy.

SIOP-LGG 2004: (Vincristine, Carboplatin, Etoposide). Acronyms: GG, ganglioglioma; PXA, pleomorphic xantoastrocytomas; IHC, immunohistochemistry; CT, Chemotherapy; PR, Partial Response; CR, Complete Response; PD, Progressive Disease; SD, Stable Disease.

In one case (the most severe one), the maximum grade of the lesions appeared after 15 months from the initiation of treatment, but shortly after (i.e., 1 month) the increase of the dose to 960 mg/day. The patients experiencing the highest toxicity (grade 2 and 4) were both receiving the maximum dose (960 mg/day). No skin tumor developed in any patient.

Although the cohort is too small and heterogeneous in terms of tumor histology, we observed 57% (4/7) major responses in our cohort. One child affected by GG obtained CR after 6 months and 2 patients (1 GG and 1 PXA) reached PR. Amongst these 2 latter patients, the one affected by PXA (who also had constitutional trisomy 21) had the best response to treatment

after 3 months, while the other one showed the best response 12 months after the treatment was started, 2 months after initiating with the highest tolerated dose level of 960 mg/day. For the remaining 2 patients affected by GG, one remains in stable disease after 18 months of treatment and the other has a follow-up of 2 months only, therefore too short to evaluate the radiological response; he shows, however, a clinical response with improvement of the main neurological deficits (ataxia and visual impairment).The best radiological response was obtained 3 months after Vemurafenib was started and a mean sustained response of 2 years was observed. No correlation between $BRAF^{V600E}$ positivity and treatment outcome was found. Remarkably, a clinical response with improvement of the neurological function was observed early in all the responding patients, after 2 weeks of treatment.

The patient with the ganglio-neurocytoma progressed under treatment. This child had a bulky lesion involving the brainstem and cerebellum and presented with severe clinical conditions at diagnosis.

Lastly, in one patient affected by PA we observed disease progression under treatment with Vemurafenib. To understand the possible cause of this lack of response, we performed sequencing of the BRAF gene, which showed a negativity for the V600E mutation. The therapy was then interrupted, and the patient underwent partial resection with stabilization of the disease.

Moreover, two of the patients that showed a response (after obtaining PR in one case and CR in the other case), experienced tumor regrowth under treatment, 24 and 15 months after the start of the treatment respectively, suggesting the development of resistance (RM images in **Figure 2**). One case was treated with radiotherapy, obtaining a reduction of the mass and Vemurafenib was later reintroduced with a complete control of the disease. In the other case, the treatment was continued at the same dose, obtaining a new stabilization of the disease until the latest follow-up (40 months).

Not surprisingly, an immediate tumor re-growth was seen after suspension of the treatment for toxicity in one responder; the therapeutic benefit was, however, re-obtained with the resumption of the drug. of new methodologies in genomics. The identification of specific molecular signatures of these tumors is changing the treatment strategies and targeted therapies are currently being explored in clinical trials. In fact, the conventional treatment strategies for unresectable LGG include chemotherapy and radiotherapy, with the long term disabilities that these treatments determine. In view of the long term survival associated with these tumors, and especially when considering the pediatric age, reducing longterm toxicities is mandatory. Targeted agents have, by definition, less systemic and long term adverse effects, even if their relatively recent use does not enable a full characterization of these aspects yet.

One of the most notable findings in this ever-changing landscape includes abnormalities in the RAS/MAPK pathway, such as *BRAF* activation. The availability of specific inhibitors of the *BRAF*^{V600E} alteration such as Vemurafenib is an example of the possible therapeutic translation of these findings, paving the way for an innovative treatment option for a selected population of pediatric patients affected by LGG and harboring *BRAF*^{V600E}.

We have presented the case of 7 patients with *BRAF* mutated LGG treated with Vemurafenib. This is, to the best of our knowledge, the first study to investigate safety and efficacy of this molecule in a pediatric population affected by LGG.

In all patients, the *BRAF* mutation was assessed through immunohistochemistry, and a further investigation through molecular assay was performed only in one case because of the poor response to the treatment observed, revealing a false positivity of the staining. Even though the gold standard method to assess BRAF status in patients with metastatic melanoma is based on molecular assays, the high costs and expertise required for the molecular assay is responsible for the limited use of the test. On the other side, the development of a mutationspecific monoclonal antibody (VE1), which enables the detection



DISCUSSION

In the past few years, dramatic progresses have been made in the understanding of the biology of LGG, thanks to the advent of the BRAF^{V600E} mutated protein by immunohistochemistry, made the analysis more widely available and less expensive, although less accurate as shown by our child with PA. In this regard, the possible inconsistency between these two methods (immunohistochemistry vs. molecular testing) is an issue that must be addressed. Immunohistochemistry may represent the best screening method in LGG patients, thanks to the wider availability and lower cost, but its lower specificity and sensibility when compared to molecular analysis must be always taken into account, particularly in those patients where the specific therapy does not seem to control the disease. In these cases, a molecular confirmation of the immunohistochemistry results is recommended.

The treatment appears to be well-tolerated, with only mild toxicity; the safety was confirmed also in a patient with constitutional trisomy of the chromosome 21. We observed exclusively skin toxicity, and only in one case the severity of the adverse effect led to the discontinuation of the drug. Dermatological toxicity is a known adverse effect of the drug and includes photosensitivity, keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation dysfunctions; the development of malignant lesions of the skin has also been reported (11).

The immediate progression of the disease noted after discontinuation of the drug and the prompt response after Vemurafenib reintroduction prove the strong dependence of the disease on the continuous inhibition of the BRAF^{V600E} activity. This evidence underlines the need for further combinations/options to possibly achieve complete tumor eradication.

The efficacy of the treatment in our small cohort is promising, with approximately 60% of response, although the small number of patients, given by the rarity of the condition, does not allow to draw firm conclusions on a statistically significant base. Only one patient with a bulky neurocytoma of the brainstem did not respond to the treatment (12). Taking into consideration the tolerability of the treatment, it represents a valuable option for these patients, sparing the long-term neurocognitive and

REFERENCES

- Chalil A, Ramaswamy V. Low grade gliomas in children. J Child Neurol. (2016) 31:517–522. doi: 10.1177/0883073815599259
- Avery RA, Hwang EI, Jakacki RI, Packer RJ. Marked recovery of vision in children with optic pathway gliomas treated with bevacizumab. Genetics and genomics. *JAMA Ophthalmol. JAMA Network*. 132:111–4. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2013.5819
- Pfister S, Janzarik WG, Remke M, Ernst A, Werft W, Becker N, et al. BRAF gene duplication constitutes a mechanism of MAPK pathway activation in low-grade astrocytomas. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:1739–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI33656
- Jacob K, Albrecht S, Sollier C, Faury D, Sader E, Montpetit A, et al. Duplication of 7q34 is specific to juvenile pilocytic astrocytomas and a hallmark of cerebellar and optic pathway tumours. *Br J Cancer* (2009) 101:722–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605179
- Schindler G, Capper D, Meyer J, Janzarik W, Omran H, Herold-Mende C, et al. Analysis of BRAF V600E mutation in 1,320 nervous system tumors reveals high mutation frequencies in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, ganglioglioma

endocrinological sequelae associated with chemotherapy and radiotherapy in a group of patients that have an excellent overall survival. Therefore, it is extremely important to reduce the possible impact of the treatment for these children and to preserve their quality of life during adulthood. It must be, however, underlined that evidence of the long-term safety of the treatment with Vemurafenib is lacking and should be prospectively confirmed. Moreover, as mentioned, although it can represent an excellent option to control the disease and could serve as a bridge to a more definitive treatment, neither it can be considered as a definitively curative approach itself nor a lifelong treatment can be envisioned.

Moreover, the regrowth of the disease observed under treatment, suggests the development of resistance, a welldocumented finding in melanoma. The biological mechanism underlying the development of resistance has not been unraveled yet, but several studies are currently ongoing to find novel therapeutic strategies for these patients (13–15). Further molecular characterizations of the non-responders is necessary to evaluate the alternative pathways of the MAPK signaling.

Confirmation of our findings in larger and prospective studies is required. However, our results suggest that Vemurafenib could be a well-tolerated and effective option in pediatric patients affected by *BRAF* V600E-mutated LGG.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FD, AM, and FL designed the study. FD, GC, AC, and IA cured the collection of the data. FD, GC, IA, AC, AM, GSC, ED FD, and F-DC interpreted and analyzed the data, FD and GC drafted the manuscript, AM and FL critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content. EA took care of the molecular characterization of the BRAF gene.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the association Heal for the support.

and extra-cerebellar pilocytic astrocytoma. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2011) 121:397–405. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0802-6

- Nicolaides TP, Li H, Solomon DA, Hariono S, Hashizume R, Barkovich K, et al. Targeted therapy for BRAFV600E malignant astrocytoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:7595–604. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1456
- Robinson GW, Orr BA, Gajjar A. Complete clinical regression of a BRAF V600E-mutant pediatric glioblastoma multiforme after BRAF inhibitor therapy. *BMC Cancer* (2014) 14:258. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-258
- Bautista F, Paci A, Minard-Colin V, Dufour C, Grill J, Lacroix L, et al. Vemurafenib in pediatric patients with BRAFV600E mutated high-grade gliomas. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2014) 61:1101–3. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24891
- del Bufalo F, Carai A, Figà-Talamanca L, Pettorini B, Mallucci C, Giangaspero F, et al. Response of recurrent BRAFV600E mutated ganglioglioma to Vemurafenib as single agent. J Transl Med. (2014) 12:356. doi: 10.1186/s12967-014-0356-1
- Lassaletta A, Zapotocky M, Mistry M, Ramaswamy V, Honnorat M, Krishnatry R, et al. Therapeutic and prognostic implications of BRAF V600E in pediatric low-grade gliomas. J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:2934–41. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.71.8726

- Sibaud V, Lamant L, Maisongrosse V, Delord J-P. [Adverse skin reactions induced by BRAF inhibitors: a systematic review]. Ann Dermatol Venereol. (2013) 140:510–20. doi: 10.1016/j.annder.2013.02.031
- Piras M, Miele E, Di Giannatale A, Colafati GS, Diomedi-Camassei F, Vinci M, et al. Congenital extra-ventricular (Ganglio)neurocytoma of the brain stem: a case report. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:108. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00108
- Paulitschke V, Berger W, Paulitschke P, Hofstätter E, Knapp B, Dingelmaier-Hovorka R, et al. Vemurafenib resistance signature by proteome analysis offers new strategies and rational therapeutic concepts. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2015) 14:757–68. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0701
- Lidsky M, Antoun G, Speicher P, Adams B, Turley R, Augustine C, et al. Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) hyperactivation and enhanced NRAS expression drive acquired vemurafenib resistance in V600E BRAF melanoma cells. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:27714–26. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 532432
- Miao B, Ji Z, Tan L, Taylor M, Zhang J, Choi HG, et al. EPHA2 is a mediator of vemurafenib resistance and a novel therapeutic target in melanoma. *Cancer Discov*. (2015) 5:274–87. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0295

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Del Bufalo, Ceglie, Cacchione, Alessi, Colafati, Carai, Diomedi-Camassei, De Billy, Agolini, Mastronuzzi and Locatelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





EZH2, HIF-1, and Their Inhibitors: An Overview on Pediatric Cancers

Marco Papale¹, Elisabetta Ferretti^{1,2}, Giuseppe Battaglia², Diana Bellavia³, Antonello Mai^{4*} and Marco Tafani^{1*}

¹ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ² IRCCS Neuromed, Isernia, Italy, ³ Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Drug Chemistry and Technologies, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy

During the past decades, several discoveries have established the role of epigenetic modifications and cellular microenvironment in tumor growth and progression. One of the main representatives concerning epigenetic modification is the polycomb group (PcG). It is composed of different highly conserved epigenetic effector proteins preserving, through several post-translational modifications of histones, the silenced state of the genes implicated in a wide range of central biological events such as development, stem cell formation, and tumor progression. Proteins of the PcG can be divided in polycomb repressive complexes (PRCs): PRC1 and PRC2. In particular, enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), the catalytic core subunit of PRC2, acts as an epigenetic silencer of many tumor suppressor genes through the trimethylation of lysine 27 on histone H3, an essential binding site for DNA methyl transferases and histone deacetylases. A growing number of data suggests that overexpression of EZH2 associates with progression and poor outcome in a large number of cancer cases. Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) is an important transcription factor involved in modulating cellular response to the microenvironment by promoting and regulating tumor development such as angiogenesis, inflammation, metabolic reprogramming, invasion, and metastatic fate. The HIF complex is represented by different subunits (α and β) acting together and promoting the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hexokinase II (HKII), receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), carbonic anhydrase (CA), etc., after binding to the hypoxia-response element (HRE) binding site on the DNA. In this review, we will try to connect these two players by detailing the following: (i) the activity and influence of these two important regulators of cancer progression in particular for what concerns pediatric tumors, (ii) the possible correlation between them, and (iii) the feasibility and efficiency to contrast them using several inhibitors.

Keywords: HIF-1, EZH2, tumors, cancers, oncology, hypoxia, epigenetics

INTRODUCTION

During the past decades, a growing number of scientific data has led to the discovery of epigenetics, defined as the changes during the development of an organism that are not related to DNA sequences. Changes in the chromatin configuration at the gene promoter influenced by chemical modification such as acetylation, methylation, ubiquitylation, and phosphorylation are part of an exact mechanism that regulates the accessibility to DNA and the consequent transcription

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rimas J. Orentas, Seattle Children's Research Institute, United States

Reviewed by:

Chunliang Li, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States Johan Holmberg, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

*Correspondence:

Marco Tafani marco.tafani@uniroma1.it Antonello Mai antonello.mai@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 23 July 2018 Accepted: 15 October 2018 Published: 19 November 2018

Citation:

Papale M, Ferretti E, Battaglia G, Bellavia D, Mai A and Tafani M (2018) EZH2, HIF-1, and Their Inhibitors: An Overview on Pediatric Cancers. Front. Pediatr. 6:328. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00328

30

and expression of coding genes (1). Some of these modifications are considered inheritable in plants, invertebrates, and also vertebrates both cell division and cell generation (germline). In fact, environmental pressures as well as lifestyle can produce epigenetic changes that can be maintained through two or three generations even in the absence of the specific stimulus (2). However, epigenetic modifications, unlike genetic mutations, are reversible because they fail to alter the nucleotide sequence.

One of the most important epigenetic regulators is represented by the polycomb group (PcG) of proteins influencing the expression of many genes implicated in the development of the organism from childhood to adulthood. Moreover, the PcG represents evolutionarily conserved multiprotein repressive complexes such as polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1) and PRC2. In particular, histone methyltransferase enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), a specific component of PRC2, regulates the trimethylation of Lys 27 on histone 3 (H3K27) implicated in the expression of some essential genes in the early steps of X-chromosome inactivation in women (3). Moreover, deregulation of this particular complex has been associated with a large number of tumors, and the expression of PcG proteins is closely associated with carcinogenesis (4).

The development of a tumor is a complicated process in which a large number of *influencers* play their own role. The correlation between tumors and microenvironment was hypothesized in the last century, and it was part of Stephen Paget's (1889) "seed and soil" theory Paget's 1889 "seed and soil" theory postulating that metastatic cells of a specific cancer ("the seed") usually metastasize to some sites ("the soil") depending on the affinity between initial and secondary tumor sites (5).

Nowadays, we know that particular conditions of the hypoxic tumor microenvironment could promote the expression of specific oncogenes resulting in the progression of cancer. One of the most important factors regulating the response of tumor cells to hypoxia is represented by hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) (6, 7).

Tumor environment is characterized by the lack of oxygen, and the cells are exposed to hypoxia. In this specific hypoxic "habitat," HIF-1 is activated. Specifically, HIF-1 is a heterodimeric protein composed of two subunits: HIF- 1β (constitutively expressed) and HIF-1 α (O₂-regulated). Under normoxic conditions, the newly synthesized HIF-1 α is hydroxylated at proline residues 402 and/or 564 by specific prolyl hydroxylase domain (PHD) proteins (i.e., PHD2) using O_2 and α -ketoglutarate as substrates to catalyze a dioxygenase reaction. During such a reaction, one oxygen is inserted into the proline residue while the other oxygen is inserted into α -ketoglutarate leading to the formation of succinate and CO₂. Next, the protein OS-9 interacts with both PHD2 and HIF-1a, promoting hydroxylation. This step is essential to bind the von Hippel-Lindau protein (VHL) that, in turn, interacts with elongin C forming a ubiquitin ligase complex. This process leads to the proteasomal degradation of HIF-1a. Contrastingly, under hypoxia conditions, oxygen (O₂) deprivation inhibits the hydroxylation reactions and/or increases the mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which oxidize the ferrous ion in the catalytic site of hydroxylases, thereby inhibiting these enzymes. In this way, the stability and the transactivation function of HIF-1 α are increased, promoting dimerization with HIF-1 β . This determines the activation of the complex and the consecutive binding to the hypoxia responsive element (HRE) sequence 5'-(A/G)CGTG-3' in target genes, increasing the transcription into mRNA (6, 7).

More than 40 different HIF-1 target genes are regulated in this way. Importantly, these genes regulate crucial cellular processes such as tumor progression, remodeling of the microenvironment, cell proliferation, survival, angiogenesis, glucose metabolism, and iron homeostasis. Proteins encoded by these genes, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), mediate increased O_2 delivery via the formation of new blood vessels. The expression of other HIF-1-regulated proteins, such as hexokinase II (HKII), which catalyzes the first step of glycolysis (8), glucose transporters (GLUT), and glycolytic enzymes, allow cells to adapt their metabolism to a specific environment distinguished by a reduction or lack of oxygen. Finally, the expression of a third group of gene products may influence the balance between apoptotic and anti-apoptotic signals that determine cell survival (9).

EZH2 and Its Inhibitors

Enhancer of zeste homolog 2 is the catalytic subunit of the PRC2, a highly conserved histone methyltransferase, involved in the methylation of lysine 27 of histone 3. The overexpression of EZH2 has been correlated with many cancers, such as prostate, breast, bladder, whereas other kinds of cancer, such as B-cell lymphomas or other forms of breast cancer, can be promoted by specific mutations (10). For this reason, EZH2 can be considered as an interesting target for the development of targeted anticancer strategies (10).

The PRC2 complex operates as a chromatin and it is expressed in several organisms from plants to flies modifier, and humans. It interferes with the transcription of target genes (i.e., silencing genes involved in differentiation) by trimethylating lysine 27 on histone 3 (H3K27me3), considered as its major function "in vivo." The human PRC2 complex is composed of five different subunits: EZH2, SUZ12, EED, AEBP2, and RbAp46/48 (10-12). In addition, EZH2, which represents the main subunit of PRC2 sequentially catalyzes three methylation reactions at H3K27, generating monomethylated, dimethylated, and trimethylated H3K27 (H3K27me1, H3K27me2, and H3K27me3). In the PRC2 complex, EZH2 represents the most important subunit, SUZ12 and EED are important for maintaining the integrity of the entire structure, while AEBP2 is necessary to stabilize the structure of the complex. Mutations of these subunits could determine a lack of PRC2 function. In contrast, the RbAp48 subunit does not seem to be necessary during the enzymatic activity, and therefore it may be not essential for the histone methyltransferase action of EZH2 (12).

Given its specific activities, EZH2 can be considered as an interesting target in several types of cancer. For this reason, during the past years, a large number of EZH2 inhibitors have been discovered, such as 3-deazaneplanocin A (DZNep), EPZ005687, EI1, GSK126, or UNC1999 (Figure 1). Obviously, the development of these inhibitors is limited to those cancers

EZH2 INHIBITORS	CANCER TYPE	ACTIVITY	
DZNep (3-DEAZANEPLANOCIN A) ABCAM MERCK	BREAST, COLON	REDUCTION OF EZH2, INTERFERING PRC2	
EPZ005687 CAYMAN CHEMICAL BPS BIOSCIENCE	LYMPHOMAS	INHIBITS EZH2 MUTANTS Y641 AND A677	
EII Novartis Cayman chemical	B-CELL LYMPHOMAS	LOSS OF H3K27 METHYLATION FUNCTION (INHIBITS EZH2 MUTANT Y641)	
GSK126 CAYMAN CHEMICAL CHEMIETEK	DIFFUSE LARGE B-CELL LYMPHOMAS	INHIBTS PROLIFERATION OF EZH2 MUTANTS	
UNC1999 CAYMAN CHEMICAL MERCK	DIFFUSE LARGE B-CELL LYMPHOMAS	INHIBITS EZH2 MUTANT Y641N	
REFERENCE	10		

FIGURE 1 | EZH2 inhibitors 3-deazaneplanocin A (DZNep), EPZ005687, El1, GSK126, and UNC1999. DZNep is a S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase inhibitor, depletes EZH2 and the associated H3K27me3, and induces apoptosis in breast and colon cancer cells. EPZ005687 inhibits H3K27 methylation by the EZH2 mutants Y641 and A677, and it has been shown to selectively kill lymphoma cells that are heterozygous for one of these EZH2 mutations. El1 is active against different forms of EZH2, while GSK126 effectively inhibits the proliferation of the protein mutants in DLBCL cell lines. UNC1999 represents the first orally bioavailable EZH2 inhibitor.

in which there is a gain of function of EZH2. Therefore, in this section, we describe different types or tumors indicating, when possible, the state of EZH2 (wild type, overexpressed, mutated but still targetable by inhibitors or mutated with a loss of function). The reader must keep in mind that EZH2 inhibitors are useless or even harmful in those cancers characterized by a loss of function of EZH2. Nonetheless, this knowledge is important for both scientists as well as patients.

The drug DZNep is an S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase inhibitor that reduces EZH2 and H3K27me3 levels, thereby inducing apoptosis in breast and colon cancer cells. This compound alters the PRC2 pathway even if the exact mechanism is yet to be elucidated, but it is considered as a promising drug for future cancer therapies. The drug EPZ005687 was discovered as an inhibitor with a 50 fold higher selectivity for EZH2 than for EZH1 (10). Moreover, EPZ005687 can also inhibit H3K27 methylation induced by two EZH2 mutants (Y641 and A677), thereby killing lymphoma cells carrying the Y641 or A677 EZH2 mutant (10, 13). In addition, EI1 is active against different forms of EZH2, while the most potent inhibitor of EZH2, GSK126, is effective in inhibiting proliferation of the protein mutants in DLBCL cells (10). The drug UNC1999 an analog of GSK126, represents the first orally bioavailable EZH2 inhibitor. *In vitro* UNC1999 has shown high efficiency against wild type and mutant

EZH2 against many epigenetic and non-epigenetic targets. In cells, UNC1999 seems to reduce H3K27me3 levels (IC50<50 nmol/L) reducing the vitality of DLBCL cell lines with the Y641N mutation (14). Recent genetic studies in a wide range of organisms have shown an evolutionarily conserved antagonistic relationship between polycomb proteins and switch/sucrose nonfermentable (SWI/SNF) complexes, which utilize the energy of ATP hydrolysis for chromatin remodeling. These complexes are composed of 12 to 15 subunits that are mutated in 20% of all human cancers. Moreover, in several cases, it has been demonstrated that EZH2 gain-of-function mutations such as in A687 and A677 can lead to cellular transformation as reported in non-Hodgkin lymphomas(15, 16). Unopposed EZH2 activity is also a driver of cancers determined by the loss of the core subunit SNF5/SMARCB1 in the SWI/SNF complex as demonstrated in rhabdoid tumor, a highly malignant aggressive type of pediatric cancer (17, 18). Additionally, EZH2 has been shown to also possess non-enzymatic functions, leading to a situation that raises the possibility that the enzymatic inhibitors currently employed in clinical trials may not fully suppress EZH2 activity as well as its tumor promotion. However, this effect may be reduced by blocking the interaction between EZH2 and other PRC2 subunits using a peptide known as stabilized alpha-helix of EZH2 (SAH-EZH2) obtained from the EZH2 domain interacting with the EED subunit. The SAH-EZH2 interaction interferes with the EZH2-EED complex, reducing EZH2 levels, and stopping H3K27 trimethylation. This peptide is effective against EZH2dependent MLL-AF9 leukemia and EZH2-mutant lymphoma cells, whereas it does not have any effect on non-transformed and EZH2 controls. Remarkably, the anti-proliferative effect of SAH-EZH2 has been linked more to the reduction of EZH2 expression than to H3K27me3 reduction. These results are consistent with the observations stressing the important role of the non-enzymatic function of EZH2 in SWI/SNF-mutant cancers (11).

HYPOXIA MASTER REGULATOR HIF-1 AND ITS INHIBITORS

During recent years, a growing number of evidence has laid the groundwork for a better comprehension of all the complicated processes implicated in the development of cancers. Transforming cells are characterized by an uncontrolled growth forming the tumor mass, and in the internal core, the reduction of oxygen induces a great number of cellular modifications leading the cells to adapt to this particular microenvironment. All these hypoxia-adaptive changes include the switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis in cell metabolism, an augmented synthesis of glycogen, and a switch from glucose to glutamine as a substrate for the synthesis of fatty acids. In this particular condition, HIF-1 acts as a primary controller of a great number of proteins implicated in a wide variety of cellular activities. The presence of hypoxic regions inside the tumor results in (I) necrosis of cells distant from vessels of host tissue and (II) activation of the HIF-1 complex in an attempt to increase the survival of sublethally damaged tumor cells. In this situation, HIF-1 expression increases not only the survival of tumor cells but also their commitment to malignancy (19). In cancer cells, HIF-1 can also be activated by loss of function of the tumor suppressor VHL and by gain of function of oncogenes leading to the activation of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. Moreover, HIF-1 activation regulates the metabolism to increase cancer progression and resistance to therapy. For this reason, HIF-1 or metabolic enzyme inhibitors may be used to target the metabolic flexibility of cancer cells increasing their sensitivity to anticancer therapies (20).

During the past years, a growing number of molecules have been demonstrated to inhibit HIF-1 activity. A large number of these inhibitors work by reducing HIF-1a mRNA or protein levels, HIF-1 DNA-binding activity, or the trans-activation of some HIF-1 related genes. These drugs reduce the expression of HIF-1a operating on the synthesis or degradation of proteins. In many cancers, the synthesis of HIF-1a is strictly related to mTOR activity. In fact, in cancer cells, the continuous activation of tyrosine kinase receptors (such as HER2neu, BCR-ABL, and EGFR) and/or of the downstream phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/AKT and RAS/MAP kinase signal transduction pathways determines the growth of mTOR activity and the consecutive activation of HIF-1. Thus, inhibitors of these pathways are able to determine the loss of HIF-1 activity and other biological activities such as a reduction of tumor vascularization promoting the therapeutic effect (21).

Moreover, HIF-1 expression can be also controlled by redox (reduction-oxidation)-dependent processes. In fact, it has been demonstrated that by treating purified HIF-1 with diamide, hydrogen peroxide, or N-ethyl-maleimide, a specific alkylator of cysteine sulfhydryl groups, it is possible to cause a complete loss of DNA binding activity (22).

On the basis of these data, it is obvious to consider HIF-1 as an important target for anticancer therapy, and during the past years, several natural products (generally, the term "natural product" is used to indicate low molecular weight secondary metabolites produced by animals, plants, and microbes for chemical defense and growth advantage) or synthetic compounds have been shown to possess an anti HIF-1 activity.

NATURAL INHIBITORS

Several emerging scientific data show the efficacy of many natural compounds to inhibit the activity of HIF-1 operating on protein synthesis or protein degradation. Actinomycin D (dactinomycin) is a metabolite produced by *Streptomyces parvullus* (formerly *S. antibioticus*) that acts as an inhibitor of transcription, and it is able to block hypoxia-induced HIF-1 activity in the human hepatoma cell line Hep3B. Moreover, other data showed the efficacy of actinomycin D to block HIF-1 α induction by angiotensin II (Ang II) in the vascular smooth muscle cells of rats without altering hypoxia induction. Inhibition of HIF-1 depended on the cell type, stimulus, and drug concentration. Another cytotoxic compound, GL331, is a semisynthetic podophyllotoxin-derived topoisomerase II inhibitor with IC₅₀ values in the range of 0.5 µm to 2 µm that

has been shown to work against a large number of tumor cell lines. In the human lung adenocarcinoma cell line CL1-5, using a concentration of $10\,\mu$ m of GL331, it has been possible to decrease HIF-1 α mRNA levels, probably through transcriptional inhibition. However, such an inhibitory effect is not specific for HIF-1. At the same concentrations, the compound shows cytotoxicity and inhibits the expression of cyclin D1 in CL1-5 cells. In addition, GL331 demonstrated no effects against gastric cancer in a clinical study (23).

Emerging data have discovered a growing number of natural products capable of reducing HIF-1 α mRNA levels despite the fact that the mechanism is not completely clear for all of them. The Indian traditional medicine glycoside known as picroliv (in which the major compound found is a purified iridoid glycoside fraction picroside-I and kutkoside from the roots of *Picrorhiza kurrooa*) reduced HIF-1 α and VEGF mRNA levels *in vitro* (24, 25).

Other compounds have the ability to promote HIF-1 degradation through different ways. For example, geldanamycin (GA), a metabolite of *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, interferes with hsp90 through the amino-terminal ATP/ADP binding pocket. In addition, GA blocks the activation of the HIF-1 complex promoting the degradation of the α -subunit through a VHL-independent proteasomal mechanism both in normoxic and hypoxic conditions (26, 27).

Other emerging scientific data have shown that by using the antifungal antibiotic cycloheximide isolated from *Streptomyces griseus*, it is possible to inhibit general eukaryotic protein synthesis and to interfere with the accumulation and activation of the HIF-1 α protein. Another important group of compounds with inhibitory effects on HIF-1 α protein synthesis is represented by microtubule disrupting agents (MDA) (23). Additionally, other hsp90 inhibitors such as 17-N-allylamino-17demethoxygeldanamycin, resveratrol, the antibiotic novobiocin, and many others have been shown to have an activity against the accumulation of HIF-1 (23).

Finally, another natural compound with an anti HIF-1 activity is the red Korean ginseng, even if the mechanisms of action and the antitumor effect are yet to be clarified (19, 28).

Therefore, as reported in this review, there are several natural drugs and compounds capable of interfering with HIF-1 activity, accumulation, and function, and this can possibly lead to the development of new anticancer strategies in the future (**Figure 2**). However, even if a growing number of evidence is collected day by day, still several sets of data are necessarily required to go on in this way.

HIF-EZH2: TWO SIDES OF THE SAME COIN?

During the past years, great progresses have been made in many areas of pediatric oncology even if tumors of the central nervous system (CNS) remain a significant challenge because of their complicated nature. Basing on recent scientific data, it has been possible to achieve a better comprehension of cancer molecular mechanisms and to develop new therapeutic approaches focused on different molecules and pathways (**Figure 3**).

In this review, we paid particular attention on some specific pediatric tumors such as high grade glioma and pediatric low grade glioma.

Pediatric high grade gliomas (pHGGs) have the same histological, but not molecular, features of adult HGGs (aHGGs) and have been classified, in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO), as grade III and IV CNS tumors. Grade III glioma (anaplastic astrocytoma) is characterized, histologically, by atypical nuclei, an increased cellularity, and an increased mitotic activity. Grade IV glioma, also known as glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), is the most pathologically advanced and clinically aggressive tumor. A wide number of genomic analyses on several pediatric tumors such as glioblastomas, anaplastic astrocytomas, and diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas (DIPG) have revealed frequent mutations of the H3F3A gene (29) (encoding H3.3) in which the lysine residue at position 27 was substituted with a methionine (K27M) or the glycine residue at position 34 with an arginine or valine (G34R/V) (30-33). Conversely, just a limited number of DIPGs revealed a replacement of the lysine residue at position 27 with a methionine (K27M) in the HIST1H3B gene encoding for the histone H3.1 (33). In fact, pediatric GBM with H3F3A K27M mutations shows a reduction in H3K27me3 when compared with wild type tumors. Moreover, anaplastic astrocytomas also revealed the presence of a significant fraction of hypoxic tissue areas. In fact, hypoxia has been shown to play an important role in the malignant progression of various tumor entities, and hypoxic areas have been found in malignancies such as breast, prostate, pancreas, and lung cancer, soft tissue sarcomas, non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, melanomas, liver tumors, etc (34). Hypoxia leads to the activation of HIF-1 via the stabilization of its α -subunit. Importantly, a number of studies have indicated a widespread expression of HIF-1a (35-39) and its target genes glucose transporter (GLUT)-1 (40) and carbonic anhydrase (CA) IX (40, 41), in malignant astrocytomas. Hypoxia has been suggested as an adverse prognostic factor for patient outcome. In fact, several studies of tumor hypoxia involving the direct assessment of the oxygenation status have suggested worse disease-free survival for patients with hypoxic cervical cancers or soft tissue sarcomas. In head & neck cancers, studies suggest that hypoxia is prognostic for survival (34). In fact, the identification and quantification of hypoxic regions is extremely important for the management of the disease. A large number of predictive assays for tumor oxygenation status have been developed in the past years showing differences in the degrees of success. To date, functional imaging techniques based on positron emission tomography (PET) have been demonstrated to be fundamental for both pretreatment and tumor response evaluation during therapy. Several hypoxiaspecific PET markers have been developed in several clinics to quantify hypoxic tumor sub-volumes for personalized treatment planning. Moreover, a large number of new radiotracers are actually under investigation. In addition, PET-derived functional parameters and tracer pharmacokinetics can be used to obtain very useful input data to create computational models aimed to simulate or interpret PET acquired data to develop new treatment

HIF-1 NATURAL INHIBITORS	ACTIVITY	REFERENCE
DACTINOMYCIN (ACTINOMYCIN D)	INHIBITION OF TRANSCRIPTION, BLOCKS INDUCTION OF HIF-1α	23
GL331	INHIBITION OF HIF-1 BY DECRASING mRNA HIF1-α	23
PICROLIV	REDUCTION OF HIF-1 <i>a</i> , VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR (VEGF) mRNA LEVELS IN VITRO	24,25
GELDANAMYCIN	HSP90 INTERFERING, HIF-1α DEGRADATION	26,27
CICLOHEXIMIDE	INHIBITION OF EUKARYOTIC PROTEINS, INTERFERING HIF1-α ACTIVATION	23
MDA (MICROTUBULE DISRUPTING AGENTS)	INHIBITION OF HIF-1a PROTEIN SYNTHESIS	23
17N-ALLYLAMIN-17DEMETHOXYGELDANAMYCIN	HSP90 INHIBITION	23
RESVERATROL	HSP90 INHIBITION	23
NOVOBIOCIN	HSP90 INHIBITION	23
RED KOREAN GINSENG	INHIBITION OF HIF-1a DIMERIZATION	19,28

FIGURE 2 | Natural inhibitors of HIF-1. During these years, a large number of compounds have been tested, and their natural inhibitory effect during hypoxia has been demonstrated. Here, we reported some of them presenting different mechanisms of action such as inhibition of transcription, inhibition of VEGF, inhibition of HIF-1 synthesis or dimerization, etc.

planning or radio/chemotherapy response prediction programs (42).

Primary GBM is characterized by increased vascular proliferation and necrosis in addition to the features of grade III glioma (43). In particular, pHGGs have a specific wide distribution in contrast to aHGGs that are more frequent in the cerebral cortex (44). Molecularly, pHGGs are distinct from aHGG and are characterized by a great number of activating or inactivating gene modifications, such as gene amplifications, deletions, and inactivation of p53 and histone 3.3 (H3F3A), causing them to be activated and inactivated (45).

The canonical treatment for pHGG occurring in the cerebrum typically includes initial surgery followed by radiation and chemotherapy. There is widespread agreement that total resection of tumor tissue improves patient outcome, but anyway, focal radiation therapy has also become standard in the treatment of patients greater than 3 years of age with pHGG (43). Chemotherapy is frequently used to treat patients with pHGG; although evidence of efficacy is modest, chemotherapeutic agents are often employed in the treatment of these patients in combination with temozolomide even if the ability of this drug is still debated (46–48).


Medulloblastoma (MB) is another pediatric brain tumor, representing 15-20% of the tumors occurring at a young age. While it can occur at any age from infancy through adulthood, it is most typically seen in children with bimodal incidence peaks between 3 and 4 or 8 and 9 years of age (49). MB is characterized by four distinct molecular subgroups, such as those dependent on Wingless (WNT) or Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) signaling and those that are less well characterized (Group 3 (G3) and Group 4 (G4)), showing multiple responses to common therapeutic approaches (50). These tumors present, in contrast to most other cancers, some recurrent mutations. These four MB subgroups have different mutational landscape, gene expression, pathology, and prognosis (50-54). In fact, about 25% of MBs are G3 tumors with high MYC levels as a result of somatic MYC gene amplification in about 15-20% of G3 cases. Moreover, some G3 MBs have been associated with relatively high levels of EZH2 and to increased global H3K27me3 chromatin repressive marks (53). In contrast, the H3K27me3-specific demethylase, KDM6A/UTX, is mutated in a reciprocally exclusive manner for the most part in G4 MBs (53, 55-57). Basing on this knowledge, recently, it has been possible to investigate the relationship between G3 MB and EZH2 and to explore its functional relationship with other genes that are important for the development of MB, using gene editing systems. In fact, in this way, it has been possible to demonstrate that the deletion of EZH2 accelerates de novo MB development and the progression of established MBs and that EZH2 inactivation in G3 MB implicates Gfi1 (a proto-oncogene frequently activated in human G3 MBs whose disruption antagonizes the tumor promoting effects of Ezh2 loss) as an oncogenic target gene. Therefore, enforced expression of Gfi1 promotes secondary G3 MB formation mimicking the effects of the absence of Ezh2, whereas the lack of Gfi1contrasted the effects of Ezh2 inactivation, together providing at least a partial rationale for Ezh2-mediated tumor suppression (58). Importantly, these new results point the attention to the complexity of the pathways directly and indirectly influenced by EZH2 to the point that this protein can function as either a tumor suppressor or promoter depending on the cellular context.

Ependymomas occur in both children and adults and can arise throughout the entire neuraxis. They are divided, according to the WHO, into three types classified as grade I, II, and III. While spinal cord tumors are more common in adults, in pediatric patients, approximately 70% of ependymomas arise in the posterior fossa. The canonical treatment for these specific tumors is based mainly on surgical resection, and in the postoperative period, radiation can be used to improve the survival frequency (49).

During the pediatric age, other kinds of tumor such as low grade glioma (PLGG) can cause several problems to patients. This kind of tumor represents the most common type of pediatric astrocytoma and pediatric brain tumor in general. According to the WHO classification, PLGGs are grade I or II and include pilocytic astrocytoma (PA), subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (SEGA), pilomyxoid astrocytoma (PMA), pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma (PXA), and low-grade fibrillary astrocytoma or diffuse astrocytoma. Among these tumors, PA is considered the most common glioma in children.

Actually, these tumors are treated using different drugs including carboplatin, vincristine, temozolomide, etc. Anyway, surgical resection is commonly used to treat subependymal giant cell astrocytoma especially in the case of intracranial hypertension.

Apart from pediatric brain tumors, epigenetic alterations have an important role in several cancers; for example in leukemias, repressive proteins of the polycomb group, PRC1 and PRC2, are the main epigenetic regulators in developmental and transcriptional repression.

For example, early T cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ETP-ALL) represents an aggressive subtype of ALL characterized by the presence of stem cells and transcriptional programs observed in myeloid cells (59). It has been demonstrated that inactivating alterations of the PRC2 components are recurrent in this kind of human tumor, but their functional role is yet to be entirely defined (60). Some data about the involvement of EZH2 have been collected using a murine model of NRASQ61K-driven leukemia that shows the phenotypic and transcriptional aspects of ETP-ALL (60). In particular, homozygous inactivation of EZH2 cooperates with oncogenic NRASQ61K to favor leukemia development. In addition, EZH2 acts as silencer of stem cell- and early progenitor cell-associated genes, and its loss is associated with an increased activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) by tyrosine 705 phosphorylation (60). Moreover, the activity of STAT3 maintains the co-option of a pro-metastatic program in activated astrocytes in a metastatic lesion. These astrocytes support metastatic cells through their ability to modulate the innate and acquired immune systems, and it has been demonstrated that patients who have reactive astrocytes with active STAT3, show a reduced survival from the diagnosis of intracranial metastases. In fact, if in reactive astrocytes the signaling of STAT3 is prevented, it is possible to reduce the formation of metastasis in the brain from different primary tumor sources. Thus, by using an orally bioavailable treatment against STAT3, it is possible to obtain an antitumor effect in patients even with advanced systemic diseases such as brain metastasis (61).

Therefore, according to these data, the inactivation of EZH2 can be linked to the activation of transcriptional programs in stem cells and to increased growth/survival signaling, characteristics determining a poor prognosis in patients (60).

T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) represents about 10–15 % of pediatric ALL cases and, when compared with B-progenitor ALL patients, shows some aggressive clinical features such as higher risk for primary resistant disease, and frequent early isolated central nervous system relapse. In recent years, thanks to different therapeutic strategies based on intensive chemotherapy, T-ALL prognosis in children and adolescents has improved. However, it is still worse when compared with

B-lineage ALL in particular if associated to a lack of initial response to the therapy with prednisone (62). Another approach to treat this tumor is based on 3-deazaneplanocin-A (DZNep) blocking EZH2. This agent showed a good activity inducing a strong apoptosis of cancer cells; however, additional data have to be collected regarding its potential for treating T-cell ALL (63).

Other therapeutic approaches for the treatment of this cancer are based on daunoblastine, an anti-leukemic agent used for decades despite the fact that its success is frequently linked to the use of other drugs. For this reason, recently, the efficacy of this drug in combination with DZNep has been shown. A combination of these drugs in the ratio 25:50 showed a synergistic effect at the CalcuSyn elaboration (a software to explore the relative contribution of each agent to the synergism) and induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. In particular, DZNep caused 63 % of apoptosis if used alone, whereas a stronger effect up to the 67% was observed if combined with daunoblastine after 72 h of treatment (64). Therefore, DZNep inhibits Jurkat cell proliferation through the activation of check-points that block cell cycle arrest at S phase, an effect that results in the induction of apoptosis. In fact, EZH2 was upregulated in natural killer/T-cell lymphoma, through Myc-mediated mRNA inhibition. Such EZH2 upregulation determines the activation of cyclin D transcription promoting cell proliferation, an effect that is independent of its methyltransferase activity (65).

Even if the principal activity of EZH2 as a gene silencer proceeds through the methylation of H3K27, a large number of studies have shown that the transcriptional activation of EZH2 in many types of cancer is achieved independently of H3K27me (66). This activity has been demonstrated especially in natural killer/T-cell lymphoma, in which cyclin D transcription is activated by EZH2 upregulation via Mycmediated mRNA inhibition promoting cell proliferation without a methyltransferase activity (65). Similarly, in Jurkat cells, when EZH2 is upregulated, there is an activation of cyclin D transcription demonstrating the effect of DZNep. The data obtained showed that using both agents causes a change in the expression and activity of several central proteins such as caspase-3, 9, Bcl-2, Erk, and EZH2. Specifically, a reduction of Bcl-2 and an increase of cleaved caspase-3 and caspase-9 especially in cells treated with therapy combination has been observed. Moreover, the combination also inhibited Erkmediated proliferation pathway. This observation has been considered extremely important since it gives the possibility to develop new therapeutic approaches based on the combination of DZNep and daunoblastine to treat T-ALL cells, in particular the subgroup with a much worse prognosis (63).

Along with PRC2, another main factor promoting the development and progression of cancer is represented by the microenvironment and its main responder HIF even for what concerns pediatric tumors. In fact, several studies reported a large number of brain and non-brain tumors in which HIF plays a primary role (39, 67–69). One example is that of metformin, a well-known insulin-sensitizer frequently used for type 2 diabetes therapy, which can be potentially considered as a very interesting drug in oncology also. In fact, the use of metformin has been hypothesized to contrast pediatric sarcomas

such as osteosarcoma, Ewing sarcoma, and rhabdomyosarcoma, representing common pediatric sarcomas, that depend on insulin-like growth factor (IGF) and insulin for pathogenesis and progression. In vitro results showed antiproliferative and chemosensitizing effects, but these results have not been confirmed in *in vivo* experiments related to Ewing sarcoma even if combined with vincristine. It is suggested that hypoxia, present in solid tumors, may be the cause of the discrepancy between in vitro and in vivo effects. In fact, some evidence confirmed that hypoxia can prevent the antitumoral mechanism of action of metformin, that is, activation of AMPK and inhibition of mTOR signaling. Thus, the use of metformin for conventional chemotherapy may be limited to low hypoxic tumors. For this reason, the influence of hypoxia should be always considered when using novel therapies to treat these sarcomas in particular (67).

As frequently demonstrated, the development and progression of a tumor is linked to a large number of molecules and/or to a long sequence of events and modifications leading to the proliferation of cells. The tumor suppressor gene p53 and its family members p63/p73 are the main regulators of the cell cycle and critical determinants of tumorigenesis. Δ Np63 is a splice variant of p63, which lacks the N-terminal transactivation domain and acts as an antagonist of p53-, p63-, and p73- dependent translation, contrasting their tumor suppressor activity. Recent studies of pediatric neuroblastoma and osteosarcoma, demonstrated an increased expression of 1Np63, but it has not been possible to correlate Δ Np63 expression with p53 mutation status (70). For this reason, a possible mechanism leading $\Delta Np63$ itself to favor the cells' malignant transformation with a gain of function independently by any p53 antagonism has been supposed. The overexpression of $\Delta Np63$, independent of p53, increases the secretion of interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-8 (IL-8), leading to the elevated phosphorylation of STAT3 (Tyr-705). This condition leads to the stabilization of the HIF-1a protein, resulting in VEGF secretion. These data suggest that high levels of $\Delta Np63\alpha$ are expressed in pediatric neuroblastoma and osteosarcoma, $\Delta Np63\alpha$ has oncogenic effects in neuroblastoma and osteosarcoma, $\Delta Np63\alpha$ regulates VEGF activity and promotes migration, induces STAT3 phosphorylation, and increases the transcription of interleukin (IL-6 and IL-8), and that $\Delta Np63$ expression is enhanced in osteosarcoma lung metastases (70).

As reported for many kinds of tumor, hypoxia plays a primary role in the development, and progression of the pathology, influencing the specific microenvironment in which tumor cells live. One of the most dangerous but also uncommon tumors with <50 cases reported in literature (71, 72), with a poor cure of approximately 2 months (72) in infancy even with intensive therapy, is congenital glioblastoma (cGBM). The prognosis of this tumor is absolutely poor, but surgery and/or chemotherapy can increase long-term survival (24–33 months) (72) if the infants survive birth and initial surgery or biopsy. Histologically, they are very similar to other GBMs and present themselves with some typical features such as hypercellularity, high ability to infiltrate in the glia with necrosis and/or pseudopalisading necrosis, vascular proliferation, and increased mitotic activity and MIB-1 rate (72, 73). Following these observations, recently, it has been carried in a study on five patients with congenital GBMs in the first 3 months of life. Glioblastomas were situated in the deep gray matter close to the ventricles, and three of the patients had an extension of the tumor parenchyma into the intraventricular space. Four patients survived surgery, but the tumor was completely removed only in one of them. Cytogenetic studies on one patient demonstrated the presence of a diploid population; meanwhile, in two of the three patients, a diploid clone was observed in combination with aneuploidy in a near tetraploid context, while in the other, tetraploidy was seen in combination with diploidy. Furthermore, another interesting observation of this study is the difference in ploidy between this tumor and the small cell astrocytoma/GBM. However, FISH analysis revealed that this tumor type possesses disseminated diploid populations (74). Hierarchical clustering analysis in the three cGBMs has shown a similar gene expression also comparable to other high-grade adult and pediatric gliomas. Comparing cGBMs with pediatric and adult GBMs revealed that only 31 genes were differentially expressed. This can be considered to be, despite the different scale, very similar to the differences observed between pediatric GBMs and adult GBMs. Furthermore, in all three cGBM samples measured, EGFR gene expression was very low, and additionally amplification in EGFR was not observed, a result very similar to pediatric GBMs. Moreover, functional analysis showed that more that 50% of the differing genes had a role in signal transduction, including four receptor tyrosine kinases, and 39% of the differing genes in cGBMS, were involved in glucose metabolism. Thanks to these evidence, it has been possible to differentiate cGBMs from pediatric and adult GBMs. Furthermore, in some cases, cGBMs may have a better prognosis than pediatric or adult GBMs, however, this is strongly dependent on the ability of the infants to survive birth, tolerate surgery, and undergo chemotherapy. Patients who were exposed to surgery with subtotal resection or biopsy also did well, suggesting that it is not necessary to base the therapeutic approach on aggressive surgery probably inducing more morbidity in this population. Since these tumors are characterized by high vascularization and bleeding, patients with cGBMs show a good response to moderately intense chemotherapy regimens without requiring stem cell rescue or dose-dense chemotherapy to obtain a response. In conclusion, this study provides important information on a rare tumor. Unfortunately, such information is limited due to the small sample size, and for this reason, additional evidence is necessary to solidify both the molecular and chemotherapeutic results (75).

HIF-EZH2 CONNECTION

The correlation between HIF-1 and EZH2 is an interesting but yet uncharted aspect of tumor biology. There are few scientific studies connecting hypoxia, HIF-1, and EZH2 during tumor formation or tumor progression. The majority of such studies concord with the idea that hypoxia in general and HIF-1 in particular increase EZH2 expression. In fact, in pancreatic cancer cells, hypoxia stabilizes HIF-1 α that, in turn, increases TWIST expression. TWIST accumulation increases EZH2 expression and tumorigenesis measured as epithelial-mesenchimal transition (EMT) and xenograft growth (76). Similarly, in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), hypoxia and HIF-1 α increases NIPP and EZH2 levels, an effect that then results in augmented invasive and metastatic potential (77). Interestingly, abrogation of NIPP and EZH2 expression, prevented such a malignant phenotype (77).

Another example regarding the correlation between HIF-1 and EZH2 has been revealed in a study conducted some years ago in which the expression of EZH2 in breast tumor initiating cells (BTICs) is enhanced by hypoxia through HIF1α-mediated transactivation, which promotes the expansion of BTICs and cancer progression (78, 79). The enhanced expression of EZH2 in BTICs determines the downregulation of DNA damage repair proteins and the accumulation of genomic abnormalities that mediate deregulated signaling (RAF1-ERK-β-catenin) resulting in BTIC expansion and cancer progression. Moreover, it has been revealed that the cancerpredisposed hypoxic microenvironment may promote BTICs through the upregulation of EZH2 expression. Furthermore, a specific genomic aberration mediated by EZH2-impaired DNA damage response has been linked to the expansion of BTICs and, finally, it has been possible to show a previously unidentified therapeutic effect of the inhibitors of RAF1-ERK signaling (e.g., AZD6244, a specific MEK/ERK inhibitor, already tested in multiple clinical trials) to prevent breast cancer progression by eliminating BTICs with important clinical implications (79).

Interestingly, in colorectal cancer, HIF activation is achieved through the overexpression of the type II Na/Pi co-transporter SLC34A2 causing ROS accumulation. In fact, increased ROS stabilize the HIF-1 α protein inducing EZH2 overexpression. The silencing of SLC34A2 completely prevented EZH2 overexpression, as well as colorectal cell proliferation and chemo-resistance (80). Another mechanism through which HIF-1a can increase EZH2 expression has been demonstrated in prostate cancer cells. In these studies, authors show that HIF-1 α activation during hypoxia is accompanied by a decrease in the expression of miR-101 and the increase of EZH2 (81). In fact, normally, expression of miR-101 inhibits EZH2 production and the invasiveness of prostate cancer cells (81). Upon HIF activation, however, miR-101 levels drop, thereby increasing EZH2 expression and the invasion of prostate tumor cells (81). However, the study of the HIF-EZH2 interplay is complicated by the observation that, in glioblastoma, EZH2 activates HIF-1 α expression by inhibiting the eleven-nineteen lysine-rich leukemia associated factor 2 (EAF2) that, in the prostate, regulates transcriptional elongation of RNA Poll II (82). In fact, EAF2 binds and stabilizes VHL, thereby reducing HIF-1 α levels. Therefore, by decreasing EAF2 expression, EZH2 reduces VHL activity stabilizing HIF-1 α expression, which is an effect that, in turn, increases tumor growth and metabolism favoring glycolysis (82).

In addition, in multiple myeloma, EZH2 inactivation upon phosphorylation is observed during the acquisition of multi drug resistance. Interestingly, in this tumor, EZH2 inactivation is accompanied by increased expression of HIF-1 α and anti-apoptotic genes, an effect that then causes multidrug resistance (83).

Finally, it has been demonstrated that, under hypoxia, HIF- 1α regulates the switch from the tumor suppressive to the oncogenic function of EZH2. This interesting study tries, for the first time, to reconcile these two apparently opposing effects of EZH2 by showing that EZH2 has a tumor suppressive function when part of the PRC2 and a tumor promoting function when bound to Forkhead box M1 (FoxM1) by increasing matrix metalloproteinase expression and tumor cell invasion. Importantly, HIF-1 α regulates the formation of these complexes by shifting EZH2 from PRC2 to FoxM1. Such an effect is achieved through an HIF-1 α -mediated decrease in the expression of the PRC2 complex (84). In conclusion, even if scientific evidence correlates that HIF-1 and EZH2 are accumulating, still there is a need to obtain more additional data before we can completely elucidate and connect the mechanisms involving both HIF-1 and EZH2 in a tumor specific context.

SOMETHING FOR THE FUTURE

During recent years, a large number of scientific studies revealed the importance of therapeutic targeting of PRC2. Such a consideration emerged when it was observed that EZH2 overexpression or mutations increasing EZH2 activity could initiate, promote, or maintain oncogenesis. Some of the molecules that have been already developed such as the small-molecule inhibitors of PRC2 or EZH2 are actually under clinical evaluation for the treatment of some kinds of cancers including germinal-center B-cell lymphomas characterized by EZH2 mutations, which represent about 15–20% of all cases. PRC2, or more precisely its subunit EZH2, has been implicated in the development of various hematopoietic drugs. Furthermore, some drugs that have already been developed could be used to develop more efficient therapeutic approaches and personalized therapies.

Basing on this knowledge, it is important to consider the wide potential of these new generation of drugs not only for the actual but also for future therapeutic strategies. However, caution must be taken when planning to use EZH2 inhibitors and in interpreting the results. In fact, as recently demonstrated, our knowledge of the role of EZH2 as a tumor suppressor or tumor promoter is still too limited, and new players and interlinked pathways must be detailed and studied before we can provide a valid antitumor strategy that uses inhibitors of EZH2. Moreover, the use of such inhibitors will be context-specific according to the role of EZH2 in that specific tumor.

As reported in this review, HIF-1 plays a central role in tumor growth/progression. In fact, numerous *in vitro/in vivo* experiments have demonstrated an inhibition of tumor growth elicited by many HIF-1 inhibitors at the point to activate clinical trials for some of them. In particular, 2ME2 and other derived-molecules are undergoing phase I and II clinical trials in patients with breast, prostate, and ovarian cancer (83, 84). Other drugs such as analogs of GA are employed to treat patients with VHL disease, breast cancer, etc. in phase II clinical trials (85, 86). In addition, bortezomib has been approved by the FDA for multiple myeloma treatment, based on the results from the phase II trials. Finally, EZN-2968 is currently in phase I clinical trials (85, 86).

As reported in this review and depicted in **Figure 3**, both EZH2 and HIF-1 play major roles in the regulation of cellular activities, and interference in their normal functions may alter the cellular homeostasis resulting in the development of

REFERENCES

- Jones PA, Baylin SB. The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. Nat Rev Genet. (2002) 3:415–28. doi: 10.1038/nrg816
- Lind MI, Spagopoulou F. Evolutionary consequences of epigenetic inheritance. *Heredity* (2018) 121:205–9. doi: 10.1038/s41437-018-0113-y
- Schuettengruber B, Chourrout D, Vervoort M, Leblanc B, Cavalli G. Genome regulation by polycomb and trithorax proteins. *Cell* (2007) 128:735–45. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.009
- Chase A, Cross NC. Aberrations of EZH2 in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. (2011) 17:2613–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2156
- Paget S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. *The Lancet* (1889) 133:571-573. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)49915-0
- Semenza GL. Regulation of oxygen homeostasis by hypoxiainducible Factor 1. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2011) 1813:1263–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.08.006
- 7. Semenza GL. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1) Pathway. *Sci STKE*. (2007) 2007:cm8. doi: 10.1126/stke.4072007cm8
- Kim JW, Gao P, Liu YC, Semenza GL, Dang CV. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and dysregulated c-Myc cooperatively induce vascular endothelial growth factor and metabolic switches hexokinase 2 and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2007) 27:7381–93. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00440-07
- Semenza GL. Involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in human cancer. Intern Med. (2002) 41:79–83. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.41.79
- Tan JZ, Yan Y, Wang XX, Jiang Y, Xu HE. EZH2: biology, disease, and structure-based drug discovery. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2014) 35:161–74. doi: 10.1038/aps.2013.161
- 11. Kim KH, Roberts CW. Targeting EZH2 in cancer. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:128–34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4036
- Margueron R, Reinberg D. The Polycomb complex PRC2 and its mark in life. Nature. (2011) 469:343–9. doi: 10.1038/nature09784
- Knutson SK, Wigle TJ, Warholic NM, Sneeringer CJ, Allain CJ, Klaus CR, et al. A selective inhibitor of EZH2 blocks H3K27 methylation and kills mutant lymphoma cells. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2012) 8:890–6. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1084
- Konze KD, Ma A, Li F, Barsyte-Lovejoy D, Parton T, Macnevin CJ, et al. An orally bioavailable chemical probe of the Lysine Methyltransferases EZH2 and EZH1. ACS Chem Biol. (2013) 8:1324–34. doi: 10.1021/cb40 0133j
- McCabe MT, Graves AP, Ganji G, Diaz E, Halsey WS, Jiang Y, et al. Mutation of A677 in histone methyltransferase EZH2 in human B-cell lymphoma promotes hypertrimethylation of histone H3 on lysine 27 (H3K27). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:2989–94. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116418109
- Majer CR, Jin L, Scott MP, Knutson SK, Kuntz KW, Keilhack H, et al. A687V EZH2 is a gain-of-function mutation found in lymphoma patients. *FEBS Lett.* (2012) 586:3448–51. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2012.07.066
- Wilson BG, Wang X, Shen X, McKenna ES, Lemieux ME, Cho YJ, et al. Epigenetic antagonism between polycomb and SWI/SNF complexes during oncogenic transformation. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 18:316–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.09.006.

different pathologies such as cancer. Even if little is known, new experiments that aim to unravel the connection between EZH2 and HIF may lay the groundwork for a better comprehension of the pathologic molecular mechanisms interlinking these two molecular players and will provide the possibility to develop, day by day, an increasing number of specific drugs to use in personalized therapies against cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Kia SK, Gorski MM, Giannakopoulos S, Verrijzer CP. SWI/SNF mediates polycomb eviction and epigenetic reprogramming of the INK4b-ARF-INK4a locus. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2008) 28:3457–64. doi: 10.1128/MCB.02019-07
- 19. Tafani M, Pucci B, Russo A, Schito L, Pellegrini L, Perrone GA, et al. Modulators of HIF1 α and NFkB in cancer treatment: is it a rational approach for controlling malignant progression? *Front Pharmacol.* (2013) 4:13. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00013
- Semenza GL. HIF-1 mediates metabolic responses to intratumoral hypoxia and oncogenic mutations. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:3664–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI67230
- Semenza GL. Evaluation of HIF-1 inhibitors as anticancer agents. Drug Discov Today (2007) 12:853–9. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2007.08.006
- Srinivas V, Zhu X, Salceda S, Nakamura R, Caro J. Hypoxia-inducible factor la (HIF-la) is a non-hemeiron protein. Implications for oxygen sensing. *J Biol Chem.* (1998) 273:18019–22.
- 23. Nagle DG, Zhou YD. Natural product-based inhibitors of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1). *Curr Drug Targets* (2006) 7:355–69.
- Gaddipati JP, Madhavan S, Sidhu GS, Singh AK, Seth P, Maheshwari RK. Picroliv – a natural product protects cells and regulates the gene expression during hypoxia/reoxygenation. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (1999) 194:271–81.
- Chander R, Kapoor NK, Dhawan BN. Picroliv, picroside-I and kutkoside from Picrorhiza kurrooa are scavengers of superoxide anions. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (1992) 44:180–3.
- Minet E, Mottet D, Michel G, Roland I, Raes M, Remacle J, et al. Hypoxiainduced activation of HIF-1: role of HIF-1alpha-Hsp90 interaction. *FEBS Lett.* (1999) 460:251–6.
- Isaacs JS, Jung YJ, Mimnaugh EG, Martinez A, Cuttitta F, Neckers LM. Hsp90 regulates a von Hippel Lindau-independent hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha-degradative pathway. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:29936–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204733200
- Choi YJ, Choi H, Cho CH, Park JW. Red ginseng deregulates hypoxiainduced genes by dissociating the HIF-1 dimer. *J Nat Med.* (2011) 65:344–52. doi: 10.1007/s11418-010-0504-8
- Dunn GP, Rinne ML, Wykosky J, Genovese G, Quayle SN, Dunn IF, et al. Emerging insights into the molecular and cellular basis of glioblastoma. *Genes Dev.* (2012) 26:756–84. doi: 10.1101/gad.187922.112
- Khuong-Quang DA, Buczkowicz P, Rakopoulos P, Liu XY, Fontebasso AM, Bouffet E, et al. K27M mutation in histone H3.3 defines clinically and biologically distinct subgroups of pediatricdiffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 124:439–47. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0998-0
- Schwartzentruber J, Korshunov A, Liu XY, Jones DT, Pfaff E, Jacob K, et al. Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. *Nature* (2012) 482:226–31. doi: 10.1038/nature10833
- Sturm D, Witt H, Hovestadt V, Khuong-Quang DA, Jones DT, Konermann C, et al. Hotspot mutations in H3F3A and IDH1 define distinct epigenetic and biological subgroups of glioblastoma. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22:425–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.024

- 33. Wu G, Broniscer A, McEachron TA, Lu C, Paugh BS, Becksfort J, et al. St. Jude children's research hospital-washington university pediatric cancer genome project. Somatic histone H3 alterations in pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas and non-brainstem glioblastomas. *Nat Genet.* (2012) 44:251–3. doi: 10.1038/ng.1102
- Vaupel P, Mayer A. Hypoxia in cancer: significance and impact on clinical outcome. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* (2007) 26:225–39. doi: 10.1007/s10555-007-9055-1
- 35. Korkolopoulou P, Patsouris E, Konstantinidou AE, Pavlopoulos PM, Kavantzas N, Boviatsis E, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha/vascular endothelial growth factor axis in astrocytomas. Associations with microvessel morphometry, proliferation and prognosis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2004) 30:267–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2003.0 0535.x
- 36. Søndergaard KL, Hilton DA, Penney M, Ollerenshaw M, Demaine AG. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor lalpha in tumours of patients with glioblastoma. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2002) 28:210–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2990.2002.00391.x
- 37. Mashiko R, Takano S, Ishikawa E, Yamamoto T, Nakai K, Matsumura A. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α expression is a prognostic biomarker in patients with astrocytic tumors associated with necrosis on MR image. J Neurooncol. (2011) 102:43–50. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0292-8
- Birner P, Piribauer M, Fischer I, Gatterbauer B, Marosi C, Ambros PF, et al. Vascular patterns in glioblastoma influence clinical outcome and associate with variable expression of angiogenic proteins: evidence for distinct angiogenic subtypes. *Brain Pathol.* (2003) 13:133–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2003.tb00013.x
- Zagzag D, Zhong H, Scalzitti JM, Laughner E, Simons JW, Semenza GL. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in brain tumors: association with angiogenesis, invasion, and progression. *Cancer* (2000) 88:2606–18. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20000601)88:11<2606::AID-CNCR25>3.0.CO;2-W
- 40. Flynn JR, Wang L, Gillespie DL, Stoddard GJ, Reid JK, Owens J, et al. Hypoxia-regulated protein expression, patient characteristics, and preoperative imaging as predictors of survival in adults with glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer* (2008) 113:1032–42. doi: 10.1002/cncr. 23678
- 41. Yoo H, Sohn S, Nam BH, Min HS, Jung E, Shin SH, et al. The expressions of carbonic anhydrase 9 and vascular endothelial growth factor in astrocytic tumors predict a poor prognosis. *Int J Mol Med.* (2010) 26:3–9. doi: 10.3892/ijmm_00000427
- Marcu LG, Harriss-Phillips WM, Filip SM. Hypoxia in head and neck cancer in theory and practice: a PET-based imaging approach. *Comput Math Methods Med.* (2014) 2014:624642. doi: 10.1155/2014/624642
- MacDonald TJ, Aguilera D, Kramm CM. Treatment of high-grade glioma in children and adolescents. *Neuro Oncol.* (2011) 13:1049–58. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nor092
- Jones C, Baker SJ. Unique genetic and epigenetic mechanisms driving paediatric diffuse high grade glioma. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:651–661. doi: 10.1038/nrc3811
- 45. Gilbertson RJ, Hill DA, Hernan R, Kocak M, Geyer R, Olson J, et al. ERBB1 is amplified and overexpressed in high-grade diffusely infiltrative pediatric brain stem glioma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2003) 9(10 Pt 1):3620–4.
- Fangusaro J. Pediatric high grade glioma: a review and update on tumor clinical characteristics and biology. *Front Oncol.* (2012) 2:105. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00105
- Cage TA, Mueller S, Haas-Kogan D, Gupta N. High-grade gliomas in children. Neurosurg Clin N Am. (2012) 23:515–23. doi: 10.1016/j.nec.2012.04.007
- Cohen KJ, Pollack IF, Zhou T, Buxton A, Holmes EJ, Burger PC, et al. Temozolomide in the treatment of high-grade gliomas in children: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Neuro Oncol.* (2011) 13:317–23. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noq191
- 49. Glod J, Rahme GJ, Kaur H, H Raabe E, Hwang EI, Israel MA. Pediatric brain tumors: current knowledge and therapeutic opportunities. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* (2016) 38:249–60. doi: 10.1097/MPH. 000000000000551
- Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Pfister SM, Taylor MD. The clinical implications of medulloblastoma subgroups. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2012) 8:340–51. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.78

- Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones DT, Schlanstein M, Northcott PA, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international metaanalysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:473–84. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0958-8
- Parsons DW, Li M, Zhang X, Jones S, Leary RJ, Lin JC, et al. The genetic landscape of the childhood cancer medulloblastoma. *Science* (2011) 331:435– 9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198056
- Robinson G, Parker M, Kranenburg TA, Lu C, Chen X, Ding L, et al. Novel mutations target distinct subgroups of medulloblastoma. *Nature* (2012) 488:43–8. doi: 10.1038/nature11213
- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Remke M, Cho YJ, Clifford SC, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:465–72. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0922-z
- Dubuc AM, Mack S, Unterberger A, Northcott PA, Taylor MD. The epigenetics of brain tumors. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2012) 863:139–53. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-612-8_8
- Dubuc AM, Remke M, Korshunov A, Northcott PA, Zhan SH, Mendez-Lago M, et al. Aberrant patterns of H3K4 and H3K27 histone lysine methylation occur across subgroups in medulloblastoma. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2013) 125:373–84. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-1070-9
- Northcott PA, Jones DT, Kool M, Robinson GW, Gilbertson RJ, Cho YJ, et al. Medulloblastomics: the end of the beginning. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:818–34. doi: 10.1038/nrc3410
- Vo BT, Li C, Morgan MA, Theurillat I, Finkelstein D, Wright S, et al. Inactivation of Ezh2 upregulates Gfi1 and drives aggressive Myc-driven group 3 medulloblastoma. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 18:2907–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.073
- Zhang J, Ding L, Holmfeldt L, Wu G, Heatley SL, Payne-Turner D, et al. The genetic basis of early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nature* (2012) 481:157–63. doi: 10.1038/nature10725
- 60. Danis E, Yamauchi T, Echanique K, Zhang X, Haladyna JN, Riedel SS, et al. Ezh2 Controls an early hematopoietic program and growth and survival signaling in early T cell precursor acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 14:1953–65. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016. 01.064
- Priego N, Zhu L, Monteiro C, Mulders M, Wasilewski D, Bindeman W, et al. STAT3 labels a subpopulation of reactive astrocytes required for brain metastasis. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1024–35. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0044-4
- Astolfi A, Vendemini F, Urbini M, Melchionda F, Masetti R, Franzoni M, et al. MYCN is a novel oncogenic target in pediatric T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncotarget (2014) 5:120–30. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1337
- Zhou J, Bi C, Cheong LL, Mahara S, Liu SC, Tay KG, et al. The histone methyltransferase inhibitor, DZNep, up-regulates TXNIP, increases ROS production, and targets leukemia cells in AML. *Blood* (2011) 118:2830–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294827
- 64. D'Angelo V, Iannotta A, Ramaglia M, Lombardi A, Zarone MR, Desiderio V, et al. EZH2 is increased in paediatric T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and is a suitable molecular target in combination treatment approaches. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 34:83. doi: 10.1186/s13046-015-0191-0
- 65. Liu X, Chen X, Yu X, Tao Y, Bode AM, Dong Z, et al. Regulation of microRNAs by epigenetics and their interplay involved in cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2013) 32:96. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-96
- Yamaguchi H, Hung MC. Regulation and role of EZH2 in Cancer. *Cancer Res Treat*. (2014) 46:209–22. doi: 10.4143/crt.2014.46.3.209
- 67. Garofalo C, Capristo M, Manara MC, Mancarella C, Landuzzi L, Belfiore A, et al. Metformin as an adjuvant drug against pediatric sarcomas: hypoxia limits therapeutic effects of the drug. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e83832. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083832
- El-Naggar AM, Veinotte CJ, Cheng H, Grunewald TG, Negri GL, Somasekharan SP, et al. Translational activation of HIF1α by YB-1 promotes sarcoma metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27:682–97. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.04.003
- Knowles HJ, Schaefer KL, Dirksen U, Athanasou NA. Hypoxia and hypoglycaemia in Ewing's sarcoma and osteosarcoma: regulation and phenotypic effects of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor. *BMC Cancer* (2010) 10:372. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-372

- Bid HK, Roberts RD, Cam M, Audino A, Kurmasheva RT, Lin J, et al. ΔNp63 promotes pediatric neuroblastoma and osteosarcoma by regulating tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:320–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0894
- Hou LC, Bababeygy SR, Sarkissian V, Fisher PG, Vogel H, Barnes P, et al. Congenital glioblastoma multiforme: case report and review of the literature. *Pediatr Neurosurg.* (2008) 44:304–12. doi: 10.1159/000134922
- Seker A, Ozek MM. Congenital glioblastoma multiforme. Case report and review of the literature. J Neurosurg. (2006) 105(Suppl.6):473–9. doi: 10.3171/ped.2006.105.6.473
- Winters JL, Wilson D, Davis DG. Congenital glioblastoma multiforme: a report of three cases and a review of the literature. J Neurol Sci. (2001) 188:13–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(01)00538-X
- Perry A, Aldape KD, George DH, Burger PC. Small cell astrocytoma: an aggressive variant that is clinicopathologically and genetically distinct from anaplastic oligodendroglioma. *Cancer* (2004) 101:2318–26. doi: 10.1002/cncr.20625
- Macy ME, Birks DK, Barton VN, Chan MH, Donson AM, Kleinschmidt-Demasters BK, et al. Clinical and molecular characteristics of congenital glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* (2012) 14:931–41. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nos125
- Chen S, Chen JZ, Zhang JQ, Chen HX, Yan ML, Huang L, et al. Hypoxia induces TWIST-activated epithelial-mesenchymal transition and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells in vitro and in nude mice. *Cancer Lett.* (2016) 383:73–84. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.09.027
- 77. Huang Y, Tao Y, Hu K, Lin F, Li X, Feng T, et al. Hypoxiainduced NIPP1 activation enhances metastatic potential and predicts poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Tumour Biol.* (2016) 37:14903–14. doi: 10.1007/s13277-016-5392-4
- Chang CJ, Hung MC. The role of EZH2 in tumour progression. Br J Cancer. (2012) 106:243–7. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.551
- Chang CJ, Yang JY, Xia W, Chen CT, Xie X, Chao CH, et al. EZH2 promotes expansion of breast tumor initiating cells through activation of RAF1-β-catenin signaling. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 19:86–100. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.10.035
- Li X, Xing J, Wang H, Yu E. The SLC34A2-ROS-HIF-1-induced upregulation of EZH2 expression promotes proliferation and chemo-resistance

to apoptosis in colorectal cancer. *Biosci Rep.* (2018) BSR20180268. doi: 10.1042/BSR20180268

- Cao P, Deng Z, Wan M, Huang W, Cramer SD, Xu J, et al. MicroRNA-101 negatively regulates Ezh2 and its expression is modulated by androgen receptor and HIF-1alpha/HIF-1beta. *Mol Cancer* (2010) 9:108. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-108
- Pang B, Zheng XR, Tian JX, Gao TH, Gu GY, Zhang R, et al. EZH2 promotes metabolic reprogramming in glioblastomas through epigenetic repression of EAF2-HIF1α signaling. Oncotarget (2016) 7:45134–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9761
- Kikuchi J, Koyama D, Wada T, Izumi T, Hofgaard PO, Bogen B, et al. Phosphorylation-mediated EZH2 inactivation promotes drug resistance in multiple myeloma. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:4375–90. doi: 10.1172/JCI 80325
- Mahara S, Lee PL, Feng M, Tergaonkar V, Chng WJ, Yu Q. HIFI-α activation underlies a functional switch in the paradoxical role of Ezh2/PRC2 in breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E3735-44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.16020 79113
- Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factors: mediators of cancer progression and targets for cancer therapy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2012) 33:207–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2012.01.005
- Xia Y, Choi HK, Lee K. Recent advances in hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 inhibitors. *Eur J Med Chem.* (2012) 49:24–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2012.01.033

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Papale, Ferretti, Battaglia, Bellavia, Mai and Tafani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Application of Small Epigenetic Modulators in Pediatric Medulloblastoma

Clemens Zwergel^{1†}, Annalisa Romanelli^{1†}, Giulia Stazi¹, Zein Mersini Besharat², Giuseppina Catanzaro², Marco Tafani², Sergio Valente¹ and Antonello Mai^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Drug Chemistry and Technologies, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³ Istituto Pasteur-Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Medulloblastoma is one of the most frequent among pediatric brain tumors, and it has been classified in various subgroups. Some of them already benefit from quite good therapeutic options, whereas others urgently need novel therapeutic approaches. Epigenetic modulators have long been studied in various types of cancer. Within this review, we summarize the main preclinical studies regarding epigenetic targets (such as HDAC, SIRT, BET, EZH2, G9a, LSD1, and DNMT) inhibitors in medulloblastoma. Furthermore, we shed light on the increasing number of applications of drug combinations as well as hybrid compounds involving epigenetic mechanisms. Nevertheless, in the studies published so far, mainly un-specific or old modulators have been used, and the PKs (brain permeability) have not been well-evaluated. Thus, these findings should be considered as a starting point for further improvement and not as a final result.

Keywords: brain cancer, medulloblastoma, epigenetic modulators, targeted therapy, innovative therapy concepts

INTRODUCTION

Medulloblastoma (MB) is one of the most frequent and extensively studied pediatric brain tumors. According to the WHO-classification of central nervous system tumors, four main genetically defined subgroups have been described: WNT, SHH, group 3, and group 4. Each of these groups has its unique expression signature and clinical outcome (1–4). Guerreiro Stucklin et al. recently well-summarized the differences in biological and clinical behavior between subgroups (3). Because of the heterogeneity of the various groups of MB, a targeted and efficient therapy, specifically for young patients, is very challenging (2). Epigenetic modulators have long been studied in various types of cancers, and some of them have been approved mainly for the treatment of hematological malignancies (5). These compounds are a particularly appealing therapy approach because they do not alter irreversibly the genetic code but act on reversible epigenetic marks, with a lower risk of side effects. In MB, a malignant brain tumor, the main challenge relies on the fact that whatever small molecule used as a therapeutic agent has to be able to cross the blood-brain barrier (6). The molecular epigenetic deregulation in MB has been recently reviewed, shedding light onto the pathways involved in the disease, on their biological importance as well as on the possible targets to hit (7, 8).

In this review we would like to highlight the latest preclinical and clinical efforts regarding the application of epigenetic modulators in MB. An overview of the presented compounds, their targets and effects in MB can be found in **Table 1**.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Carai, Bambino Gesù Ospedale Pediatrico (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Akane Kawamura, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Maria Berdasco, Biomedical Research Institute of Bellvitge, Spain

*Correspondence:

Antonello Mai antonello.mai@uniroma1.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 23 July 2018 Accepted: 12 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Zwergel C, Romanelli A, Stazi G, Besharat ZM, Catanzaro G, Tafani M, Valente S and Mai A (2018) Application of Small Epigenetic Modulators in Pediatric Medulloblastoma. Front. Pediatr. 6:370. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00370

43

SINGLE EPIGENETIC MODULATORS IN MEDULLOBLASTOMA

Histone (De)acetylation Modifiers/Readers HDAC Inhibitors (HDACi)

HDACi are among the oldest and deeply studied class of epigenetic modulators. In time, the most widely studied HDACi have not been isoform selective, but they were targeting more than one HDAC, specially class I and/or IIa/b HDACs. Nevertheless, selective isoform-specific modulators are more and more developed (9). Vorinostat, romidepsin, and belinostat are FDA-approved drugs to treat rare T-cell lymphomas by re-expressing silenced tumor suppressor genes. Currently, many preclinical studies are evaluating the effects of these inhibitors on MB (8). Surprisingly, relatively few clinical studies have been conducted with these validated inhibitors in MB, and most of them are closed or finished (10).

Older studies described valproic acid (VPA) as a potential treatment in various MB cell lines (11, 12), nevertheless this compound seems no longer under evaluation as newer studies cannot be found. Parthenolide, an HDAC1i, has been shown to be active in DAOY and D283med MB cancer stem cells, which aberrantly overexpress HDAC1 (13). In the same study also other HDACi, such as vorinostat, entinostat, or romidepsin, were tested resulting less active. However, the authors of this study noticed that very low concentrations of the HDACi resulted in an increase, rather than a decrease, in proliferative activity (13).

Recently, another well-known pan-HDACi, panobinostat, was reported to suppress leptomeningeal seeding, a rare complication in MB spreading, causing brain and spinal cord inflammation in a mouse model (14).

Milde et al. developed a Group 3 MB HD-MB03 cell line and xenograft model with high HDAC expression levels and sensitivity to HDACi, such as vorinostat and panobinostat (15).

A meaningful example of the involvement of HDACi in the SHH signaling pathway has been given by Canettieri et al. They showed that the HDAC1/2 selective inhibitors HDiA and HDiB blocked GL11 and GL12 activity through their acetylation, and SHH MB cell growth in several SHH MB cell lines (16). Despite these interesting results, no follow up studies have been published so far.

The natural compound curcumin, through HDAC inhibition and HDAC4 level depletion, reduced tumor growth and significantly increased survival in the Smo/Smo transgenic MB mouse model displaying HDAC4 overexpression. However, due to the pleiotropism displayed by curcumin, these positive results might not only be ascribed to HDAC4 inhibition but also to other off-target effects (17).

In 2015, Ecker et al. used the class IIa-selective HDACi MAZ1863 and MAZ1866 in Group 3 MB cancer cells and compared them to vorinostat (pan-HDACi) and to the class I specific inhibitor MS-275 (entinostat). MAZ1863 and MAZ1866 had only very weak effects on MYC-MB cells, whereas vorinostat and entinostat efficiently reduced the metabolic activity in MYC-MB cells. These results give precious hints on the development of novel therapies with selective HDACi in MYC- dependent MB (10).

Interestingly, when tested in the MED8A MB cell line, the novel non-toxic HDAC6/8/10 inhibitor TH34 modestly impaired colony growth and specifically induced caspase-dependent programmed cell death in a dose-dependent manner (18). TH34 warrants deeper evaluation and could be an interesting candidate for *in vivo* studies.

To sum up, the well-established and approved HDACi have so far failed to demonstrate a significant antitumoral effect in solid malignancies in preclinical and clinical settings (19), in contrast to leukemias and lymphomas. The failure of translating preclinical results into clinical success has been extensively discussed (20). Most likely, insufficient pharmacological study design regarding the clinical situation such as compound concentrations and their pharmacokinetic as well as dynamic properties are the primarily suspected factors (21).

SIRT Inhibitors

Sirtuins (SIRTs), also known as class III HDACs, are NAD⁺ dependent deacetylases considered as a separate family of enzymes including seven different isoforms (hSIRT1-7). So far, there is very little literature evidence about the use of SIRT modulators in MB (22). In 2013, Ma et al. demonstrated that SIRT1 was overexpressed in human MB cells. In their work, they showed that lowered SIRT1 expression levels by siRNA or SIRT1 pharmacological inhibition with nicotinamide resulted in growth arrest and apoptosis in MB cells (23).

In contrast, Tiberi and coworkers found that the downregulation of the BLC6/BCOR/SIRT1 complex, a potent repressor of the SHH pathway, led to MB growth in human cells and in a mouse model. They demonstrated that SIRT1 is necessary for the BCL6 function (24), thus SIRT1 inhibition might be a double-edged sword in MB treatment. Therefore, researchers should proceed with caution for SIRT1 modulation in MB. The different results reported by these research groups well-summarize the problem of the context-dependent function of epigenetic targets (in this case SIRT1) in different experimental settings and MB subgroups.

BET Inhibitors (BETi)

The BET (Bromodomain and Extra-Terminal domain) proteins BRD2, BRD3, and BRD4, have been extensively studied in brain tumors including MB (25). These proteins are epigenetic readers as they recognize acetyl-lysine residues and acetylated chromatin, which usually mark active enhancers, thus they are important mediators of gene activation. High levels of H3K27Ac mark super-enhancers regulate key genes in cancer growth, and are sensitive to BET inhibition (26).

The BETi JQ-1 is one of the most studied in the literature. Tang et al. demonstrated that reduced expression of BRD4 via RNAi or its pharmacologic inhibition by JQ-1 resulted in decreased proliferation and tumor growth in SHH MB, reducing the expression of the glioma-associated oncogenes GLI1 and GLI2 (27). The same compound also led to positive results in Group 3 MB, as MYC-driven MBs are sensitive to BETi. Henssen et al. described JQ-1 to be active in a human Group 3 MB xenograft model via MYC downregulation, as it reduced tumor volume and

TABLE 1 | Summary of the epigenetic modulators and combinations active in MB.

Compound	Structure	Target	Results	Combination
Suberoylanilide- hydroxamic acid, vorinostat	С N H O N O H	HDACs	Active in DAOY and D283med MB cancer stem cells (13) Active in HD-MB03 cell line and xenograft model (15) Efficiently reduced the metabolic activity in MYC-MB cells (10).	Synergistic effect in D283med cells, but not in DAOY with decitabine (41). Newer study for both cell lines (13). Synergistic effects of VPA and vorinostat with irradiation in MB (42). The aurora kinase inhibitor MLN8237 had additive inhibitior effects on MB group 3 cell lines (43)
Romidepsin		HDAC1/2	Active in DAOY and D283med MB cancer stem cells (13)	-
Panobinostat	HN HN HN H	HDACs	Suppressed leptomenigeal seeing in a MB mouse model (14) Active in HD-MB03 cell line and xenograft model (15)	-
Valproic acid, VPA	0, OH	Class I/IIa HDACs	Potential treatment in various MB cell lines (11, 12)	Synergistic effects of VPA and vorinostat with irradiation in MB (42)
Parthenolide		HDAC1	Active in DAOY and D283med MB cancer stem cells (13)	-
MS-275, entinostat	$ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ H \\ H \\ 0 \\ H \\ H$	Class I HDACs	Active in DAOY and D283med MB cancer stem cells (13) Efficiently reduced the metabolic activity in MYC-MB cells. (10)	-
HDiA	N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	HDAC1/2	Block GLI1/2 activities and SHH MB growth (16)	-

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Compound	Structure	Target	Results	Combination
HDIB		HDAC1/2	Block GLI1/2 activities and SHH MB growth (16)	-
Curcurmin	о но но но он	HDACs	Increased survival in the Smo/Smo transgenic MB mouse model (17)	-
MAZ1863	HO	Class IIa HDACs	Only very weak effects on MYC-MB cells (10)	-
MAZ1866	O H H H	Class IIa HDACs	Only very weak effects on MYC-MB cells (10)	-
TH34	И ПО В ОТОВИТИИ ОН	HDAC 6/8/10	Induced caspase-dependent programmed cell death in various MB cell lines (18)	-
Nicotinamide		SIRTs	SIRT1 inhibition might be a double edge sword in MB treatment (24)	-
JQ-1		BETs	Decreased proliferation and tumor growth in SHH MB via reducing the expression of. GLI1 and GLI2 (27) Active in a human group 3 MB xenograft model via MYC downregulation (28–30)	Effective combination with the CDK inhibitor milciclib, as both regulate the MYC function in MB via different actions, prolonging survival in a MB animal model (32)
I-BET151	N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	BETs	Inhibition of the SHH pathway in SHH-MB cells as well as in a MB mouse model (31)	-

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Compound	Structure	Target	Results	Combination
Decitabine		DNMTs	Found to be quite inactive in DAOY (13, 38) and UW228 MB cells (38) as well, differently D283med cells were quite sensitive (13)	Synergistic effect in D283med cells, but not in DAOY with decitabine (41). Newer study for both cell lines (13). Triple combination of decitabine/irradiation and abacavir turned out to work effectively in various MB cell lines (41) Phenylbutyrate in combination with decitabine and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor Gleevec induced apoptosis in DAOY and UW228 3 MB cell lines (38).
Zebularine		DNMTs	Inhibits the expression of SHH pathway components, such as SMO and GLI1, in DAOY and ONS-76 MB (39)	DNMTi zebularine has been tested in combination with vincristine in SHH MB cells, displaying a synergistic effect (39)
MC2840 (compound 2)	HN HN N HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN HN	DNMTs	Impaired MB-SC growth led to high MB-SC differentiation rates (40)	-
MC3343 (compound 5)	$HN \rightarrow H \rightarrow H \rightarrow H \rightarrow H^{2}$	DNMTs	Significantly impaired the MB-SC growth rate (40)	-
3- Deazaneplanocin A, DZNep		EZH2	Indirect and rather unspecific EZH2i in MB (33)	-
MC3629	N NH ONH	EZH2	Reduces in a MB xenografted mice the tumor volume, stemness and cell proliferation and lastly induces apoptosis (34)	-

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Compound	Structure	Target	Results	Combination
UNC0638		G9a	Reduces DAOY proliferation via controlling the USP37 expression mediated by G9a (35)	-
SP2509		LSD1	Disruptor of the CoREST-LSD1 complex active in various MB cell lines (36)	-
4SC-202	$N = \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\$	HDAC1/2/3 and LSD1	-	Active in various MB cell lines (36)
Sodium Phenylbutyrate	O Na ⁺	HDACs	-	Phenylbutyrate in combination with decitabine and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib induced apoptosis in DAOY and UW228 3 MB cell lines (38)
NL-103		HDAC/HH	-	NL-103 is a dual inhibitor of the HDACs and HH pathway with potential activity in MB (44)

prolonged survival rates (28). Similar results, corroborating the potential of JQ-1 in downregulating MYC expression, have been obtained by two other independent research groups (29, 30). Furthermore, JQ-1 has been demonstrated to block stem cell-associated signaling and was able to induce cell senescence in a MYC-MB cellular model as well as in xenograft mice (30).

Another BETi, namely I-BET151, has been shown to provide biological effects similar to JQ-1 in SHH MB. More precisely, this compound reduced the BRD4 binding to the GLI1 gene locus, thus resulting in the inhibition of the SHH pathway in SHH MB cells as well as in a MB mouse model (31).

Currently, JQ-1 is not in clinical trials for MB treatment due to its poor pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties (32). It is quite surprising that other BETi similar to JQ-1, such as RG6146 (TEN-010) or OTX105, which are currently evaluated in clinical trials for other cancer types [ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01987362, NCT02259114], have never been tested in MB even in preclinical studies. Nevertheless, BETi represent a promising strategy to follow the development of novel MB therapies.

Histone (De)methylation Modifiers EZH2 Inhibitors (EZH2i)

Enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2) is a histone lysine Nmethyltransferase involved in the PRC2 (Polycomb Repressive Complex 2), which has been widely studied in cancer including MB. One of the first published studies on MB used the rather toxic DZNep, an inhibitor of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase, as an indirect and quite unspecific EZH2i (33). Recently, our research group published the pyrazole compound MC3629 as a simplified analog of the two different SAMcompetitive EZH2i EPZ005687 and GSK2816126. This particular compound was not only active in human SHH MB cancer cell models, where it significantly impaired H3K27me3 and PCNA protein levels leading to apoptosis, detected as an increased level of cleaved caspase 3, but also, to our knowledge for the first time, in a SHH MB murine model. Importantly, MC3629 better penetrated the blood-brain barrier in vitro and in vivo, when compared to the parent compound GSK2816126. This might explain at least in part why MC3629, despite its lower in vitro potency, efficiently reduced H3K27me3 levels in brain and cerebellum of MB xenografted mice leading to decreased tumor volume, reduced stemness and cell proliferation ability, and, lastly, induction of apoptosis (34). These encouraging results confirm the importance of EZH2 in MB.

G9a Inhibitors

The deubiquitylase USP37 was identified as a target of REST, one of the main regulatory complexes in brain development and neurogenesis with aberrant overexpression in MB (5). Dobson et al. showed that the downregulated USP37 in human MB could be re-expressed after G9a inhibition. In more details, G9a catalyzes mono- and di-methylation of histone H3K9, and its histone methyltransferase activity correlated with gene repression of USP37 in MB. The USP37 promoter in MB possesses a significant level of histone H3K9 trimethylation, which was considerably diminished upon treatment of the DAOY cells with the G9a inhibitor UNC0638. This has been the first and unique pivotal study highlighting the importance of G9a inhibition, leading to arrest of MB cell proliferation via control of the USP37 expression (35). However, this is only the first step toward a G9a-based MB treatment, as this target needs to be further validated not only in other MB models but also in opportune *in vivo* studies.

LSD1 Inhibitors (LSD1i)

Lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1), also known as KDM1A, has been the first of several protein lysine demethylases to be discovered. The modulation of this enzyme has also been studied in MB. Recently, it has been shown that SP2509 inhibited the enzymatic activity of LSD1 rather than acting as a protein-protein disruptor of the CoREST-LSD1 complex. SP2509 was able to block the growth of various human MB cell lines (DAOY, D283med, and ONS-76) through direct LSD1 inhibition (36). This study has a pivotal role since it could be used as a starting point for deeper mechanistic studies as well as for a novel therapeutic approach in MB.

DNMT Inhibitors (DNMTi)

DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) are a family of enzymes that catalyze the transfer of a methyl group to the C5-cytosine residue of DNA. Aberration of DNA methylation leads to a wide variety of diseases, including cancer. DNMTi are one of the most studied epigenetic modulators after HDACi in cancer. The nucleoside analogs azacytidine and decitabine have been approved by FDA mainly in hematological malignancies (37). These compounds inhibit DNMTs after being incorporated into the DNA, leading to reduced methylation levels often resulting in enhanced tumor suppressor gene expression and finally in increased apoptosis (37). Decitabine was found to be quite inactive in DAOY (13, 38) and UW228 MB cells (38); differently, D283med cells seemed to be quite sensitive to the treatment with this inhibitor (13). Another nucleoside inhibitor, zebularine, inhibits the expression of SHH pathway components, such as SMO and GLI1 in DAOY and ONS-76 MB cell lines, leading to inhibition of their proliferation and to increase of apoptosis rates (39). The main problems of these nucleoside analogs are their poor chemical stability and high toxicity (37). Relatively few non-nucleoside inhibitors are known to date. One of them, developed in our research group has also been tested in MB. Compound 5 and compound 2, both structural isomer of the SGI-1027, have been tested for the first time as non-nucleoside inhibitors in mouse MB stem cells (MB-SC), expressing high levels of DNMT1. Compound 5 arrested the cell clonogenic activity impairing MB-SC growth rate, evaluated by quantification of PCNA levels, and induced cell adhesion and differentiation, evaluated by β III-tubulin. In these assays, compound 5 displayed the highest growth arrest, while compound 2 induced higher differentiation already after treatment with lower doses (40). Both compounds are interesting tools for further *in vivo* validation, but also a starting point for further drug development.

COMBINATIONS CONTAINING AT LEAST ONE EPIGENETIC MODULATOR AND HYBRID COMPOUNDS

Chemoresistance is one of the key reasons why drug combinations are applied in therapy. Targeting a disease by just one active principle often results in drug resistance. This problem might be overcome by using two different drugs that target two different molecular pathways involved in the same disease. In MB, this strategy has also been used to various epigenetic modulators in combination with other molecules either targeting epigenetic pathways or non-epigenetic ones. Furthermore, we shed light on novel, innovative hybrid compounds targeting at least one epigenetic molecule as following.

Combinations of Two (or More) Epigenetic Modulators

Patties et al. published in a first study the effects of combination of several epigenetic modulators, such as the DNMTi decitabine, VPA and vorinostat as HDACi, in MB and later they extended the previous study with the use of irradiation, a common physical therapy approach to fight various cancers (41).

They discovered that the treatment of D283med cells with vorinostat and decitabine produced a synergistic effect in reducing tumor cell viability, whereas the exposure of DAOY cells to the same compounds did not have a synergistic effect (41). However, a more recent study by Yuan et al. resulted in a synergistic effect in both cell lines (13). This example shows that the precise assay conditions as well as concentrations of the drugs, are crucial for the outcome of a study. The last researchers also tested parthenolide in combination with decitabine obtaining a synergistic effect (13). Despite the numerous evidences of synergism by HDACi and DNMTi cotreatment, the precise mechanism of their interplay still needs to be elucidated (13, 41).

Interestingly, also the combination of VPA or vorinostat with irradiation showed similar effects compared to decitabine/irradiation treatments on the mentioned cell lines, even though to a lower extent (42). The latter most powerful combination deserves *in vivo* validation. Also, the combination experiments without irradiation might provide a promising alternative therapeutic strategy, lowering the possibility of resistance.

Combinations of Epigenetic and Non-Epigenetic Modulators

Patties et al. did not only evaluate the combination of several epigenetic modulators, but also combined them with abacavir, a nucleoside analog HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitor, with or without irradiation (41, 42). Abacavir is not only known as an approved drug for HIV-treatment, but possesses also potent anti-cancer effects due to its ability to inhibit the telomerase activity, often overexpressed in several cancers (41). The triple combination of decitabine, abacavir, and irradiation turned out to work effectively in all three tested cell lines (DAOY, MEB-Med8a, D283med), warranting further *in vivo* investigations (41). Vorinostat has also been tested in association with the aurora kinase inhibitor MLN8237, leading to proliferation arrest in Group 3 MB cell lines (43).

Marino et al. evaluated the pan-HDAC inhibitor 4-phenylbutyrate in combination with the DNMTi decitabine and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib. The co-treatment reduced global methylation and induced apoptosis in DAOY and UW228 3 MB cell lines (38).

The DNMTi zebularine has been tested in combination with the well-known anti-cancer agent vincristine, able to interact with microtubules and tubulin, in SHH MB cells, displaying a synergistic effect (39). All the aforementioned studies are combining approved drugs or compounds which have already been extensively studied in the preclinical and clinical stage for other malignancies.

However, also newer chemical entity combinations have been tested in MB. As reported earlier, MYC is an important player in Group 3 and Group 4 MB. JQ-1 is influencing this pathway via BET inhibition and has been combined with the CDK inhibitor milciclib, because CDKs regulate events in MYC function as well. This combination was well-tolerated, reduced tumor cell growth, and significantly prolonged survival in MB animal model (32). In the future, the combination between BETi and CDKi could be further evaluated using in combination with milciclib, already in clinical trials [NCT01011439, NCT01301391], a BETi more drug-like than JQ-1.

However, for the treatment of MB all the aforementioned combinations are still in their early stage and need to be carefully evaluated before proceeding to the clinical area.

Hybrid Compounds

Hybrid compounds are single chemical entities hitting more than one target. Some of these innovative compounds have been also tested in MB. Inui et al. evaluated the dual HDAC1/2/3 and LSD1 inhibitor 4SC-202 in various MB cell lines (DAOY, D283med, and ONS-76). This compound proved to be active targeting both enzymes in the CoREST-HDAC-LSD1 complex. This study is one of the first examples using dual epigenetic inhibitors in MB (36). 4SC-202 deserves a deeper study regarding its detailed mechanism of action as well as further evaluation as a novel innovative therapy weapon.

NL-103, a dual inhibitor of the HDACs and SHH pathway, shows a hybrid structure merging those of vismodegib, a smoothened receptor (SMO) inhibitor approved by FDA for other solid cancers, and vorinostat, which is known to target the SHH pathway by influencing the acetylation status of GL11 and GL12 (16). This innovative compound, with its unique dualtargeted activities, was able to inhibit SHH signaling pathway acting on two different targets, in the oncogene fibroblast model cell line NIH-3T3, where it was more effective than the treatment with single targeting compounds. Thus, in this study such a hybrid was proposed as an attractive candidate to be tested in HH-sensitive MB, however it remains still elusive since no further studies have been published so far (44).

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

In this review, we have summarized and highlighted epigenetic modulators as promising drug targets in MB. However, there is still a long way to go: mainly not very specific, or older modulators have been used and often the brain permeability has not been well-evaluated. The molecular genetics and detailed epigenetic modulation of the various MB subgroups need to be further studied. As the MB subgroup is a key factor in choosing the right treatment, the development of personalized medicine with highly specific modulators could be a key in improving the poor survival rates of some MB subgroups. Therefore, research should not only focus on the design of more specific and selective epigenetic modulators, but also should study deeper the more biologically oriented factors, such as the tumor molecular genetics, the functional analysis of epigenetic factors and their potential modulation. In both cases, epigenetic modulators can be useful not only as tools to better understand the molecular mechanisms in MB, but also as novel potential drugs for innovative personalized treatments.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The literature research was conducted by all authors and the manuscript was written thereafter by the contribution of all authors. AM read, corrected, and supervised and coordinated all the work. All contributors read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by COST Action CM1406 (AM and SV), by Ricerca Finalizzata 2013 PE-2013-02355271 (AM), by PRIN 2016 (prot. 20152TE5PK) (AM), AIRC 2016 (n. 19162) (AM), NIH (n. R01GM114306) (AM), and Progetto Ateneo Sapienza 2016 (AM) funds.

REFERENCES

- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 131:803–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- Archer TC, Sengupta S, Pomeroy SL. Brain cancer genomics and epigenomics. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2018) 148:785–97. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64076-5.00050-8
- Guerreiro Stucklin AS, Ramaswamy V, Daniels C, Taylor MD. Review of molecular classification and treatment implications of pediatric brain tumors. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2018) 30:3–9. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000562
- Ivanov DP, Coyle B, Walker DA, Grabowska AM. In vitro models of medulloblastoma: choosing the right tool for the job. J Biotechnol. (2016) 236:10–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.07.028
- Mazzone R, Zwergel C, Mai A, Valente S. Epi-drugs in combination with immunotherapy: a new avenue to improve anticancer efficacy. *Clin Epigenet*. (2017) 9:59. doi: 10.1186/s13148-017-0358-y
- Zhang P, de Gooijer MC, Buil LC, Beijnen JH, Li G, van Tellingen O. ABCB1 and ABCG2 restrict the brain penetration of a panel of novel EZH2-Inhibitors. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 137:2007–18. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29566
- Roussel MF, Stripay JL. Epigenetic drivers in pediatric medulloblastoma. Cerebellum (2018) 17:28–36. doi: 10.1007/s12311-017-0899-9
- Yi J, Wu J. Epigenetic regulation in medulloblastoma. Mol Cell Neurosci. (2018) 87:65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2017.09.003
- Zwergel C, Valente S, Jacob C, Mai A. Emerging approaches for histone deacetylase inhibitor drug discovery. *Exp Opin Drug Discov.* (2015) 10:599–613. doi: 10.1517/17460441.2015.1038236
- Ecker J, Oehme I, Mazitschek R, Korshunov A, Kool M, Hielscher T, et al. Targeting class I histone deacetylase 2 in MYC amplified group 3 medulloblastoma. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2015) 3:22. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0201-7
- Li X-N, Shu Q, Su JM-F, Perlaky L, Blaney SM, Lau CC. Valproic acid induces growth arrest, apoptosis, and senescence in medulloblastomas by increasing histone hyperacetylation and regulating expression of p21Cip1, CDK4, and CMYC. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2005) 4:1912–22. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0184
- Shu Q, Antalffy B, Su JMF, Adesina A, Ou C-N, Pietsch T, et al. Valproic acid prolongs survival time of severe combined immunodeficient mice bearing intracerebellar orthotopic medulloblastoma xenografts. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:4687–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2849
- Yuan J, Llamas Luceno N, Sander B, Golas MM. Synergistic anti-cancer effects of epigenetic drugs on medulloblastoma cells. *Cell Oncol.* (2017) 40:263–79. doi: 10.1007/s13402-017-0319-7
- Phi JH, Choi SA, Kwak PA, Lee JY, Wang KC, Hwang DW, et al. Panobinostat, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, suppresses leptomeningeal seeding in a medulloblastoma animal model. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:56747–57. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18132
- Milde T, Lodrini M, Savelyeva L, Korshunov A, Kool M, Brueckner LM, et al. HD-MB03 is a novel group 3 medulloblastoma model demonstrating sensitivity to histone deacetylase inhibitor treatment. *J Neuro Oncol.* (2012) 110:335–48. doi: 10.1007/s11060-012-0978-1
- Canettieri G, Di Marcotullio L, Greco A, Coni S, Antonucci L, Infante P, et al. Histone deacetylase and Cullin3-RENKCTD11 ubiquitin ligase interplay regulates Hedgehog signalling through Gli acetylation. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2010) 12:132–42. doi: 10.1038/ncb2013
- Lee SJ, Krauthauser C, Maduskuie V, Fawcett PT, Olson JM, Rajasekaran SA. Curcumin-induced HDAC inhibition and attenuation of medulloblastoma growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *BMC Cancer* (2011) 11:144. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-144
- Kolbinger FR, Koeneke E, Ridinger J, Heimburg T, Muller M, Bayer T, et al. The HDAC6/8/10 inhibitor TH34 induces DNA damage-mediated cell death in human high-grade neuroblastoma cell lines. *Arch Toxicol.* (2018) 92:2649–64. doi: 10.1007/s00204-018-2234-8
- Rathkopf DE, Picus J, Hussain A, Ellard S, Chi KN, Nydam T, et al. A phase 2 study of intravenous panobinostat in patients with castrationresistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2013) 72:537–44. doi: 10.1007/s00280-013-2224-8

- Begley CG, Ellis LM. Drug development: raise standards for preclinical cancer research. Nature (2012) 483:531–3. doi: 10.1038/483531a
- Smith MA, Houghton P. A proposal regarding reporting of in vitro testing results. Clin Cancer Res. (2013) 19:2828–33. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0043
- Schiedel M, Robaa D, Rumpf T, Sippl W, Jung M. The current state of NAD⁺ -dependent histone deacetylases (sirtuins) as novel therapeutic targets. *Med Res Rev.* (2018) 38:147–200. doi: 10.1002/med.21436
- 23. Ma J-X, Li H, Chen X-M, Yang X-H, Wang Q, Wu M-L, et al. Expression patterns and potential roles of SIRT1 in human medulloblastoma cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Neuropathology* (2013) 33:7–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2012.01318.x
- Tiberi L, Bonnefont J, van den Ameele J, Le Bon S-D, Herpoel A, Bilheu A, et al. A BCL6/BCOR/SIRT1 complex triggers neurogenesis and suppresses medulloblastoma by repressing sonic hedgehog signaling. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26:797–812. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.10.021
- 25. Wadhwa E, Nicolaides T. Bromodomain inhibitor review: bromodomain and extra-terminal family protein inhibitors as a potential new therapy in central nervous system tumors. *Cureus* (2016) 8:e620. doi: 10.7759/cureus.620
- Loven J, Hoke HA, Lin CY, Lau A, Orlando DA, Vakoc CR, et al. Selective inhibition of tumor oncogenes by disruption of super-enhancers. *Cell* (2013) 153:320–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.036
- Tang Y, Gholamin S, Schubert S, Willardson MI, Lee A, Bandopadhayay P, et al. Epigenetic targeting of Hedgehog pathway transcriptional output through BET bromodomain inhibition. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:732–40. doi: 10.1038/nm.3613
- Henssen A, Thor T, Odersky A, Heukamp L, El-Hindy N, Beckers A, et al. BET bromodomain protein inhibition is a therapeutic option for medulloblastoma. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4:2080–95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1534
- Bandopadhayay P, Bergthold G, Nguyen B, Schubert S, Gholamin S, Tang Y, et al. BET bromodomain inhibition of MYC-amplified medulloblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:912–25. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2281
- 30. Venkataraman S, Alimova I, Fan R, Harris P, Foreman N, Vibhakar R. MicroRNA 128a increases intracellular ROS level by targeting Bmi-1 and inhibits medulloblastoma cancer cell growth by promoting senescence. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e10748. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010748
- Long J, Li B, Rodriguez-Blanco J, Pastori C, Volmar C-H, Wahlestedt C, et al. The BET bromodomain inhibitor I-BET151 acts downstream of smoothened protein to abrogate the growth of hedgehog protein-driven cancers. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:35494–502. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.595348
- Bolin S, Borgenvik A, Persson CU, Sundstrom A, Qi J, Bradner JE, et al. Combined BET bromodomain and CDK2 inhibition in MYC-driven medulloblastoma. Oncogene (2018) 37:2850–62. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0135-1
- Alimova I, Venkataraman S, Harris P, Marquez VE, Northcott PA, Dubuc A, et al. Targeting the enhancer of zeste homologue 2 in medulloblastoma. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 131:1800–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27455
- 34. Miele E, Valente S, Alfano V, Silvano M, Mellini P, Borovika D, et al. The histone methyltransferase EZH2 as a druggable target in SHH medulloblastoma cancer stem cells. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:68557–70. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19782
- Dobson THW, Hatcher RJ, Swaminathan J, Das CM, Shaik S, Tao RH, et al. Regulation of USP37 expression by REST-associated G9adependent histone methylation. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2017) 15:1073–84. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0424
- Inui K, Zhao Z, Yuan J, Jayaprakash S, Le LTM, Drakulic S, et al. Stepwise assembly of functional C-terminal REST/NRSF transcriptional repressor complexes as a drug target. *Protein Sci.* (2017) 26:997–1011. doi: 10.1002/pro.3142
- Zwergel C, Valente S, Mai A. DNA methyltransferases inhibitors from natural sources. *Curr Top Med Chem.* (2016) 16:680–96. doi: 10.2174/1568026615666150825141505
- Marino A-M, Frijhoff J, Calero R, Baryawno N, Oestman A, Johnsen JI. Effects of epigenetic modificators in combination with small molecule inhibitors of receptor tyrosine kinases on medulloblastoma growth. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2014) 450:1600–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.042
- Andrade AF, Borges KS, Suazo VK, Geron L, Correa CA, Castro-Gamero AM, et al. The DNA methyltransferase inhibitor zebularine

exerts antitumor effects and reveals BATF2 as a poor prognostic marker for childhood medulloblastoma. *Invest New Drugs* (2017) 35:26–36. doi: 10.1007/s10637-016-0401-4

- Valente S, Liu Y, Schnekenburger M, Zwergel C, Cosconati S, Gros C, et al. Selective non-nucleoside inhibitors of human DNA methyltransferases active in cancer including in cancer stem cells. J Med Chem. (2014) 57:701–13. doi: 10.1021/jm4012627
- Patties I, Kortmann RD, Glasow A. Inhibitory effects of epigenetic modulators and differentiation inducers on human medulloblastoma cell lines. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2013) 32:27. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-27
- Patties I, Kortmann RD, Menzel F, Glasow A. Enhanced inhibition of clonogenic survival of human medulloblastoma cells by multimodal treatment with ionizing irradiation, epigenetic modifiers, and differentiation-inducing drugs. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2016) 35:94. doi: 10.1186/s13046-016-0376-1
- Muscal JA, Scorsone KA, Zhang L, Ecsedy JA, Berg SL. Additive effects of vorinostat and MLN8237 in pediatric leukemia, medulloblastoma, and neuroblastoma cell lines. *Invest New Drugs* (2013) 31:39–45. doi: 10.1007/s10637-012-9831-9

 Zhao J, Quan H, Xie C, Lou L. NL-103, a novel dual-targeted inhibitor of histone deacetylases and hedgehog pathway, effectively overcomes vismodegib resistance conferred by Smo mutations. *Pharmacol Res Perspect.* (2014) 2:e00043. doi: 10.1002/prp2.43

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with the authors GC and ZB.

Copyright © 2018 Zwergel, Romanelli, Stazi, Besharat, Catanzaro, Tafani, Valente and Mai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long Noncoding RNAs: Emerging Players in Medulloblastoma

Pietro Laneve¹, Jessica Rea² and Elisa Caffarelli^{1*}

¹ Institute of Molecular Biology and Pathology, National Research Council, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Biology and Biotechnology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Central Nervous System tumors are the leading cause of cancer-related death in children, and medulloblastoma has the highest incidence rate. The current therapies achieve a 5year survival rate of 50-80%, but often inflict severe secondary effects demanding the urgent development of novel, effective, and less toxic therapeutic strategies. Historically identified on a histopathological basis, medulloblastoma was later classified into four major subgroups-namely WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4-each characterized by distinct transcriptional profiles, copy-number aberrations, somatic mutations, and clinical outcomes. Additional complexity was recently provided by integrating gene- and nongene-based data, which indicates that each subclass can be further subdivided into specific subtypes. These deeper classifications, while getting over the typical tumor heterogeneity, indicate that different forms of medulloblastoma hold different molecular drivers that can be successfully exploited for a greater diagnostic accuracy and for the development of novel, targeted treatments. Long noncoding RNAs are transcripts that lack coding potential and play relevant roles as regulators of gene expression in mammalian differentiation and developmental processes. Their cell type- and tissuespecificity, higher than mRNAs, make them more informative about cell- type identity than protein-coding genes. Remarkably, about 40% of long noncoding RNAs are expressed in the brain and their aberrant expression has been linked to neuro-oncological disorders. However, while their involvement in gliomas and neuroblastomas has been extensively studied, their role in medulloblastoma is still poorly explored. Here, we present an overview of current knowledge regarding the function played by long noncoding RNAs in medulloblastoma biology.

Keywords: nervous system, pediatric tumor, medulloblastoma, long noncoding RNAs, oncogenes, tumor suppressors, diagnostic biomarkers, therapeutic targets

INTRODUCTION

Medulloblastoma (MB), with an estimated 5000–8000 cases/year worldwide (1, 2), is an aggressive tumor arising in the cerebellum. It mainly affects children and is a major cause of mortality in pediatric oncology (3). While the previous classification of MB by the World Health Organization (WHO) was largely based on histological features (4), the new classification in 2016 exploited molecular parameters to catalog the large variety of tumors of the Central Nervous System (CNS) (5). Rational molecular-based classification was supported by the advancement of sequencing technologies allowing extensive genomic/transcriptomic studies. This classification benefits from the integration between histological and molecular parameters and led to no longer considering MB as a unique pathology.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Carai, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Anshu Malhotra, Emory University, United States Francesca Del Bufalo, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Elisa Caffarelli elisa.caffarelli@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 08 June 2018 Accepted: 18 February 2019 Published: 14 March 2019

Citation:

Laneve P, Rea J and Caffarelli E (2019) Long Noncoding RNAs: Emerging Players in Medulloblastoma. Front. Pediatr. 7:67. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00067

53

Several subclasses of MB have been unveiled, each displaying dysregulated genes—the driver genes—altered by single nucleotide mutations, somatic copy-number aberrations, or by defects in transcriptional or post-transcriptional gene regulation.

In this review, we highlight the link between MB tumors and the emerging class of regulatory long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs), and their potential as promising cancer biomarkers and novel therapeutic agents.

Medulloblastoma

Recent genomic and transcriptomic analyses on a large cohort of primary tumors assigned MBs to four molecularly distinct subgroups (6, 7). They include the extensively characterized WNT and SHH subgroups, and the Group 3 (G3) and Group 4 (G4), whose pathogenesis and signaling pathways are poorly defined.

WNT

Approximately 10% of all MB patients belong to this subgroup, characterized by the most favorable prognosis with 95% of survival (7, 8). WNT tumors, which exhibit classic histology, are recognizable by a WNT gene expression signature. Nuclear accumulation of β -catenin is considered a biomarker for WNT signaling pathway activation. This subgroup often carries heterozygous *TP53* mutations, as well as mutations in the DEAD-box helicase gene *DDX3X* and in chromatin modifiers genes, such as *SMARCA4* and *CREBBP*, indicating the implication of altered epigenome in the development of this disease. Integration of gene expression and DNA methylation profiles indicated that WNT subgroup comprises at least two subtypes, WNT α , mainly enriched for children and characterized by monosomy 6, and WNT β , including mainly adults without monosomy 6 (9).

SHH

SHH MBs represent approximately 30% of all MB cases, characterized by an intermediate prognosis, with survival rates ranging from 60 to 80% (7). SHH tumors, mainly exhibiting desmoplastic histology, display an aberrant activation of the SHH signaling, due to mutations of negative regulators of SHH pathway, such as *PTCH1* and *SUFU*, and copy number aberrations of SHH target genes, such as *MYCN* and *GLI2* (7). *TP53* mutations are found in about 30% of childhood SHH MBs and are associated with extremely poor outcomes. Recent analyses suggest that SHH subgroup consists of four distinct subtypes. It includes SHH α , enriched for *MYCN* and *GLI2* amplifications, with the worst prognosis; SHH β , harboring *PTEN* gene deletions and frequently metastatic; SHH γ displaying scarce copy number aberrations and SHH δ , that is enriched for *TERT* gene promoter mutations and has a favorable prognosis (9).

Group 3

G3 is the most aggressive subgroup accounting for about 25% of all MBs, about half of them being metastatic at diagnosis (10). These tumors display a MYC signature, being characterized by amplification of the *MYC* proto-oncogene and exhibiting aberrant *MYC* expression in almost all cases (7). G3 shows intratumoral heterogeneity, including three further subtypes: G3 α and

G3 β with a more favorable prognosis compared to G3 γ , which frequently harbors increased *MYC* copy number (9).

Group 4

G4, the most common subtype, accounts for 35% of all MBs. These tumors are often metastatic at diagnosis and have intermediate prognosis. It is the most enigmatic subgroup, characterized by a neuronal gene expression signature, resembling that of glutamatergic neurons (7). Common alterations pertain to inactivating mutations in *KDM6A* gene, duplication of *SNCAIP* gene, and amplification of *MYCN* and *CDK6* proto-oncogenes. G4 has been re-classified into G4 α , characterized by *MYCN* and *CDK6* amplifications, G4 β , strongly enriched for *SNCAIP* duplications and putative *PRDM6* overexpression, and G4 γ enriched for focal *CDK6* amplification (9).

LONG NONCODING RNAS

RNA is considered as the most "rediscovered" biological macromolecule (11, 12) since, starting from the informational role assigned to mRNAs in 1961 (13, 14), novel unexpected functions have been attributed to RNA in the last three decades. In the 1980s, its capacity to catalyze biochemical reactions was associated with its ability to fold into complex tridimensional structures (15). In the early 1990s, regulatory functions were attributed to two long RNAs lacking proteincoding capacity, H19 (16, 17), and XIST (18, 19). Since then, a huge number of noncoding RNAs, both short and long in size, was discovered in parallel with the finding that more than half of the transcriptome encodes non-proteinogenic transcripts. Among them, the lncRNAs number in the tens of thousands and include also circular RNAs, covalently closed RNA circles derived from back-splicing of linear transcripts (20). LncRNAs are >200 nucleotides and represent very versatile molecules for their unique ability to specifically recognize both nucleic acids and protein partners via base-pairing and modular tridimensional structures, respectively. They are flexibly involved in important biological processes, such as development, cell differentiation and growth, thanks to their main functions of gene expression regulators and the genome structure architects.

Mechanisms of Action

LncRNAs may be engaged in fine-scale modulation of gene expression as well as in large-scale control of developmental programs. They may act through a variety of mechanisms, depending on their cellular localization. Some of them are exclusively localized in the nucleus, others in the cytoplasm, others change their localization during development or differentiation, and still others show both localizations. In the latter case, a single lncRNA might have multiple molecular functions.

Nuclear IncRNAs

Nuclear lncRNAs (Figure 1A) can be found in the nucleoplasm or associated with chromatin (21). Typically, these latter are supposed to control protein-coding gene expression at the



epigenetic level by recruiting chromatin modifiers to specific genomic loci. This is achieved through their scaffolding activity, by which they interact simultaneously with distinct protein complexes, and through their capability to act as "molecular guides," that ensure the specificity of target recognition (21). This function can be carried out in *cis* or in *trans*. The *cis*-acting RNAs are typically low-abundant, and regulated genes are located in the proximity of their transcription site; *trans*-acting RNAs are more abundant and can modulate the expression of genes at independent loci (21). Notably, perturbations of the epigenetic regulation were recognized as causative of malignancies (22), and some cancer-related lncRNAs, such as *XIST* (23), *HOTAIR* (24–26), *NBAT* (27), and *LINC-PINT* (28), were reported to direct epigenetic modifications (29).

Nuclear lncRNAs can also act as regulators of transcriptional programs, by recruiting transcription activators or repressors to specific loci (30, 31), as enhancer RNAs that exert enhancer-like functions (32, 33), as chromosome architects and nuclear organizers that contribute to the formation of specific sub-nuclear structures (21, 34, 35), or as regulators of alternative splicing (36).

Cytoplasmic IncRNAs

Cytoplasmic lncRNAs (Figure 1B) regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level, often exploiting their sequence complementarity with transcripts deriving from the same genomic locus or from independent loci. Upon specific target recognition, they are able to modulate mRNA stability, both positively as *BACE1-AS* (37) and *TINCR* (38), and negatively as ½-sbsRNAs (39), or translation, as *lincRNA p21* (40). Another role is that of decoys for microRNAs (miRNAs): in this case, the lncRNA functions as a competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA) that sequesters miRNAs from their mRNA targets, causing translational de-repression. This activity is based on regulatory crosstalk between multiple transcripts (41, 42). Notably, lncRNAmediated ceRNA networks in cancer are continuously emerging (43, 44). However, only for a very limited number, such as *Gas5* (45), *linc-RoR* (46, 47), *NORAD* (48), and *linc-NeD125* (49), this function has been characterized: their aberrant enrichment or local increased concentration in pathological conditions can culminate in tumorigenesis. Finally, some lncRNAs may contain short open reading frames producing small, functional peptides (50).

THE ROLE OF LNCRNAS IN CNS

The CNS of mammals is a very sophisticated system in which neuronal and glial cells structurally and functionally interact to guarantee the proper brain activity. Numerous evidence correlates the evolutionary increase in human brain complexity with the expanding number of lncRNAs (51, 52). Accordingly, 40% of human annotated lncRNAs are expressed in the brain, where they display neuro-anatomical and/or cell-type specific expression, and about 30% of lncRNAs appears to be primatespecific (31, 53). Notably, compared to lncRNAs from other tissues, the brain-specific lncRNAs are: (i) the most evolutionarily

conserved species, (ii) predicted to retain conserved secondary structures, and (iii) preferentially adjacent to protein-coding genes involved in neuronal differentiation and function (54). Overall, these findings indicate that brain-specific lncRNAs likely possess conserved functions and are crucially implicated in higher-order cognitive abilities as well as in establishing neural cell-type diversity and function. This hypothesis is sustained by their spatiotemporal expression, which is exquisitely regulated during NS development (55) and in response to neuronal activity (56). So far, a growing body of literature shows that lncRNAs influence every step of neurodevelopment, from early stages of differentiation to synaptogenesis (57-59). In vitro studies revealed some lncRNAs, such as RMST (60), TUNA (61), DALI (62), and PAUPAR (63), that control complex gene expression programs underlying the neurogenic commitment of pluripotent embryonic stem cells. This is mainly achieved through their action of "guide" RNAs that convey transcriptional and/or epigenetic factors on the promoters of neuronal genes. In vivo analyses identified other species such as GOMAFU (56, 64, 65), EVF2 (66), PNKY (67), and linc-BRN1B (68) that, through the recruitment of epigenetic, transcriptional, or splicing factors, govern the balance between self-renewal and neuronal differentiation. LncRNAs also contribute to synaptogenesis and neuronal plasticity, which underlies learning, memory, and cognition, by regulating crucial proteins that control neurite elaboration (69), translation in synapses (70, 71), and ion channel subunits (72).

LNCRNAS IN NEURO-ONCOLOGICAL DISORDERS

Based on their crucial role in NS development and function, lncRNA qualitative and/or quantitative alterations may profoundly impact on different neurological pathologies, including neurodevelopmental, neurodegenerative, neuroimmunological, and neuro-oncological disorders (73, 74). In the latter settings, lncRNAs have drawn extensive attention as molecules that may drive tumorigenesis. In addition, they can serve as predictors of cancer sub-types as well as potential therapeutic targets.

It is widely understood that mutations, epigenetic alterations or somatic copy number aberrations in the noncoding portion of the genome underlie cancer pathology (75). Accordingly, recent studies indicated that lncRNAs are highly deregulated in cancer, where they participate as tumor-suppressors or oncogenes in tumor initiation and progression. Notably, most lncRNAs displaying aberrant expression are cancer-type unique (76). However, despite the identification of a large number of lncRNAs in neurological cancers, only for a few of them mechanisms of action have been experimentally clarified.

Extensive studies have been carried out in gliomas, the most prevalent types of primary intracranial carcinoma (77). Several lncRNAs associated with glioma stemness (78–80), proliferation, and migration (81–84) have been identified, and most of them function as miRNA decoys (81).

Neuroblastoma (NB) is a pediatric tumor of the sympathetic NS, accounting for more than 7% of childhood malignancies (85). The molecular link between deregulated lncRNA expression and NB tumorigenic features is emerging (86), and several deregulated lncRNAs during NB pathogenesis have been uncovered (87–92).

Our knowledge of lncRNA function in MB physiopathology is still fragmentary. Genome-wide association studies may help to understand how genetic polymorphisms in lncRNA loci contribute to MB predisposition (93). Furthermore, in spite of the numerous high-throughput expression studies carried out so far, lncRNAs have been largely disregarded. However, re-annotation of array-based data and integration of cancer phenotype associations allowed prioritizing disease-related lncRNAs in tumors, including MB (94), demonstrating the potential of data re-analyses. In another study, a *de-novo* genome-wide inspection of MB subgroup-specific chromosomal alterations identified the first G3 MB gene fusions (6). They involve the 5'-end of PVT1, a lncRNA hosting the putative MB oncogene miR-1024 (95, 96). In the PVT1-MYC fusion, the induction of miR-1024 and the associated malignant phenotype may be explained through an oncogenic positive feedback-loop, established by MYC on its response elements on PVT1 promoter (6).

Other studies focused on the role played in MB by previously identified noncoding oncogenes. Among them, *UCA1* (97) and *CRNDE* (98, 99) are upregulated in MB samples. *UCA1* knockdown in MB cells results in the arrest of cell cycle progression, suppression of cell migration, and proliferation (100). Similarly, *in vitro* downregulation of *CRNDE* blocked cell cycle, inhibited proliferation and aggregation, while increasing apoptosis. Tumor growth was also reduced in MB mouse models silenced for CRNDE (101). Inversely, the lncRNA *HOTAIR* (102) is downregulated in MB samples, whereas its target genes *HOXD8* and *HOXD10* are upregulated (103). The misbalance of these crucial developmental genes may partially account for the embryonic origin and the pediatric onset of MB. However, their mechanisms of action are presently unknown.

Mechanistic insights into the role of lncRNAs in MB biology have been carried out only for a very few species, as discussed below.

Mechanisms of Action of IncRNAs in Mb

The colon cancer upregulated transcript *CCAT1* (104) is a prototype of oncogenic lncRNA, associated with several carcinomas, where it promotes cell proliferation, invasion, migration, and chemoresistence (105–107). In MB, its expression is upregulated in 20 unstratified tumor samples and also in at least four MB cell lines (108). *CCAT1* knockdown in MB cells causes the decrease of cell proliferation rate, (depending on *CCNA* and *CDK2* gene repression), cell migration, and invasion. Its *in vivo* depletion reduces the volume of subcutaneous tumors of xenotransplanted mice (108). *CCAT1* has been proposed to play its oncogenic role by altering the phosphorylated, active status of components of the tumorigenic MAPK pathway. In combination with previous reports indicating *CCAT1* as a miRNA sponge (109–111), this study suggests that *CCAT1* may control tumorigenesis through multiple activities.



Another lncRNA implicated in MB is ANRIL (112), which plays a pivotal role in multiple cancers as an epigenetic regulator of its neighbor tumor-suppressors CDKN2A/B (113, 114). ANRIL expression is upregulated in MB cells, where its knockdown lowers cell viability and migration while increasing apoptosis, by deranging the expression of several apoptotic factors (115). ANRIL has been shown to act as a decoy for miR-323, a miRNA identified in neurons (116) and characterized as a glioma tumor-suppressor (117, 118). Consistently, miR-323 silencing counteracted the abovementioned ANRIL-dependent cell phenotypes. This regulative axis impinges on BRI3, a miR-323 target gene (119) encoding for a brain-expressed transmembrane factor (120). BRI3 activates MAPK, AKT and WNT signaling cascades, already associated with MB progression (121-123), through a double mechanism: BRI3 upregulation enhances the phosphorylation of p38, MAPK, ERK, and AKT kinases and stimulates the accumulation of Wnt3a, Wnt5a, and β catenin. The dysregulation of such pathways may partially explain the apoptotic phenotypes observed upon imbalance of ANRIL/miR-323/BRI3 module (115).

More recently, the lncRNA *LOXL1-AS1*, the antisense transcript to the LOXL1 genomic locus, whose variants are strongly associated with the exfoliation syndrome (124), was found to be overexpressed in MB tissues. *In vitro* and *in vivo* experiments revealed that it controls cell viability, proliferation, cell cycle, and metastasis by activating the PI3K-AKT pathway (125).

Recently, the ceRNA mechanism has emerged as a crucial pathogenic pathway in MB. Linc-NeD125 was the first ceRNA identified in MB and, generally, in tumors of the CNS (49). It was identified in NB cells as the precursor of miR-125-b1 (126), a neuronal-enriched miRNA (127) involved in neural cell differentiation (128), function (129) and NB and MB cell proliferation, and apoptosis (130, 131). Notably, linc-Ned125 is significantly and specifically upregulated in primary G4 MBs, compared to the other subgroups. In this context, it functions as a miRNA decoy. Linc-NeD125 interacts with miR-19a-3p, miR-19b-3p, and miR-106a-5p that pleiotropically control the expression of four G4 MB driver genes, namely KDM6A, MYCN, CDK6, and SNCAIP (7) (Figure 2). Through this mechanism, linc-NeD125 causes the driver gene translational de-repression, contributing to G4 MB tumorigenesis and/or to the maintenance of cancer cell identity. This study highlighted linc-NeD125 as a novel potential G4 driver gene, as well as a specific biomarker and a potential therapeutic target. Accordingly, its knockdown in G4derived cells caused a significant reduction of cell proliferation, migration, and invasion (49).

The second example of ceRNA in MB is the lncRNA *Nkx2-2as*, that behaves as a tumor-suppressor in SHH MB subgroup. It is highly down-regulated in MB cells derived from a SHH mouse model and it suppresses the malignant phenotype of MB cells, functioning as a sponge for miR-103/107 and miR-548 m. This activity causes the depression of the tumor-suppressor genes *BTG2/Tis21/PC3* and *LATS1/2*, promoting tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* (132).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The main challenges in fighting cancer are the identification of specific biomarkers, for timely diagnosis and prognosis, and novel tumor-driver genes, which can be therapeutically targeted for suppressing tumor growth. The former function would help the choice of pre-operative treatments and facilitate the tumor follow-up examinations. Unfortunately, very few biomarkers are known for pediatric tumors (133) and in MB <20 protein-coding genes have been characterized as promising candidates. However, most of these biomarkers were identified from single studies and from heterogeneous tumor types, lacking tumor-specificity (133). The recent categorization of MB into at least four subtypes, with distinct features, led the scientists to consider them as distinct pathologies with likely different responses to therapy. This new perspective triggered the search for novel MB-subgroup specific biomarkers and therapeutic targets. For both issues lncRNAs are very challenging (75). Since many of them are uniquely expressed in specific cancer types, they may function as powerful cancer biomarkers (134). In addition, for their ability to fold into complex tridimensional structures that increase their stability, they can be easily detected into body fluids as urine, blood,

REFERENCES

- Ivanov DP, Coyle B, Walker DA, Grabowska AM. In vitro models of medulloblastoma: choosing the right tool for the job. J Biotechnol. (2016) 236:10–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.07.028
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, et al. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11. Lyon (2013)
- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Remke M, Cho YJ, Clifford SC, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:465–72. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0922-z
- 4. Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK. *World Health Organization Histological Classification of Tumours of the Central Nervous System*. Lyon: IARC (2007).
- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 131:803–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- Northcott PA, Shih DJ, Peacock J, Garzia L, Morrissy AS, Zichner T, et al. Subgroup-specific structural variation across 1,000 medulloblastoma genomes. *Nature*. (2012) 488:49–56. doi: 10.1038/nature11327
- Northcott PA, Jones DT, Kool M, Robinson GW, Gilbertson RJ, Cho YJ, et al. Medulloblastomics: the end of the beginning. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:818–34.doi: 10.1038/nrc3410
- Wang J, Garancher A, Ramaswamy V, Wechsler-Reya RJ. Medulloblastoma: from molecular subgroups to molecular targeted therapies. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 41:207–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-070815-013838
- Cavalli FMG, Remke M, Rampasek L, Peacock J, Shih DJH, Luu B, et al. Intertumoral heterogeneity within medulloblastoma subgroups. *Cancer Cell.* (2017) 31:737–54.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.05.005
- Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones DT, Schlanstein M, Northcott PA. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international meta-analysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:473–84. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0958-8
- 11. Pyle AM. Rediscovering RNA. RNA. (2015) 21:714–5. doi: 10.1261/rna.050807.115

and cerebrospinal fluids, making the tumor diagnosis less invasive (75). Notably, lncRNAs are also considered new relevant targets for cancer therapy as highly tissue-specific drivers of cancer phenotypes. Finally, in this search for lncRNAs as novel molecules that distinguish clinically relevant cancer subtypes and predict tumor behavior, the circular RNAs are proving to be effective cancer biomarkers for their abundance, stability, and specificity (135).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PL and EC reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript. JR prepared the figures and contributed to the text discussion.

FUNDING

This work was partially supported by a grant from the Epigen-Epigenomics Flagship Project to EC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to colleagues whose work was not discussed or cited in this review due to the space limitation.

- Ballarino M, Morlando M, Fatica A, Bozzoni I. Non-coding RNAs in muscle differentiation and musculoskeletal disease. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:2021– 30. doi: 10.1172/JCI84419
- Brenner S, Jacob F, Meselson M. An unstable intermediate carrying information from genes to ribosomes for protein synthesis. *Nature*. (1961) 190:576–81. doi: 10.1038/190576a0
- Jacob F, Monod J. Genetic regulatory mechanisms in the synthesis of proteins. J Mol Biol. (1961) 3:318–56. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(61) 80072-7
- Kruger K, Grabowski PJ, Zaug AJ, Sands J, Gottschling DE, Cech TR. Self-splicing RNA: autoexcision and autocyclization of the ribosomal RNA intervening sequence of Tetrahymena. *Cell.* (1982) 31:147–57. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(82)90414-7
- Brannan CI, Dees EC, Ingram RS, Tilghman, SM. The product of the H19 gene may function as an RNA. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1990) 10:28–36. doi: 10.1128/MCB.10.1.28
- Gabory A, Jammes H, Dandolo L. The H19 locus: role of an im- printed non-coding RNA in growth and development. *Bioessays*. (2010) 32:473–80. doi: 10.1002/bies.200900170
- Brown CJ, Ballabio A, Rupert JL, Lafreniere RG, Grompe M, Tonlorenzi R, et al. A gene from the region of the human X inactivation centre is expressed exclusively from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature*. (1991) 349:38–44. doi: 10.1038/349038a0
- Pontier DB, Gribnau, J. Xist regulation and function explored. *Hum Genet*. (2011) 130:223–36. doi: 10.1007/s00439-011-1008-7
- Qu S, Yang X, Li X, Wang J, Gao Y, Shang R, et al. Circular RNA: a new star of noncoding RNAs. *Cancer Lett.* (2015) 365:141–8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.06.003
- Engreit JM, Ollikainen N, Guttman M. Long non-coding RNAs: spatial amplifiers that control nuclear structure and gene expression. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2016) 17:756–70. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.126
- Shen H, Laird PW. Interplay between the cancer genome and epigenome. *Cell.* (2013) 153:38–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013. 03.008
- Lee JT, Bartolomei MS. X-inactivation, imprinting, and long noncoding RNAs in health and disease. *Cell.* (2013) 152:1308–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.016

- Gupta RA, Shah N, Wang KC, Kim J, Horlings HM, Wong DJ, et al. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. *Nature*. (2010) 464:1071–6. doi: 10.1038/nature08975
- 25. Kogo R, Shimamura T, Mimori K, Kawahara K, Imoto S, Sudo T, et al. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR regulates polycomb-dependent chromatin modification and is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancers. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:6320–6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1021
- Zhang J, Zhang P, Wang L, Piao HL, Ma L. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR in carcinogenesis and metastasis. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin.* (2014) 46:1–5. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmt117
- Hu P, Chu J, Wu Y, Sun L, Lv X, Zhu Y, et al. NBAT1 suppresses breast cancer metastasis by regulating DKK1 via PRC2. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:32410–25. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5609
- Marin-Bejar O, Mas AM, González J, Martinez D, Athie A, Morales X, et al. The human lncRNA LINC-PINT inhibits tumor cell invasion through a highly conserved sequence element. *Genome Biol.* (2017) 18:202. doi: 10.1186/s13059-017-1331-y
- Morlando M, Fatica A. Alteration of epigenetic regulation by long noncoding RNAs in cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:pii: E570. doi: 10.3390/ijms19020570
- Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Mattick JS. Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat Rev Genet*. (2009) 10:155–9. doi: 10.1038/nrg2521
- Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, et al. The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. *Genome Res.* (2012) 22:1775–89. doi: 10.1101/gr.132159.111
- Mousavi K, Zare H, Dell'orso S, Grontved L, Gutierrez-Cruz G, Derfoul A, et al. eRNAs promote transcription by establishing chromatin accessibility at defined genomic loci. *Mol Cell.* (2013) 51:606–17. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.07.022
- Mousavi K, Zare H, Koulnis M, Sartorelli V. The emerging roles of eRNAs in transcriptional regulatory networks. *RNA Biol.* (2014) 11:106–10. doi: 10.4161/rna.27950
- Hacisuleyman E, Goff LA, Trapnell C, Williams A, Henao-Mejia J, Sun L, et al. Topological organization of multichromosomal regions by the long intergenic noncoding RNA Firre. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* (2014) 21:198–206. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2764
- Rinn J, Guttman M. RNA and dynamic nuclear organization. Long noncoding RNAs may function as organizing factors that shape the cell nucleus. *Science*. (2014) 12: 345:1240–1.doi: 10.1126/science.1252966
- Romero-Barrios N, Legascue MF, Benhamed M, Ariel F, Crespi M. Splicing regulation by long noncoding RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2018) 46:2169–84. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky095
- Faghihi MA, Modarresi F, Khalil AM, Wood DE, Sahagan BG, Morgan TE, et al. Expression of a noncoding RNA is elevated in Alzheimer's disease and drives rapid feed-forward regulation of β-secretase. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:723–30. doi: 10.1038/nm1784
- Kretz M, Siprashvili Z, Chu C, Webster DE, Zehnder A, Qu K, et al. Control of somatic tissue differentiation by the long non-coding RNA TINCR. *Nature*. (2013) 493:231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature11661
- Gong C, Maquat LE. lncRNAs transactivate STAU1-mediated mRNA decay by duplexing with 3['] UTRs via Alu elements. *Nature*. (2011) 470:284–8. doi: 10.1038/nature09701
- Yoon JH, Abdelmohsen K, Srikantan S, Yang X, Martindale JL, De S, et al. LincRNA-p21 suppresses target mRNA translation. *Mol Cell.* (2012) 47:648–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.027
- Jens M, Rajewsky N. Competition between target sites of regulators shapes post-transcriptional gene regulation. *Nat Rev Genet.* (2015) 16:113–26. doi: 10.1038/nrg3853
- 42. Tay Y, Rinn J, Pandolfi PP. The multilayered complexity of ceRNA crosstalk and competition. *Nature*. (2014) 505:344–52. doi: 10.1038/nature12986
- Yang C, Wu D, Gao L, Liu X, Jin Y, Wang D, et al. Competing endogenous RNA networks in human cancer: hypothesis, validation, and perspectives. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:13479–90. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7266
- Chan JJ, Tay Y. Noncoding RNA: RNA regulatory networks in cancer. Int J Mol Sci. (2018) 19:E1310. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051310
- 45. Li W, Zhao W, Lu Z, Zhang W, Yang X. Long non-coding RNA GAS5 promotes proliferation, migration and invasion by regulation

of miR-301a in esophageal cancer. Oncol Res. (2018) 26:1285–94. doi: 10.3727/096504018X15166193231711

- 46. Fu Z, Li G, Li Z, Wang Y, Zhao Y, Zheng S, et al. Endogenous miRNA Sponge LincRNA-ROR promotes proliferation, invasion and stem cell-like phenotype of pancreatic cancer cells. *Cell Death Discov.* (2017) 3:17004. doi: 10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.4
- 47. Wang L, Yu X, Zhang Z, Pang L, Xu J, Jiang J, et al. Linc-ROR promotes esophageal squamous cell carcinoma progression through the derepression of SOX9. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 36:182. doi: 10.1186/s13046-017-0658-2
- 48. Li H, Wang X, Wen C, Huo Z, Wang W, Zhan Q, et al. Long noncoding RNA NORAD, a novel competing endogenous RNA, enhances the hypoxia-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition to promote metastasis in pancreatic cancer. *Mol Cancer.* (2017) 16:169. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0738-0
- Laneve P, Po A, Favia A, Legnini I, Alfano V, Rea J, et al. The long noncoding RNA linc-NeD125 controls the expression of medulloblastoma driver genes by microRNA sponge activity. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:31003–15. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16049
- Anderson DM, Anderson KM, Chang CL, Makarewich CA, Nelson BR, McAnally JR, et al. A micropeptide encoded by a putative long noncoding RNA regulates muscle performance. *Cell.* (2015) 160:595–606. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.01.009
- Clark BS, Blackshaw S. Understanding the role of lncRNAs in nervous system development. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2017) 1008:253–82. doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-5203-3_9
- Qureshi IA, Mehler MF. Non-coding RNA networks underlying cognitive disorders across the lifespan. *Trends Mol Med.* (2011) 17:337–46. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.02.002.
- Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Sunkin SM, Mehler MF, Mattick JS. Specific expression of long noncoding RNAs in the mouse brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2008) 105:716–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706729105
- Ponjavic J, Oliver PL, Lunter G, Ponting CP. Genomic and transcriptional co-localization of protein-coding and long non-coding RNA pairs in the developing brain. *PLoS Genet.* (2009) 5:e1000617. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000617
- Luo H, Sun S, Li P, Bu D, Cao H, Zhao Y. Comprehensive characterization of 10,571 mouse large intergenic noncoding RNAs from whole transcriptome sequencing. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e70835. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0070835
- Barry G, Briggs JA, Vanichkina DP, Poth EM, Beveridge NJ, Ratnu, et al. The long non- coding RNA Gomafu is acutely regulated in response to neuronal activation and involved in schizophrenia-associated alternative splicing. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2014) 19:486–94. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.45.
- Knauss J, Sun T. Regulatory mechanisms of long noncoding RNAs in vertebrate central nervous system development and function. *Neuroscience*. (2013) 235:200–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience
- Briggs JA, Wolvetang EJ, Mattick JS, Rinn JL, Barry G. Mechanisms of long non-coding RNAs in mammalian nervous system development, plasticity, disease, and evolution. *Neuron.* (2015) 88:861–77. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.045
- Quan Z, Zheng D, Qing H. Regulatory roles of long non-coding RNAs in the central nervous system and associated neurodegenerative diseases. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2017) 11:175. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00175
- Ng SY, Bogu GK, Soh BS, Stanton LW. The long noncod- ing RNA RMST interacts with SOX2 to regulate neurogenesis. *Mol Cell.* (2013) 51:349–59. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.07.017
- Lin N, Chang KY, Li Z, Gates K, Rana ZA, Dang J, et al. An evolutionarily conserved long noncoding RNA TUNA controls pluripotency and neural lineage commitment. *Mol Cell.* (2014) 53:1005–19. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.021
- Chalei V, Sansom SN, Kong L, Lee S, Montiel JF, Vance KW, et al. The long non-coding RNA Dali is an epigenetic regulator of neural differentiation. *Elife.* (2014) 3:e04530. doi: 10.7554/eLife.04530
- Vance KW, Sansom SN, Lee S, Chalei V, Kong L, Cooper SE, et al. The long non-coding RNA Paupar regulates the expression of both local and distal genes. *EMBO J.* (2014) 33:296–311. doi: 10.1002/embj.201386225

- Sone M, Hayashi T, Tarui H, Agata K, Takeichi M, Nakagawa S. The mRNAlike noncoding RNA Gomafu constitutes a novel nuclear domain in a subset of neurons. J Cell Sci. (2007) 120 (Pt 15):2498–506. doi: 10.1242/jcs.009357
- 65. Tsuiji H, Yoshimoto R, Hasegawa Y, Furuno M, Yoshida M, Nakagawa S. Competition between a noncoding exon and introns: gomafu contains tandem UACUAAC repeats and associates with splicing factor-1. *Genes Cells.* (2011) 16:479–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2011.01502.x
- Bond AM, Vangompel MJ, Sametsky EA, Clark MF, Savage JC, Disterhoft JF, et al. Balanced gene regulation by an embryonic brain ncRNA is critical for adult hippocampal GABA circuitry. *Nat Neurosci.* (2009) 12:1020–7. doi: 10.1038/nn.2371
- Ramos AD, Andersen RE, Liu SJ, Nowakowski TJ, Hong SJ, Gertz CC, et al. The long noncoding RNA Pnky regulates neuronal differentiation of embryonic and postnatal neural stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2015) 16:439–47. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.007
- Sauvageau M, Goff LA, Lodato S, Bonev B, Groff AF, Gerhardinger C, et al. Multiple knockout mouse models reveal lincRNAs are required for life and brain development. *Elife*. (2013) 2:e01749. doi: 10.7554/eLife.01749.
- Modarresi F, Faghihi MA, Lopez-Toledano MA, Fatemi RP, Magistri M, Brothers SP, et al. Inhibition of natural antisense transcripts *in vivo* results in gene-specific transcriptional upre- gulation. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2012) 30:453–9. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2158.
- Wang H, Iacoangeli A, Popp S, Muslimov IA, Imataka H, Sonenberg N, et al. Dendritic BC1 RNA: functional role in regulation of translation initiation. J Neurosci. (2002) 22:10232–41. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-23-10232.2002
- 71. Zalfa F, Giorgi M, Primerano B, Moro A, Di Penta A, Reis S, et al. The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell.* (2003) 112:317–27. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00079-5
- Zhao X, Tang Z, Zhang H, Atianjoh FE, Zhao JY, Liang L, et al. A long noncoding RNA contributes to neuropathic pain by silencing Kcna2 in primary afferent neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2013) 16:1024–31. doi: 10.1038/nn.3438
- Qureshi IA, Mattick JS, Mehler MF. Long non-coding RNAs in nervous system function and disease. *Brain Res.* (2010) 1338:20–35. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.03.110
- Chen Y, Zhou J. LncRNAs: macromolecules with big roles in neurobiology and neurological diseases. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2017) 32:281–91. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-9965-8
- Schmitt AM, Chang HY. Long noncoding RNAs in cancer pathways. Cancer Cell. (2016) 29:452–463. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.03.010
- Yan X, Hu Z, Feng Y, Hu X, Yuan J, Zhao SD, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization of long non-coding RNAs across human cancers. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:529–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.09.006
- 77. Peng Z, Liu C, Wu M. New insights into long noncoding RNAs and their roles in glioma. *Mol Cancer*. (2018) 17:61. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0812-2
- Katsushima K, Natsume A, Ohka F, Shinjo K, Hatanaka A, Ichimura N, et al. Targeting the notch-regulated non-coding RNA TUG1for glioma treatment. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13616. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13616
- 79. Zhao X, Liu Y, Zheng J, Liu X, Chen J, Liu L, et al. GAS5 suppresses malignancy of human glioma stem cells via a miR-196a-5p/FOXO1 feedback loop. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2017) 1864:1605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.06.020
- Yao Y, Ma J, Xue Y, Wang P, Li Z, Liu J, et al. Knockdown of long non-coding RNA XIST exerts tumor-suppressive functions in human glioblastoma stem cells by up-regulating miR-152. *Cancer Lett.* (2015) 359:75–86. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.
- Chen Q, Cai J, Wang Q, Wang Y, Liu M, Yang J, et al. Long non-coding RNA NEAT1, regulated by the EGFR pathway, contributes to glioblastoma progression through the WNT/beta- catenin pathway by scaffolding EZH2. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:684–95. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0605
- Zhang K, Sun X, Zhou X, Han L, Chen L, Shi Z, et al. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR promotes glioblastoma cell cycle progression in an EZH2 dependent manner. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:537–46. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2681
- Deguchi S, Katsushima K, Hatanaka A, Shinjo K, Ohka F, Wakabayashi T, et al. Oncogenic effects of evolutionarily conserved noncoding

RNA ECONEXIN on gliomagenesis. Oncogene. (2017) 36:4629-40. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.88.

- Teng H, Wang P, Xue Y, Liu X, Ma J, Cai H, et al. Role of HCP5-miR-139-RUNX1 feedback loop in regulating malignant behavior of glioma cells. *Mol Ther.* (2016) 24:1806–22. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.103
- Lanzkowsky P. Chapter 24: Neuroblastoma. In: Lanzkowsky P, Lipton J, Fish J, editors. *Manual of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology*., 6th ed. Academic Press (2016) p. 1054–8.
- Pandey GK, Kanduri C. Long noncoding RNAs and neuroblastoma. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:18265–75. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4251
- Pandey GK, Mitra S, Subhash S, Hertwig F, Kanduri M, Mishra K, et al. The risk-associated long noncoding RNA NBAT-1 controls neuroblastoma progression by regulating cell proliferation and neuronal differentiation. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 26:722–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.014
- Buechner J, Einvik C. N-myc and noncoding RNAs in neuroblastoma. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2012) 10:1243–53. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-12-0244
- Castelnuovo M, Massone S, Tasso R, Fiorino G, Gatti M, Robello M, et al. An Alu-like RNA promotes cell differentiation and reduces malignancy of human neuroblastoma cells. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4033–46. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-157032
- Liu PY, Erriquez D, Marshall GM, Tee AE, Polly P, Wong M, et al. Effects of a novel long noncoding RNA, lncUSMycN, on N-Myc expression and neuroblastoma progression. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2014) 106:dju113. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju113
- 91. Atmadibrata B, Liu PY, Sokolowski N, Zhang L, Wong M, Tee AE, et al. The novel long noncoding RNA linc00467 promotes cell survival but is down-regulated by N-Myc. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e88112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088112
- Scaruffi P, Stigliani S, Moretti S, Coco S, De Vecchi C, Valdora F, et al. Transcribed-ultra conserved region expression is associated with outcome in high-risk neuroblastoma. *BMC Cancer.* (2009) 9:441. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-441
- Chen YD, Zhang N, Qiu XG, Yuan J, Yang M. LncRNA CDKN2BAS rs2157719 genetic variant contributes to medulloblastoma predisposition. J Gene Med. (2018) 20:e300. doi: 10.1002/jgm.3000
- Xu C, Qi R, Ping Y, Li J, Zhao H, Wang L, et al. Systemically identifying and prioritizing risk lncRNAs through integration of pan-cancer phenotype associations. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:12041–51. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14510
- Shtivelman E, Bishop JM. The PVT gene frequently amplifies with MYC in tumor cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1989) 9:1148–54. doi: 10.1128/MCB.9.3.1148
- Carramusa L, Contino F, Ferro A, Minafra L, Perconti G, Giallongo A, et al. The PVT-1 oncogene is a Myc protein target that is overexpressed in transformed cells. J Cell Physiol. (2007) 213:511–8. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21133
- Xiao C, Wu CH, Hu HZ. LncRNA UCA1 promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of breast cancer cells via enhancing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2016) 20:2819–24.
- Graham LD, Pedersen SK, Brown GS, Ho T, Kassir Z, Moynhian AT, et al. Colorectal neoplasia differentially expressed (CRNDE), a novel gene with elevated expression in colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. *Genes Cancer.* (2011) 2:829–40. doi: 10.1177/1947601911431081
- Cabili MN, Trapnell C, Goff L, Koziol M, Tazon-Vega B, Regev A, et al. Integrative annotation of human large intergenic noncoding RNAs reveals global properties and specific subclasses. *Genes Dev.* (2011) 25:1915–27. doi: 10.1101/gad.17446611
- 100. Zhengyuan X, Hu X, Qiang W, Nanxiang L, Junbin C, Wangming Z. Silencing of urothelial carcinoma associated 1 inhibits the proliferation and migration of medulloblastoma cells. *Med Sci Monit.* (2017) 23:4454–61. doi: 10.12659/MSM.904675
- 101. Song H, Han LM, Gao Q, Sun Y. Long non-coding RNA CRNDE promotes tumor growth in medulloblastoma. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2016) 20:2588–97. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201712_13925
- 102. Rinn JL, Kertesz M, Wang JK, Squazzo SL, Xu X, Brugmann SA, et al. Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell.* (2007) 129:1311–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.022
- 103. Chakravadhanula M, Ozols VV, Hampton CN, Zhou L, Catchpoole D, Bhardwaj RD. Expression of the HOX genes and HOTAIR in atypical teratoid

rhabdoid tumors and other pediatric brain tumors. Cancer Genet. (2014) 207:425-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cancergen.2014.05.014

- 104. Nissan A, Stojadinovic A, Mitrani-Rosenbaum S, Halle D, Grinbaum R, Roistacher M, et al. Colon cancer associated transcript-1: a novel RNA expressed in malignant and pre-malignant human tissues. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 130:1598–606. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26170
- 105. Chen J, Zhang K, Song H, Wang R, Chu X, Chen L. Long noncoding RNA CCAT1 acts as an oncogene and promotes chemoresistance in docetaxel-resistant lung adenocarcinoma cells. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:62474– 89. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11518
- 106. Ma X, Sheng S, Wu J, Jiang Y, Gao X, Cen X, et al. LncRNAs as an intermediate in HPV16 promoting myeloid-derived suppressor cell recruitment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:42061–75. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14939
- 107. Zhang E, Han L, Yin D, He X, Hong L, Si X, et al. H3K27 acetylation activated-long non-coding RNA CCAT1 affects cell proliferation and migration by regulating SPRY4 and HOXB13 expression in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2017) 45:3086–101. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw1247
- Gao R, Zhang R, Zhang C, Zhao L, Zhang Y. Long noncoding RNA CCAT1 promotes cell proliferation and metastasis in human medulloblastoma via MAPK pathway. *Tumori J.* (2018) 104:43–50. doi: 10.5301/tj.5000662
- 109. Chen L, Wang W, Cao L, Li Z, Wang X. Long non-coding RNA CCAT1 acts as a competing endogenous RNA to regulate cell growth and differentiation in acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol Cells.* (2016) 39:330–6. doi: 10.14348/molcells.2016.2308
- 110. Wang ZH, Guo XQ, Zhang QS, Zhang JL, Duan YL, Li GF, et al. Long non-coding RNA CCAT1 promotes glioma cell proliferation via inhibiting microRNA-410. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 480:715– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.10.047
- 111. Zhou B, Wang Y, Jiang J, Jiang H, Song J, Han T, et al. The long noncoding RNA colon cancer-associated transcript-1/miR-490 axis regulates gastric cancer cell migration by targeting hnRNPA1. *IUBMB Life*. (2016) 68:201–10. doi: 10.1002/iub.1474
- 112. Pasmant E, Laurendeau I, Héron D, Vidaud M, Vidaud D, Bièche I. Characterization of a germ-line deletion, including the entire INK4/ARF locus, in a melanoma-neural system tumor family: identification of ANRIL, an antisense noncoding RNA whose expression coclusters with ARF. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:3963–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2004
- 113. Kotake Y, Nakagawa T, Kitagawa K, Suzuki S, Liu N, Kitagawa M, et al. Long non-coding RNA ANRIL is required for the PRC2 recruitment to and silencing of p15INK4B tumor suppressor gene. *Oncogene*. (2011) 30:1956– 62. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.568
- 114. Yap KL, Li S, Muñoz-Cabello AM, Raguz S, Zeng L, Mujtaba S, et al. Molecular interplay of the noncoding RNA ANRIL and methylated histone H3 lysine 27 by polycomb CBX7 in transcriptional silencing of INK4a. *Mol Cell*. (2010) 38:662–74. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.03.021
- 115. Zhang H, Wang X, Chen X. Potential role of long non-coding RNA ANRIL in pediatric medulloblastoma through promotion on proliferation and migration by targeting miR-323. J Cell Biochem. (2017) 118:4735–44. doi: 10.1002/jcb.26141
- 116. Kim J, Krichevsky A, Grad Y, Hayes GD, Kosik KS, Church GM, et al. Identification of many microRNAs that copurify with polyribosomes in mammalian neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:360–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2333854100
- 117. Lavon I, Zrihan D, Granit A, Einstein O, Fainstein N, Cohen MA, et al. Gliomas display a microRNA expression profile reminiscent of neural precursor cells. *Neuro Oncol.* (2010) 12:422–33. doi: 10.1093/neu onc/nop061
- 118. Qiu S, Lin S, Hu D, Feng Y, Tan Y, Peng Y. Interactions of miR-323/miR-326/miR-329 and miR-130a/miR-155/miR-210 as prognostic indicators for clinical outcome of glioblastoma patients. J Transl Med. (2013) 11:10. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-10
- Yang L, Xiong Y, Hu XF, Du YH. MicroRNA-323 regulates ischemia/ reperfusion injury-induced neuronal cell death by targeting BRI3. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2015) 8:10725–33.
- 120. Vidal R, Calero M, Révész T, Plant G, Ghiso J, Frangione B. Sequence, genomic structure and tissue expression of Human

BRI3, a member of the BRI gene family. *Gene.* (2001) 266:95-102. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(01)00374-2

- 121. Guldal CG, Ahmad A, Korshunov A, Squatrito M, Awan A, Mainwaring LA, et al. An essential role for p38 MAPK in cerebellar granule neuron precursor proliferation. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2012) 123:573–86. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0946-z
- 122. Włodarski P, Grajkowska W, Łojek M, Rainko K, Józwiak J. Activation of Akt and Erk pathways in medulloblastoma. *Folia Neuropathol.* (2006) 44:214–20.
- 123. Snyder EY, Deitcher DL, Walsh C, Arnold-Aldea S, Hartwieg EA, Cepko CL. Multipotent neural cell lines can engraft and participate in development of mouse cerebellum. *Cell.* (1992) 68:33–51. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90204-P
- 124. Hauser MA, Aboobakar IF, Liu Y, Miura S, Whigham BT, Challa P, et al. Genetic variants and cellular stressors associated with exfoliation syndrome modulate promoter activity of a lncRNA within the LOXL1 locus. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2015) 24:6552–63. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv347
- 125. Gao R, Zhang R, Zhang C, Liang W, Tang W. LncRNA LOXL1-AS1 promotes the proliferation and metastasis of medulloblastoma by activating the PI3K/AKT pathway. *Anal Cell Pathol.* (2018) 2018:9275685. doi: 10.1155/2018/9275685.
- 126. Bevilacqua V, Gioia U, Di Carlo V, Tortorelli AF, Colombo T, Bozzoni I, et al. Identification of linc-NeD125, a novel long non coding RNA that hosts miR-125b-1 and negatively controls proliferation of human neuroblastoma cells. *RNA Biol.* (2015) 12:1323–37. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2015.1096488
- 127. Smirnova L, Gräfe A, Seiler A, Schumacher S, Nitsch R, Wulczyn FG. Regulation of miRNA expression during neural cell specification. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2005) 21:1469–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03978.x
- Boissart C, Nissan X, Giraud-Triboult K, Peschanski M, Benchoua A. MiR-125 potentiates early neural specification of human embryonic stem cells. *Development*. (2012) 139:1247–57. doi: 10.1242/dev.073627
- 129. Akerblom M, Petri R, Sachdeva R, Klussendorf T, Mattsson B, Gentner B, et al. MicroRNA-125 distinguishes developmentally generated and adult-born olfactory bulb interneurons. *Development.* (2014) 141:1580–8. doi: 10.1242/dev.101659
- 130. Laneve P, Di Marcotullio L, Gioia U, Fiori ME, Ferretti E, Gulino A, et al. The interplay between microRNAs and the neurotrophin receptor tropomyosinrelated kinase C controls proliferation of human neuroblastoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:7957–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700 071104
- Ferretti E, De Smaele E, Po A, Di Marcotullio L, Tosi E, Espinola MS, et al. MicroRNA profiling in human medulloblastoma. *Int J Cancer.* (2009) 124:568–77. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23948
- 132. Zhang Y, Wang T, Wang S, Xiong Y, Zhang R, Zhang X, et al. Nkx2-2as suppression contributes to the pathogenesis of Sonic hedgehog medulloblastoma. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:962–73. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1631.
- Russell MD, Young AM, Karri SK. Biomarkers of pediatric brain tumors. Front Pediatr. (2013) 1:7. doi: 10.3389/fped.2013.00007
- Iyer MK, Niknafs YS, Malik R, Singhal U, Sahu A, Hosono Y, et al. The landscape of long noncoding RNAs in the human transcriptome. *Nat Genet*. (2015) 47:199–208. doi: 10.1038/ng.3192
- Kristensen LS, Hansen TB, Venø MT, Kjems J. Circular RNAs in cancer: opportunities and challenges in the field. *Oncogene*. (2018) 37:555–65. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.361

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with the authors PL and EC.

Copyright © 2019 Laneve, Rea and Caffarelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Direct Involvement of Cranial Nerve V at Diagnosis in Patients With Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: A Potential Magnetic Resonance Predictor of Short-Term Survival

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zoltan Patay, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Jason Fangusaro, Emory University School of Medicine, United States Jaume Mora, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu Barcelona, Spain

*Correspondence:

Giovanna Stefania Colafati gstefania.colafati@opbg.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and are listed as co-authors

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 18 October 2018 Accepted: 11 March 2019 Published: 04 April 2019

Citation:

Colafati GS, Voicu IP, Carducci C, Caulo M, Vinci M, Diomedi-Camassei F, Merli P, Carai A, Miele E, Cacchione A, Tomà P, Locatelli F and Mastronuzzi A (2019) Direct Involvement of Cranial Nerve V at Diagnosis in Patients With Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: A Potential Magnetic Resonance Predictor of Short-Term Survival. Front. Oncol. 9:204. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00204 ¹ Department of Imaging, Neuroradiology Unit, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Onco-haematology, Cell and Gene Therapy, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Neuroscience and Imaging, ITAB-Institute of Advanced Biomedical Technologies, University G. d'Annunzio, Chieti, Italy, ⁴ Pathology Unit, Department of Laboratories, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Radiology

Giovanna Stefania Colafati^{1*†}, Ioan Paul Voicu^{1,2†}, Chiara Carducci¹, Massimo Caulo³,

Antonella Cacchione², Paolo Tomà⁶, Franco Locatelli² and Angela Mastronuzzi²

Unit, Department of Imaging, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

Maria Vinci², Francesca Diomedi-Camassei⁴, Pietro Merli², Andrea Carai⁵, Evelina Miele²,

Background: Diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG) has a dismal prognosis. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) remains the gold standard for non-invasive DIPG diagnosis. MRI features have been tested as surrogate biomarkers. We investigated the direct involvement of cranial nerve V (CN V) in DIPG at diagnosis and its utility as predictor of poor overall survival.

Materials and Methods: We examined MRI scans of 35 consecutive patients with radiological diagnosis of DIPG. Direct involvement of CN V was assessed on the diagnostic scans. Differences in overall survival (OS) and time to progression (TTP) were analyzed for involvement of CN V, sex, age, tumor size, ring enhancement, and treatment regimen. Correlations between involvement of CN V and disease dissemination, magnet strength and slice thickness were analyzed. Statistical analyses included Kaplan-Meier curves, log-rank test and Spearman's Rho.

Results: After excluding six long-term survivors, 29 patients were examined (15 M, 14 F). Four patients presented direct involvement of CN V. Histological data were available in 12 patients. Median OS was 11 months (range 3–23 months). Significant differences in OS were found for direct involvement of CN V (median OS: 7 months, 95% Cl 1.1–12.9 months for involvement of CN V vs. 13 months, 95% Cl 10.2–15.7 for lack of involvement of CN V, respectively, p < 0.049). Significant differences in TTP were found for the two treatment regimens (median TTP: 4 months, 95% Cl 2.6–5.3 vs. 7 months, 95% Cl 5.9–8.1, respectively, p < 0.027). No significant correlation was found between involvement of CN V and magnet strength or slice thickness (r = -0.201; p = NS). A trend toward positive correlation was found between direct involvement of CN V at diagnosis and dissemination of disease at follow-up (r = 0.347; p < 0.065).

62

Conclusions: In our cohort, direct involvement of CN V correlated with poor prognosis. Based on our data, we suggest that in DIPG direct involvement of CN V should be routinely evaluated on diagnostic scans.

Keywords: child, MRI, DIPG = diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma, cranial nerves, biomarkers

INTRODUCTION

Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma (DIPG) remains the pediatric brain tumor with the worst prognosis (1). Despite recent advances in detailing the biology of DIPG (2), <5% of affected children survive at 3 years irrespective of histological grading and median overall survival (OS) from diagnosis is 9–12 months (3).

The most common clinical features include cranial nerve palsy, ataxia, and long tract signs.

MRI is the gold standard non-invasive method for DIPG diagnosis (4, 5) based on both major and minor diagnostic criteria (6–8) in the context of a typical clinical presentation. Typical MRI findings consist of a large expansive pontine lesion that is hypointense or isointense on T1 weighted (T1w) imaging, hyperintense on T2 weighted (T2w) and fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) imaging, and of variable enhancement with gadolinium contrast agent (4).

Conventional and advanced MRI parameters (3, 9-16) have been tested in different studies in an effort to predict survival at the time of diagnosis. Ring contrast enhancement has been suggested to inversely correlate to OS (17).

Direct cranial nerve involvement in brainstem gliomas has been suggested to represent an extra-axial extension of the tumor. This feature seems to be related to glial cells extending from cranial nerve nuclei to the root entry zone (18–20). Cranial nerves V, VII and VIII have been described to be predominantly involved, but no correlation to tumor grade has been demonstrated.

In the present study we describe the direct involvement of CN V at diagnosis in patients with DIPG in a consecutive single institution series and correlate this imaging feature with clinical variables to test its value as prognostic biomarker.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

The Institutional Review Board approved this research waiving the need for informed consent from patients or their parents/legal guardians for this specific retrospective analysis. The study was conducted in agreement with the principles contained in the Declaration of Helsinki.

We collected data from 35 consecutive patients diagnosed with DIPG in our Institution, who underwent MRI from 1st January 2003 to 1st February 2018. Diagnosis was based on clinical and radiological criteria consistent with DIPG (6, 7).

Patients with either, radiological findings inconsistent with DIPG, and/or a diagnosis of neurofibromatosis, and/or diagnostic exams which did not include the entire neuraxis were excluded. Patients with an overall survival longer than 24 months were not included in the survival analysis, although their characteristics were reported in detail.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MR examinations were performed on a 3 Tesla (3 T) magnet (Siemens Magnetom Skyra, Erlangen, Germany) or on a 1.5 Tesla (1.5 T) magnet (Siemens Magnetom Vision Plus, Erlangen, Germany). All patients underwent at least T1w sagittal, T1w and T2w axial sequences, FLAIR, T2w coronal and diffusion (DWI) sequences. These sequences were used for image analysis. Two different acquisition protocols were implemented on the two scanners. Slice thickness of the acquired sequences was 4 mm on the 1.5 T magnet and 3 mm on the 3 T magnet. All patients received scan of the entire neuraxis. A contrast medium agent was used in all studies. Patients deemed unable to cooperate for age-related and/or clinical status-related reasons were imaged under general anesthesia.

For each patient, radiological and clinical data were collected. In order to reduce the possibility of an interpretation bias, patient scans were first anonymized and then transferred to a separate workstation.

Two expert neuroradiologists from different institutions, both with 20 years of experience, reviewed patient scans in consensus to collect radiological data. This method was used for all MRI analyses unless otherwise specified.

The radiological criteria for DIPG diagnosis (T1 hypointense and T2 hyperintense lesions with poorly defined margins involving more than 50% of the pons) were first assessed.

Diagnostic scans were then reviewed to investigate direct involvement of CN V by the tumor. Direct involvement of CN V was defined by the thickening and/or abnormal signal intensity involving the root entry zone and the proximal cisternal course of the cranial nerve, contiguous with the tumor, visible on at least two sequences (**Figure 1**). The absence of contrast enhancement did not exclude the diagnosis of involvement of CN V. Exclusion of leptomeningeal spread was deemed necessary to confirm the diagnosis of direct involvement of CN V. Leptomeningeal spread was defined as the region of pathologic contrast enhancement consistent with disease localization confined in any region of the neuraxis and not contiguous with the tumor.

In order to investigate if in our cohort other MRI features could affect patient survival we collected other two known potential MRI surrogate biomarkers: tumor size and ring enhancement.

Tumor size was defined as the product of the longest perpendicular diameters of the tumor, measured on an axial plane on FLAIR sequences. This method has been evaluated to assess tumor response to therapy (21) and has been debated in literature



FIGURE 1 | MRI diagnosis of direct involvement of CN V by DIPG in a 4-years-old boy. Axial TSE T2 (A), para-axial reformatted T1 post-contrast (B,C), coronal TSE T2 (D) and para-sagittal reformatted T1 images (E,F) show thickening of the left CN V causing filling of the left Meckel cave, consistent with direct cranial nerve involvement from the tumor (A–E, white arrows). The pathologic thickening of the left CN V is associated with contrast enhancement (B,C, white arrows). Pathologic thickening of CN V is better delineated when comparing it with the contralateral normal V cranial nerve (F, arrows).

(22). The presence of ring enhancement was assessed on T1 post-contrast images.

For each patient, all follow-up scans were evaluated for the presence of involvement of CN V and dissemination of the disease. All patients underwent a fixed follow-up protocol. Controls at follow-up were performed 30 days after radiotherapy, and thereafter every 3 months, unless new symptoms occurred.

Since both a 1.5 Tesla magnet and a 3 Tesla magnet were employed in our study with two different protocols, potential correlations between the involvement of CN V with the magnet strength and with slice thickness were also analyzed.

An experienced neuro-oncologist blinded to image analysis collected clinical data. The neuroradiologists were blinded to the results of clinical data collection.

Statistical Analysis

Quantitative variables were reported as median value and ranges, while categorical variables were expressed as absolute values and percentages.

Overall survival (OS) was defined as the length of time from the date of diagnosis to the date of death or last followup. Time to progression (TTP) was defined as the length of time from the date of diagnosis until disease progression. Tumor progression was defined as radiological progression, associated with worsening of pre-existing symptoms or the appearance of new symptoms. Radiological progression was defined as an increase >25% in tumor size, based on the RAPNO criteria (21), and/or metastatic progression of the disease. Metastatic progression was defined as new distant signal alterations and/or leptomeningeal enhancement, consistent with disease. Probability of OS and TTP were calculated according to the Kaplan and Meier method (23) and expressed as median OS and median TTP, respectively. All results were expressed as probability or cumulative incidence (%) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI).

Differences in OS and TTP were estimated with the logrank test (Mantel–Cox). Direct cranial nerve involvement at diagnosis, the presence of ring enhancement and sex were used as categorical variables. Tumor size and patient age were stratified for values superior and inferior to their median values.

Spearman's rho was used to evaluate the relationship between the involvement of CN V at diagnosis with the magnet strength, and the slice thickness, as well as with the tumor dissemination at follow-up.

P-values < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant; *p*-values between 0.05 and 0.1 were not considered statistically significant but were reported in detail in the text; *p*-values \geq 0.1 were reported as non-significant (NS).

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS statistics (version 20). Survival analysis used 31/08/2018 as reference date.

RESULTS

For this study, we initially considered 35 patients radiologically diagnosed with DIPG. Six patients presented an OS of more than 24 months and were not included in the survival analysis, but their characteristics were reported in detail. Clinical, radiological and histological characteristics of long-term survivors are shown in **Table 1**.





The final cohort consisted of 29 patients: clinical, radiological and histological data are shown in **Table 2**. Among them, there were 15 boys (M = 51.7%) and 14 girls (F = 48.3%). Median age at diagnosis was 5.7 years (range 2.5–14.4). Histological confirmation was also obtained in a subgroup of 12 patients, as since December 2015 robot-assisted trans-frontal stereotactic needle biopsy has routinely been proposed at diagnosis to patients with DIPG referred to our Institution (24). All patients undergoing histological confirmation presented a H3K27M mutation. Before 2011, all patients received first-line radiation and chemotherapy according to the Stupp protocol (25). After 2011, all patients received first-line treatment with radiation, Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine (26).

Ring enhancement was present in nine patients (3 M; 31%) of the cohort). Median tumor size at diagnosis was 1,736 mm² (range 850–2,552 mm²).

Direct trigeminal nerve involvement at diagnosis was found in four patients (3 M, 1 F, 13.8% of the cohort, **Figure 2**). Two of them (50%) did not show contrast enhancement. Median age at diagnosis in the subgroup with CN V involvement was 4.8 years (range 3–5.6).

In two cases (50%), direct involvement of CN V was also confirmed at follow-up. In one of these children trigeminal nerve involvement was bilateral (**Figure 3**).

Dissemination at follow-up was observed in five patients (17.2%) of the general cohort, two of them belonging to the direct CN V involvement group. At follow-up, one of the two patients with involvement of CN V (50%) also presented dissemination (50%).

Median OS in our cohort was 11 months (range 3–23 months). Median TTP was 7 months (range 2–18 months).

Log-rank test revealed significant differences in OS between the group with direct involvement of CN V (median OS: 7 months, 95% CI 1.1–12.9 months) and the group without (median OS: 13 months, 95% CI 10.2–15.7; p < 0.049, **Figure 4**). No significant differences in OS were found in relation to ring enhancement, tumor size, treatment protocol, age, and sex (p = NS).

tient	Sex	Patient Sex V cranial nerve ID involvement	Status	Tumor size	Ring enhancement	Treatment	Histological diagnosis	Age at diagnosis	Progression	Time to progression	Dissemination at follow up	Overall survival
	ш	Yes	DOD	2,035	No	ш	Low grade astrocytoma, H3K27 wild type	104	Yes	2	Yes	32
	Σ	No	DOD	1,564	No	В	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27 mutant	79	Yes	თ	No	27
	Σ	No	AWD	2,070	Yes	В	Pilocytic astrocytoma	24	Yes	63	No	68
	Σ	No	AWD	2,296	No	A	Not available	45	No	183	No	183
26	ш	No	DOD	1,692	No	В	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27 mutant	46	Yes	13	No	25
28	Σ	No	DOD	1,800	No	A	Not available	42	Yes	9	No	31

with radiotherapy. Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine (B); Histological diagnosis, available histological diagnosis, according to the WHO 2016 classification; Age at diagnosis, expressed in months; Progression, the presence

(yes) or absence (no) of clinical and/or radiological signs of disease progression; Time to progression, the length of time from the date of diagnosis of DIPG until the radiological and/or clinical progression of the disease,

survival expressed in .

overall

survival,

Overall :

follow-up scans;

(no) on the

distant localization of the tumor present (yes) or absent

follow-up,

Dissemination at

months;

expressed in

Sex, age at diagnosis, tumor size at diagnosis, ring

Trigeminal Nerve Involvement in DIPG

= NS). A trend toward a positive correlation was found between direct involvement of CN V at diagnosis and dissemination of disease at follow-up (r = 0.347; p < 0.065).

diagnosis with magnet strength (p = NS) and slice thickness (p

DISCUSSION

In this study we investigated the MRI finding of direct involvement of CN V at diagnosis as a potential biomarker for short-term progression in patients with DIPG. CN V involvement was significantly associated to a shorter OS (Figure 4).

To our best knowledge, there are no studies in the literature specifically focusing on the direct involvement of CN V in DIPG. The reasons for this may be mainly due to the difficulty to objectively assess the direct nerve involvement and the limited available information about the clinical impact of such finding. Due to their anatomical location, DIPGs present a very high probability of direct cranial nerve infiltration. From a clinical standpoint, in these patients cranial nerve palsies are a common manifestation of the disease. However, clinical examination may not be predictive of direct cranial nerve extension of the tumor. Therefore, radiological evaluation could prove valuable were cranial nerve involvement a clinically significant variable in children with DIPG.

We hypothesized that direct involvement of CN V would be more frequent in tumors with a higher propensity to infiltrate and, possibly, to disseminate at follow-up. Since the majority of DIPG show local progression, being able to identify a subgroup of patients with a higher dissemination risk at follow-up may lead to different tailored treatment strategies, i.e., craniospinal radiation.

In our study, patients with direct CN V involvement at diagnosis showed a shorter sOS (7 vs. 13 months, p < 0.049) and a higher rate of tumor dissemination at follow-up (r = 0.347, p < 0.065). Although the small number of patients represents a considerable limit to our analysis, we believe these promising results are worthy of further investigation.

In principle, it is possible that other cranial nerves, such as the VII-VIII, could be infiltrated in patients with DIPG. It has to be considered, though, that due to the characteristics of DIPG it may be difficult to distinguish between nerve involvement and tumor bulging at that level. Therefore, we decided to focus only on the involvement of CN V, where the finding was deemed unequivocal. Our findings (four patients with involvement of CN V, 13.7% of our cohort) suggest that direct involvement of CN V may not be so rare in patients with DIPG (Figures 1–3).

or
Ċ
00
our
o mo
fre
ЪG
B
ith
Š
nts
Φ
pati
Φ
÷
of
ics
isti
ter
g
Jar
ò
cal
ġ
엉
list
ЧÞ
anc
ज
<u>o</u>
g
loi
radi
a, -
nice
ij
_
Ы
AB
F

Patient Sex ID ⊠ ∩ ⊠ ⊠ ⊠	Status	Age at	Treatment Available	Available		Time to	Overall		CN <	Tumor	Ring	Dissemination	Scanner	Slice
ΣΣ		diagnosis		histology	diagnosis	progression	survival	diagnosis		size	enhancement	at follow up		thickness
Σ	DOD	81	В	No	n/a	14	18	No	ou	2,000	No	Yes	ЗТ	3 mm
	DOD	54	A	No	n/a	0	4	Yes	Yes	1,768	No	Yes	ЗT	3 mm
Σ	DOD	100	∢	No	n/a	ო	Q	No	No	1,116	No	No	1.5T	4 mm
ш	DOD	57	A	No	n/a	ო	10	No	No	851	No	No	1.5T	4 mm
ш	DOD	112	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma,	11	20	No	No	1,845	Yes	No	ЗT	3 mm
		ĩ	<		H3NZ/INI MULANI 	c	1						H L T	
Σ	non	۲ <u>۵</u>	A	No	n/a	n	,	Yes	No	1,925	No	NO	1 G. L	4 mm
Σ	DOD	154	в	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	2	Ø	No	No	666	No	No	3Т	3 mm
	DOD	61	В	No	n/a	თ	13	No	No	1,344	No	No	ЗT	3 mm
10 F	LAF	166	В	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma,	9	9	No	No	1,000	No	No	3T	3 mm
					H3K27M mutant									
11 F	DOD	49	В	No	n/a	7	14	No	No	1,739	No	No	ЗT	3 mm
ш	DOD	50	A	No	n/a	7	13	No	No	1,344	No	No	1.5T	4 mm
Σ	DOD	76	A	No	n/a	ω	10	No	No	1,462	Yes	No	1.5T	4 mm
Σ	DOD	51	В	No	n/a	Q	Ø	No	No	1,152	No	Yes	ЗT	3 mm
	DOD	81	A	No	n/a	7	16	No	No	2,552	No	Yes	1.5T	4 mm
	DOD	46	В	No	n/a	ო	7	No	No	2,160	No	No	ЗT	3 mm
ш	DOD	36	A	No	n/a	4	10	Yes	Yes	1,764	Yes	No	1.5T	4 mm
	DOD	49	В	No	n/a	0	ო	No	No	1,161	No	No	ЗT	3 mm
21 M	DOD	72	В	No	n/a	Ø	7	No	No	2,262	Yes	No	ЗT	3 mm
	DOD	81	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	7	o	No	No	850	No	No	3Т	3 mm
		51	Ø	QN	n/a	V	20	QZ		1 800	Vac	NO	1 5 T	4 mm
- W		17.3	([]		n/a	r aa	03 CF			1 364	No No		- L C	
		0 1 0	ם מ	No.) 0	iç	Vec				Vec.	- +) c	
		10	۵	162	Ulliuse Illiulire gliorita, H3K27M mutant	0	<u>v</u>	B	ON	1,024	ON O	L C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	0	
29 F	DOD	68	В	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	ω	11	No	No	1,102	Yes	No	ЗТ	3 mm
30 M	AWD	73	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	QJ	15	No	No	1,736	Yes	No	3Т	3 mm
31 F	DOD	79	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	С	15	No	No	1,575	No	No	3T	3 mm
32 M	DOD	65	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma,	9	13	No	No	2,200	Yes	No	3Т	3 mm
			C		H3K27M mutant	C	0					-	ł	c
۲. ۲	AWU	-	n	Yes	Ulituse mialine glioma, H3K27M mutant	٥	5	0N	0N	B10,1	Yes	NO	- n	EE
34 F	AWD	30	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	18	18	No	No	1,980	No	No	ЗΤ	3 mm
35 M	DOD	72	Ш	Yes	Diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant	7	Ø	No	No	1,833	No	No	3Т	3 mm
patient numt 9 of treatment *tological diag	ber; sex, r t with radi mosis, dif.	nale (M) or fe. otherapy anc fuse midline <u>c</u>	ID, patient number, sex, male (M) or female (F); Status, patient outcome inclusion of treatment with radiotherapy and Temozolomide (A) or with radiotherap Histological diagnosis, diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant, according to	s, patient outcc e (A) or with rai M mutant, acci	ID, patient number, sex, male (M) or female (F); Status, patient outcome including alive with disease (AVD), dead of disease (DOD) or lost at follow-up (LAF); Age at diagnosis, age at diagnosis expressed in months; Treatment, patient finst line of treatment with radiotherapy and Temozolomide (A) or with radiotherapy, Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine (B); Available histology, available (yes) or non-available (no) histological diagnosis, according to the WHO 2016 classification; Histological diagnosis, diffuse midline glioma, H3K27M mutant, according to the WHO 2016 or n/a, not available, Time to progression, the length of time from the date of diagnosis of DIPG until the radiological and/or clinical progression	aase (AWD), dead c and Vinorelbine (B); 'n/a, not available;	of disease (L : Available h Time to pro	DOD) or lost at istology, avail: gression, the i	t follow-up (LAF); able (yes) or non length of time frc	: Age at dia available (r om the date	gnosis, age at diagn 10) histological diagn 10 diagnosis of DIP	Jing alive with disease (AWD), dead of disease (DOD) or lost at follow-up (LAF); Age at diagnosis, age at diagnosis expressed in months; Treatment, patient first y, Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine (B); Available histology, available (yes) or non-available (no) histological diagnosis, according to the WHO 2016 classification; the WHO 2016 or n/a, not available; Time to progression, the length of time from the date of diagnosis of DIPG until the radiological and/or clinical progression	nths; Treatmer e WHO 2016 I and/or clinic	nt, patient firs classification al progressior
the disease, € follow-up pres	expressec sent (ves)	l in months; (or absent (n	Overall survival, 10): Tumor size,	overall survive tumor size ext	of the disease, expressed in months; Overall survival expressed in months; CN V diagnosis, direct cranial nerve V involvement at diagnosis present (yes) or absent (no); CN V follow-up, direct cranial nerve V involvement at follow-up present (yes) or absent (no); Tumor size expressed in mm ² ; fing enhancement, ring enhancement present (yes) or absent (no) at diagnosis; Dissemination at follow-up, distant localization of the tumor present at follow-up.	I V diagnosis, direc ancement, ring enh	t cranial nei nancement µ	ve V involven present (ves) u	nent at diagnosis or absent (no) at	s present (y. ' diagnosis;	es) or absent (no); C Dissemination at fo	NV follow-up, direct c llow-up, distant localiz	cranial nerve	V involvemer umor preser
ioliow-up pre s) or absent (r	no) on the	e follow-up su	ruj, turriui size, cans: Scanner,	magnet streng	ar iorow-up present (yes) or absent (no), runtor size, turnor size expressed as 3 Testa (3.1 or 1.5 Testa (1.5 Ti: Slice thickness, slice thickness of the securences contained in the imaging proposal, respectively. 3 millimeters (3 mm)	ancenieni, ring enr ? T) or 1.5 Tesla (1.5	5 Th: Slice th	ureserii (yes) - nickness slice	or auseric (nu) au thickness of the	r ulayi lusis; seri lenres	· unsertimentation at io	inow-up, uistarit localiz	כמווסנו סו ונופ י	nirior prese

67





Since CN V is a small structure (the nerve has a caliber of <3 millimeters), spatial resolution of the diagnostic images is important. For this reason, it is possible that magnet strength and/or the slice thickness may influence the detection rate of CN V involvement, and that high-resolution images obtained from 3 T magnets could allow higher detection rates. In our cohort, however, we found no significant correlation between the diagnosis of CN V involvement and magnet strength (r = -0.201, p = NS) or slice thickness (r = -0.201, p = NS).

Follow-up scans in our cohort revealed direct involvement of CN V in two of four cases (**Table 2**). Interestingly, one of the two patients with CN V involvement at follow-up also presented leptomeningeal spread of the disease (50%). Although our population is small, these findings seem consistent with our hypothesis that CN V involvement is more frequent in tumors with a higher propensity to disseminate at follow-up. However, when assessing the predictive value of direct involvement of CN V, different factors should be taken into account, mainly therapyrelated tumor changes, and the low number of observed patients with involvement of CN V, which limited further analyses.

Other MRI parameters have been tested for survival prediction (9-14, 17). Among different MRI and clinical features, we analyzed if tumor size, ring enhancement, age, and sex influenced OS in our cohort. Utility of calculating tumor size was debated. Some authors have emphasized the relevance of inter-observer variability (27) and stressed the importance of reproducibility of the measures and single reader measurement of tumor size on DIPG scans. In our cohort, greater tumor size at diagnosis did not modify overall survival, which is consistent with the findings in the literature (15, 16). Some authors have also tested and found a discrepancy between longitudinal volumetric measures and metabolic evolution of the tumor measured by spectroscopy, the latter being better suited to response assessment strategies (28). Ring contrast enhancement has shown a negative correlation with OS in a large retrospective study (17). In our cohort, a trend toward shorter OS for patients without ring enhancement was observed (p < 0.78). The reasons behind this result may be due to our small sample size. In the same study age <3 years was correlated to a longer OS (17). Since in our cohort there were only two patients <3 years, we



decided to stratify age to the median (5.7 years). As such, age did not show significant correlations with OS. Sex did not show significant correlations with OS, which was also consistent with the findings in literature (17).

Significant differences in TTP were found for patient treatment (median TTP: 4 months, 95% CI 2.6–5.3 months for radiotherapy and Temozolomide vs. 7 months, 95% CI 5.9–8.1 for radiotherapy, Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine, p < 0.027). This suggests that the new therapeutic regimen lengthened the time to progression of disease, even if it did not change OS. Our findings seem to confirm that treatment with radiotherapy in combination with Nimotuzumab and Vinorelbine represents an interesting therapeutic option (26, 29).

No differences in TTP were found for direct involvement of CN V (p = NS). Further research should be performed on the correlation between this finding and the results reported for OS for direct involvement of CN V. Sex, age, tumor size and ring enhancement also did not significantly affect TTP (p = NS).

We excluded long-term survivors with an OS of more than 24 months in the statistical analysis. The rationale for our decision is that long-term survivors in our cohort significantly differed from the other patients in terms of heterogeneous clinical, histological and radiological characteristics (**Table 1**).

More specifically, in the long-term survivor cohort:

- Two of the six patients (PT 16 and 24) are still alive with disease (with a median OS of 68 and 183 months, respectively). They also presented a pattern of progression, which is not typical



for the disease (PT 16 progressed after 63 months, and PT 24

with significant differences in TTP (p = NS).

- never progressed); - Two of the six patients (PT 8 and 16) did not harbor the H3K27M mutation;
- After review, four of these six patients (PT 8, 16, 24, and 28) had radiological features, consistent with atypical DIPG (well-defined borders and exophytic components).

The small group of long-term survivors probably deserves to be included in a larger multicentric study, in order to identify consistent trends and relevant features (30).

Recent advances in the molecular characterization of DIPG have begun to disclose biological signatures possibly associated to outcome and response to treatment (31). The term DIPG itself is slightly out-dated, as it has been shown that most of these tumors present distinct mutations, most notably the H3K27M. In the 2016 revision of the WHO brain tumor classification, these neoplasms were termed as diffuse midline glioma, H3K27Mmutant (32). Imaging studies are currently directing toward highlighting correlations between the relevant imaging findings and the new molecular findings (33, 34). If involvement of CN V was confirmed to be a predictor of poor survival in DIPG, it could be hypothesized that such finding could also have prognostic significance for the newer entity of the diffuse midline glioma H3K27M mutant. In our cohort, we can report the presence of the H3K27M mutation associated to the involvement of CN V, only for one patient. For the other patients, the biopsy had not been performed and so the mutational status could not be tested.

This study has some limitations. Specifically, we acknowledge the limit of a single institution, retrospective study, employing a low number of patients. Clinical practice has shown that a higher order of collaboration between professionals is required in order to improve our understanding and better progress toward treatment of this disease (30, 35). Another limit of the study was the methodology employed for assessment of direct involvement of CN V, which was made by two neuroradiologists in consensus, even if we tried to mitigate that issue by employing two neuroradiologists from different institutions. Furthermore, for 17 out of 29 patients in our cohort, tissue samples for histological confirmation of the H3K27M mutation were not available. This is because the stereotactic biopsy procedure was introduced in our institution from 2015.

In conclusion, our data suggest that direct involvement of CN V is a surrogate biomarker of poor survival in patients with DIPG, which could be assessed on conventional images. Further studies on larger cohorts, possibly associated

REFERENCES

- Jones C, Karajannis MA, Jones DTW, Kieran MW, Monje M, Baker SJ, et al. Pediatric high-grade glioma: biologically and clinically in need of new thinking. *Neuro Oncol.* (2017) 19:153–61. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now101
- Mackay A, Burford A, Carvalho D, Izquierdo E, Fazal-Salom J, Taylor KR, et al. Integrated molecular meta-analysis of 1,000 pediatric highgrade and diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma. *Cancer Cell.* (2017) 32:520–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.08.017
- Poussaint TY, Kocak M, Vajapeyam S, Packer RI, Robertson RL, Geyer R, et al. MRI as a central component of clinical trials analysis in brainstem glioma: a report from the Pediatric Brain Tumor Consortium (PBTC). *Neuro Oncol.* (2011) 13:417–27. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noq200
- 4. Rao P. Role of MRI in paediatric neurooncology. *Eur J Radiol.* (2008) 68:259–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.06.033
- Goda JS, Dutta D, Raut N, Juvekar SL, Purandare N, Rangarajan V, et al. Can multiparametric MRI and FDG-PET predict outcome in diffuse brainstem glioma? A report from a prospective phase-II study. *Pediatr Neurosurg.* (2013) 49:274–81. doi: 10.1159/000366167
- Barkovich AJ, Krischer J, Kun LE, Packer R, Zimmerman RA, Freeman CR, et al. Brain stem gliomas: a classification system based on magnetic resonance imaging. *Pediatr Neurosurg*. (1990) 16:73–83. doi: 10.1159/000120511
- 7. Zimmerman RA. Neuroimaging of primary brainstem gliomas: diagnosis and course. *Pediatr Neurosurg.* (1996) 25:45–53. doi: 10.1159/000121096
- Guillamo JS, Doz F, Delattre JY. Brain stem gliomas. Curr Opin Neurol. (2001)14:711–5.
- Steffen-Smith EA, Baker EH, Venzon D, Shandilya S, Bent RS, Warren KE. Measurements of the pons as a biomarker of progression for pediatric DIPG. *J Neurooncol.* (2014) 116:127–33. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1266-4
- Rile GT, Armitage PA, Batty R, Griffiths PD, Lee V, McMullan J, et al. Diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma: is MRI surveillance improved by region of interest volumetry? *Pediatr Radiol.* (2014) 45:203–10. doi: 10.1007/s00247-014-3134-6
- Lober RM, Cho Y-J, Tang Y, Barnes PD, Edwards MS, Vogel H, et al. Diffusionweighted MRI derived apparent diffusion coefficient identifies prognostically distinct subgroups of pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma. *J Neurooncol.* (2014) 117:175–82. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1375-8
- Steffen-Smith EA, Shih JH, Hipp SJ, Bent R, Warren KE. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy predicts survival in children with diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma. *J Neurooncol.* (2011) 105:365–73. doi: 10.1007/s11060-011-0601-x
- 13. Hipp SJ, Steffen-Smith E, Hammoud D, Shih JH, Bent R, Warren KE. Predicting outcome of children with diffuse intrinsic pontine

with correlation to histological and molecular findings, should be performed to cross validate our results and further test our hypotheses.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Heal-Onlus for their support. MV would like to thank Children with Cancer UK (grant reference: 16–234) for funding.

gliomas using multiparametric imaging. *Neuro Oncol.* (2011) 13:904–9. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nor076

- Poussaint TY, Vajapeyam S, Ricci KI, Panigrahy A, Kocak M, Kun LE, et al. Apparent diffusion coefficient histogram metrics correlate with survival in diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma: a report from the Pediatric Brain Tumor Consortium. *Neuro Oncol.* (2016) 18:725–34. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nov256
- Liu AK, Brandon J, Foreman NK, Fenton LZ. Conventional MRI at presentation does not predict clinical response to radiation therapy in children with diffuse pontine glioma. *Pediatr Radiol.* (2009) 39:1317–20. doi: 10.1007/s00247-009-1368-5
- Hargrave D, Chuang N, Bouffet E. Conventional MRI cannot predict survival in childhood diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma. *J Neurooncol.* (2008) 86:313–9. doi: 10.1007/s11060-007-9473-5
- Jansen MH, Veldhuijzen van Zanten SE, Sanchez Aliaga E, Heymans MW, Warmuth-Metz M, Hargrave D, et al. Survival prediction model of children with diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma based on clinical and radiological criteria. *Neuro Oncol.* (2015) 17:160–6. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nou104
- Bridger MW, Farkashidy J. The distribution of neuroglia and Schwann cells in the 8th nerve of man. J Laryngol Otol. (1980) 94:1353–62.
- Ree A, Jain R, Rock J, Rosenblum M, Patel SC. Direct infiltration of brainstem glioma along the cranial nerves. *J Neuroimaging*. (2005) 15:197–99. doi: 10.1177/1051228405274534
- Mabray MC, Glastonbury CM, Mamlouk MD, Punch GE, Solomon DA, Cha S. Direct cranial nerve involvement by gliomas: case series and review of the literature. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2015) 36:1349–54. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4287
- Warren KE, Poussaint TY, Vezina G, Hargrave D, Packer RJ, Goldman S, et al. Challenges with defining response to antitumor agents in pediatric neuro-oncology: a report from the response assessment in pediatric neurooncology (RAPNO) working group. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2013) 60:1397– 401. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24562
- Warren KE, Patronas N, Aikin AA, Albert PS, Balis FM. Comparison of one-, two-, and three- dimensional measurements of childhood brain tumors. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2001) 93:1401–5.
- 23. Kaplan E, Meier P. Non parametric estimation from incomplete observations. *J Am Stat Assoc.* (1958) 53:457–81.
- Carai A, Mastronuzzi A, De Benedictis A, Messina R, Cacchione A, Miele E, et al. Robot-assisted stereotactic biopsy of diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma: a single-center experience. *World Neurosurg.* (2017) 101:584–8. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.02.088
- 25. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide

versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2009) 10:459–66. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70025-7

- Massimino M, Bode U, Biassoni V, Fleischhack G. Nimotuzumab for pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2011) 11:247–56. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2011.546341
- Hayward RM, Patronas N, Baker EH, Vézina G, Albert PS, Warren KE. Interobserver variability in the measurement of diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas. J Neurooncol. (2008) 90:57–61. doi: 10.1007/s11060-008-9631-4
- Löbel U, Hwang S, Edwards A, Li Y, Li X, Broniscer A, Patay Z. Discrepant longitudinal volumetric and metabolic evolution of diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas during treatment: implications for current response assessment strategies. *Neuroradiology*. (2016) 58:1027–34. doi: 10.1007/s00234-016-1724-8
- Massimino M, Biassoni V, Miceli R, Schiavello E, Warmuth-Metz M, Modena P, et al. Results of nimotuzumab and vinorelbine, radiation and re-irradiation for diffuse pontine glioma in childhood. *J Neurooncol.* (2014) 118:305–12. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1428-z
- 30. Hoffman LM, Veldhuijzen van Zanten SEM, Colditz N, Baugh J, Chaney B, Hoffmann M, et al. Clinical, radiologic, pathologic, and molecular characteristics of long-term survivors of diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG): a collaborative report from the International and European Society for Pediatric Oncology DIPG Registries. *J Clin Oncol.* (2018) 36:1963–72. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.75.9308
- Morales La Madrid A, Hashizume R, Kieran MW. Future clinical trials in DIPG: bringing epigenetics to the clinic. *Front Oncol.* (2015) 5:148. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00148

- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK. WHO Classification of Tumors in the Central Nervous System. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC (2016).
- Porkholm M, Raunio A, Vainionpää R, Salonen T, Hernesniemi J, Valanne L, et al. Molecular alterations in pediatric brainstem gliomas. *Pediatr Blood Cancer.* (2017) 65:e26751. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26751
- Aboian MS, Solomon DA, Felton E, Mabray MC, Villanueva-Meyer JE, Mueller S, et al. Imaging characteristics of pediatric diffuse midline gliomas with histone H3 K27M mutation. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. (2017) 38:795–800. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A507
- 35. Veldhuijzen van Zanten SE, Baugh J, Chaney B, De Jongh D, Sanchez Aliaga E, Barkhof F, et al. Development of the SIOPE DIPG network, registry and imaging repository: a collaborative effort to optimize research into a rare and lethal disease. *J Neurooncol.* (2017) 132:255–66. doi: 10.1007/s11060-016-2363-y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Colafati, Voicu, Carducci, Caulo, Vinci, Diomedi-Camassei, Merli, Carai, Miele, Cacchione, Tomà, Locatelli and Mastronuzzi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Vemurafenib Treatment of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma in a Child With Down Syndrome

Giuseppe Petruzzellis¹, Diletta Valentini², Francesca del Bufalo¹, Giulia Ceglie³, Andrea Carai⁴, Giovanna Stefania Colafati⁵, Emanuele Agolini⁶, Francesca Diomedi-Camassei⁷, Tiziana Corsetti⁸, Iside Alessi¹, Angela Mastronuzzi^{9*}, Franco Locatelli^{1,10} and Antonella Cacchione⁹

¹ Department of Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplantation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ² Pediatric and Infectious Disease Unit, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ³ University Department of Pediatrics, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Neurosurgery Unit, Department of Neuroscience and Neurorehabilitation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁵ Neuroradiology Unit, Department of Imaging, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁶ Neuroradiology Unit, Department of Imaging, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁶ Neuroradiology Unit, Department of Imaging, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁶ Neuroradiology Unit, Department of Imaging, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁸ Neuro-anciology Unit, Hospital Pharmacy Unit, Children's Hospital and Research Institute 'Bambino Gesù '(IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ⁹ Neuro-oncology Unit, Department of Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplantation, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ¹⁰ Department of Gynecology/Obstetrics and Pediatrics, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ruth Plummer, Newcastle University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Giaccone, Georgetown University, United States Jens Schittenhelm, Universität Tübingen, Germany Luigi Boccuto, Greenwood Genetic Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Angela Mastronuzzi angela.mastronuzzi@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Molecular Targets and Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 10 November 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 12 April 2019

Citation:

Petruzzellis G, Valentini D, del Bufalo F, Ceglie G, Carai A, Colafati GS, Agolini E, Diomedi-Camassei F, Corsetti T, Alessi I, Mastronuzzi A, Locatelli F and Cacchione A (2019) Vemurafenib Treatment of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma in a Child With Down Syndrome. Front. Oncol. 9:277. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00277 Brain tumors are the most common solid neoplasms of childhood, but they are very rarely reported in children with Down Syndrome (DS), who develop more commonly different types of malignancies. In particular, we hereby report the case of an 8-years-old child with DS that presented to our attention for neurological and endocrinological issues. Brain imaging revealed the presence of a mass that was partially resected revealing a histological diagnosis of Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (PXA), a rare WHO grade II tumor extending from the diencephalic region into the surrounding brain tissue. These tumors can harbor the *BRAF* mutation p.V600E, targetable by the specific inhibitor Vemurafenib. After confirming the presence of the mutation in the tumor, the patient was treated with Vemurafenib. The treatment proved to be effective, leading to a partial response and a stabilization of the disease. Usually, in patients with DS a reduction of the dose of chemotherapeutic drugs is necessary. Vemurafenib was instead well-tolerated as the only observed adverse effect was grade I skin toxicity. This is, to our knowledge, the first case of a PXA reported in a child with DS and the first DS patient treated with Vemurafenib.

Keywords: brain tumor, down syndrome, BRAF V600E mutation, pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, vemurafenib

BACKGROUND

Down syndrome (DS) is the most common chromosome abnormality among live births, with an incidence of ~ 1 every 800 live births (1). It is characterized by a common phenotype that can result from three main types of cytogenetic abnormalities: the most common is Trisomy 21 non-disjunction, accounting for $\sim 95\%$ of cases; in about 3–4% of the cases, a Robertsonian translocation involving chromosome 21 is found; the less common known abnormality is represented by Trisomy 21 mosaicism (47, +21/46), responsible for the remaining 1–2% (2).

72

Children with DS exhibit a wide variety of medical conditions, such as cognitive impairment, dysmorphic features, congenital heart diseases, gastrointestinal abnormalities, reduction in visual acuity and accomodation, hearing loss, endocrine, and immune deficiencies (3).

Even though life expectancy in these patients has significantly increased over the last decade, children with DS still have a higher risk of neonatal and infant mortality when compared to children without DS, because of the above mentioned comorbidities (4).

One of the most severe conditions associated with DS is the development of malignant tumors, mainly acute leukemia. On the other hand, solid tumors, and, in particular, brain neoplasms are rarely reported in patients with DS, and therefore the biological behavior and natural history of these tumors are not well-described and understood. Whereas, several oncogenes have been identified as responsible for the development of acute leukemias in DS, little is known about the molecular basis of solid tumors in this population.

Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma (PXA) is a rare brain tumor that most commonly affects children and young adults. The prognosis is favorable when total resection is possible, but in patients not amenable to the eradication, chemotherapy, and/or radiotherapy are the only available therapeutic options. However, these regimes rarely lead to a control of the disease and the prognosis is generally poor (5). Between 60 and 65% of grade 2 and grade 3 PXAs are *BRAF* p.V600E mutated (6, 7) and treatment with Vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor approved for the treatment of *BRAF*—mutated metastatic melanoma, demonstrated efficacy in several cases of primary brain tumor, including PXAs (8).

We hereby report, to the best of our knowledge, the first case of a PXA harboring a *BRAF* p.V600E mutation in a patient with DS.

CASE PRESENTATION

An 8-year old boy with DS was referred to the DS outpatient care unit of the Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital for progressively impaired gait and signs of early puberty.

During neurological examination, a slight asymmetrical gait pattern was noted. This anomaly was firstly attributed to the general motor clumsiness typical of DS patients. When evaluating sexual development, a Tanner Stage of P2G2 was observed, with a bilateral testicular volume of 8 ml. To confirm the clinical suspect of early puberty, Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) stimulation test was performed. The results showed: basal FSH of 0.7 mIU/mL and after LHRH administration: 3.78 mIU/mL; basal LH was 1.3 mU/mL, and after stimulation: 20.11 mU/mL; Testosterone basal level was 54.5 ng/dL, PRL, beta-HCG, DHEAS and thyroid function were all normal. These results confirmed the suspect of an early puberty of central origin and a brain Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) was then performed. The brain imaging showed diffused pathological tissue, extending from the left diencephalic region and involving the cerebral peduncle caudally, the basal ganglia region cranially (globus pallidus, putamen and posterior arm of the internal capsule), the outer capsule laterally, the temporo-mesial cortex and subcortical white matter, which extended deeply to the anterior portion of the temporal lobe, to the optic chiasm and bilateral retrochiasmatic tract (**Figure 1**).

The patient underwent partial resection of the lesion and the histopathological examination was compatible with the diagnosis of WHO grade II Pleomorphic Xanthoastrocytoma. *BRAF* p.V600E mutation was then assessed by immunohistochemistry (**Figure 2**) and through Sanger sequencing of the *BRAF* gene, revealing positive. Based on these results, after the parents of the patient provided formal, informed consent and the therapy was approved by Institutional Review Board, treatment with the *BRAF* p.V600E inhibitor Vemurafenib was started. Initially, the lower dose proved to be active in adults was administered (i.e., 240 mg/day *per os* twice a day) and was later increased to 480 mg twice a day. After 32 months the therapy was discontinued, and the disease remained stable 3 months after the stop therapy.

The only side effect reported was a transient follicular truncal rash in the first month of administration with fickle subcutaneous nodules, treated with local topical corticosteroids. No ECG changes or/and suspected skin lesions developed.

A new brain MRI after 6 months of therapy demonstrated an important reduction of the lesion and a substantial reduction of enhancement, the last MRI (30 months after diagnosis) demonstrated a stable disease (**Figure 1**).

Clinical response, with gait and movements improvement, was also noted shortly after the beginning of therapy.

DISCUSSION

DS is associated with several hematological disorders occurring at different ages. Neonates with DS may present with transient asymptomatic blood count abnormalities such as neutrophilia, thrombocytopenia and polycythemia. Within 1-2 months of life, 3-10% of infants with DS develop transient myeloproliferative disease (TMD) (9). Despite a spontaneous regression in most of the cases, TMD can be fatal or lead to the subsequent development of myeloid leukemia in 20% of children with DS. Children with DS also have an increased risk of developing leukemia, their risk is, in fact, approximately 10 to 20 times higher compared with children without DS (10). They represent 2% of all pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemias (ALL) and 10% of pediatric acute myeloid leukemias (AML). The presence of somatic mutations involving GATA1 gene is associated with acute megakaryoblastic leukemia (AMKL) in people with DS (11).

In a study performed on 2,814 individuals with DS, the authors have shown that the occurrence of cancer in DS is unique with a high risk of leukemia in children and a decreased risk of solid tumors, and amongst these brain tumors, in all age-groups (12, 13).

The molecular basis of this paradox of tumorigenesis in DS is not well-understood yet. Several experimental observations have shown that DS should be a cancer-prone condition: higher rate of whole chromosome and segmental chromosome instability, increased DNA damage and defective DNA repair, immunodeficiency and susceptibility to infections, oncogenes



on chromosome 21 (13). Also, abnormalities in DS related to the extra-copy of chromosome 21 include upregulation of proapoptotic and angiogenesis genes. For example, dysregulation of the Notch/Wnt pathway has been associated with premature aging processes in DS that may relate to leukemia (14).

On the other hand, however, cancer-inhibiting properties have been observed in other genes on chromosome 21: the *APP* gene, transcriptional factors such as ETS proto-oncogene 2 (*ETS2*), the angiogenesis suppressors Dscr1 and Dyrk1A and the *Collagen-18* gene whose fragment, endostatin, is an anti-angiogenic compound (15, 16).

Adiponectin and leptin are both involved in signaling pathways important in cancer in patients with DS. They have an opposite role, in fact leptin has many cancer-predisposing properties, such as pro-angiogenesis, reduction of apotosis, activation of Wnt, and Notch signaling (17) and it can also promote hematologic malignancies (18). Adiponectin, on the contrary, has several cancer-inhibiting properties: antiangiogenesis, induction of apopotosis, activation of tumorsuppressors, and activation of cell signaling pathways (19–21). Several recent epidemiological studies (10, 22–27) showed that the risk of all major groups of solid tumors was decreased in patients with DS. Testicular tumors are an exception in this regard, as they seem to occur three times more often than expected in men with Down syndrome. The increased frequency of cryptorchidism (27) and testicular microlithiasis (28) may explain this evidence.

The association of DS with central nervous system tumors is extremely rare. In 1966, Miller (29) reported that among 56.199 individuals with DS only 5 developed brain tumors (estimated prevalence almost 9 per 100,000), while in the general population the estimated prevalence is 47.59/100,000 (22.31 for child, 48.49 for adolescents/young adults, and 57.75 for adult population) (30).



In the United States, brain tumors have been reported in 36 individuals with DS only, the vast majority of them represented by specific histological subgroups such as germ cells and mesenchymal tumors (13). Another study performed on post-mortem autopsies of children with DS revealed that only 3 out of 104 children presenting a malignancy had developed brain tumors (12).

One interesting example is Medulloblastoma. It is, in fact, the most common malignant brain tumor of childhood, but is particularly rare in the DS population and serves as perhaps the best example of the disparity of solid tumors in these individuals (31, 32). Similar to Medulloblastoma, Meningioma in DS was reported in only one case (33).

In this report we have described the first case, to the best of our knowledge, of Pleomorphic Xantoastrocytoma in a child affected by DS. PXA is a very rare tumor, its typical location is the temporal lobe and it usually involves both the superficial and the overlying meninges (34). Histologically, PXA is characterized by markedly pleomorphic cells, eosinophilic granular bodies, prominent reticulin deposition and a superficial meningocerebral location. PXA typically present a slow growth rate at presentation and the most common presenting symptoms are seizures. The overall survival rate is 80% at 5 years and 70% at 10 years.

Although PXAs are generally considered indolent neoplasms, they are associated with a higher frequency of recurrence, malignant transformation, and death, compared with other lowgrade gliomas, such as pilocytic astrocytomas. The treatment of PXA typically involves surgical resection followed by radiological monitoring. Recurrent lesions or tumors that demonstrate anaplastic features at primary resection are treated with the same radiation and chemotherapeutic protocols used for high grade gliomas such as anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma.

The mutation of the *BRAF* gene, which is typical of this tumor (7, 35), involves the activation of the MAP Kinase (MAPK) pathway, which has been shown to be the main molecular alteration present in Low Grade Gliomas (36). The most frequent mutation is the point mutation that occurs at codon 600 (*BRAF* p.V600E) that results in substitution of valine by glutamic acid.

Approximately 70% of pilocytic astrocytoma contain duplication of BRAF gene, which is rare in PXAs (37). The BRAF gene duplication leads to the formation of a fusion between the KIAA1549 locus and BRAF and the resulting protein displays a constitutively activated kinase activity, causing an aberrant activation of the downstream MAPK/ERK pathway.

Hsiao et al. found the *TMEM106B-BRAF* fusion in a case of PXA with anaplastic features in a 10-yr-old-female. This alteration results in replacement of the amino-terminal regulatory domain of BRAF with the amino-terminal region of TMEMB106B. They demonstrated that the fusion results in aberrant activation of *BRAF* signaling, with activation of MAPK/ERK pathway (38).

Inhibitors of MAPK pathway have been considered as a potential target therapy for these tumors. Among such inhibitors, Vemurafenib, a competitive small molecule that selectively recognizes the ATP binding domain of the *BRAF* p.V600E mutant, has proved to be effective in the treatment of metastatic melanoma, a neoplasm frequently associated with BRAF mutations. More recently, an activity of this drug was proved also in pediatric *BRAF* p.V600E mutated malignant astrocytomas (39).

In the case presented the mutation *BRAF* p.V600E was screened in immunohistochemistry and later confirmed by Sanger sequencing. This finding allowed us to treat the patient with Vemurafenib. This is, to our knowledge, the first case of a DS patient treated with Vemurafenib. The therapy proved to be effective as the subsequent MRI staging evaluation revealed a partial response (according to RECIST criteria) and later controls proved a stabilization of the disease.

Children with DS often respond to chemotherapy treatment as well as children without DS. However, they are more likely to experience severe toxicity with standard chemotherapy regimens, particularly those requiring methotrexate, and this often leads to a reduction of the chemotherapy doses, leading to a less effective treatment (5, 40). The treatment has been well-tolerated by the patient without serious adverse effects, proving the safety of the drug. The only adverse effect reported was grade one skin toxicity.

The use of Vemurafenib has not yet been approved for pediatric patients affected by brain tumors and DS. Although central nervous system (CNS) tumors are the most common pediatric solid organ tumor, they are very rare in patients with DS. However, the possibility of development of brain tumors in DS should be kept in mind, especially in case of unusual neurological and endocrinological symptoms. In conclusion, we have shown the safety and efficacy of Vemurafenib in a pediatric patient with DS affected by PXA.

REFERENCES

- De Graaf G, Buckley F, Skotko BG. Live births, natural losses, and elective terminations with Down syndrome in Massachusetts. *Gene Med.* (2016) 18:459–66. doi: 10.1038/gim.2016.15
- Asim A, Kumar A, Muthuswamy S, Jain S, Agarwal S. down syndrome: An insight of the disease. J Biomed Sci. (2015) 22:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12929-015-0138-y
- Carsetti R, Valentini D, Marcellini V, Scarsella M, Marasco E, Giustini F, et al. Reduced numbers of switched memory B cells with high terminal differentiation potential in down syndrome. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:903–14. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445049
- Weijerman ME, van Furth AM, Vonk Noordegraaf A, van Wouwe JP, Broers CJM, Gemke RJBJ. Prevalence, neonatal characteristics, and first-year mortality of down syndrome: a national study. *J Pediatrics*. (2008) 152:15–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.09.045
- Hefti E, Blanco JG. Pharmacokinetics of chemotherapeutic drugs in pediatric patients with down dyndrome and leukemia. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* (2016) 38:283–7. doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000000540.Pharmacokinetics
- Dias-Santagata D, Lam Q, Vernovsky K, Vena N, Lennerz JK, Borger DR, et al. Braf V600E mutations are common in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e017948: doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017948
- Schindler G, Capper D, Meyer J, Janzarik W, Omran H, Herold-Mende C, et al. Analysis of BRAF V600E mutation in 1,320 nervous system tumors reveals high mutation frequencies in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, ganglioglioma and extra-cerebellar pilocytic astrocytoma. *Acta Neuropathologica*. (2011) 121:397–405. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0802-6
- 8. Lee EQ, Ruland S, LeBouef NR, Wen PY. Successful treatment of a progressive BRAF V600E-mutated anaplastic pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Internal Review Board of the Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Internal Review Board of the Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital.

INFORMED CONSENT

The authors declare that written informed consent was obtained from the patient's parents for publication of this case report.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GP, FdB, AM, and FL designed the study. GP, FdB, GC, DV, AntC, and IA cured the collection of the data. FdB, GC, IA, AndC, AM, GSC, TC, and FD-C interpreted and analyzed the data. GP, DV, FdB, and GC drafted the manuscript. FD-C performed immunohistochemistry analysis. EA performed molecular analysis. AM and FL critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the association Heal for the support.

with vemurafenib monotherapy. J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:87-9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.0442

- Bruwier A, Chantrain CF. Hematological disorders and leukemia in children with down syndrome. *Eur J Pediatrics*. (2012) 171:1301–7. doi: 10.1007/s00431-011-1624-1
- Hasle H, Haunstrup Clemmensen I, Mikkelsen M. Risks of leukaemia and solid tumours in individuals with Down's syndrome. *Lancet.* (2000) 355:165– 9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)05264-2
- Wechsler J, Greene M, McDevitt MA, Anastasi J, Karp JE, Le Beau MM, et al. Acquired mutations in GATA1 in the megakaryoblastic leukemia of down syndrome. *Nature Gene.* (2002) 32:148–52. doi: 10.1038/ng955
- Ehara H, Ohno K, Ito H. Benign and malignant tumors in Down syndrome: Analysis of the 1514 autopsied cases in Japan. *Pediatrics Int.* (2011) 53:72– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200X.2010.03189.x
- Zhang AS, Ostrom QT, Kruchko C, Rogers L, Peereboom DM, Barnholtz-Sloan JS. Complete prevalence of malignant primary brain tumors registry data in the United States compared with other common cancers, 2010. *Neuro-Oncology*. (2017) 19:726–35. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now252
- Cairney CJ, Sanguinetti G, Ranghini E, Chantry AD, Nostro MC, Bhattacharyya A, et al. A systems biology approach to down syndrome: identification of notch/Wnt dysregulation in a model of stem cells aging. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2009) 1792:353–. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.01.015
- Gardiner K, Costa ACS. The proteins of human chromosome 21. Am J Med Genet Part C Semi Med Gene. (2006) 142C:196–205. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.c.30098
- Gardiner K, Davisson M. The sequence of human chromosome 21 and implications for research into down syndrome. *Genome Biol.* (2000) 1:0002. doi: 10.1186/gb-2000-1-2-reviews0002
- Somasundar P, McFadden DW, Hileman SM, Vona-Davis L. Leptin is a growth factor in cancer. J Surg Res. (2004) 116:337–. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2003.09.004

- Han T-J, Wang X. Leptin and its receptor in hematologic malignancies. Int J Clin Exp Med. (2015) 8:19840–9.
- Housa D, Housov J, Vernerov Z, Haluzk M. Adipocytokines and cancer. *Physiol Res.* (2006) 55:233–244.
- Kelesidis I, Kelesidis T, Mantzoros CS. Adiponectin and cancer: a systematic review. Br J Cancer. (2006) 94:1221–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc. 6603051
- Izadi V, Farabad E, Azadbakht L. Serum adiponectin level and different kinds of cancer: a review of recent evidence. *ISRN Oncol.* (2012) 2012:1–9. doi: 10.5402/2012/982769
- Boker LK, Blumstein T, Sadetzki S, Luxenburg O, Litvak I, Akstein E, et al. Incidence of leukemia and other cancers in Down syndrome subjects in Israel. *Int J Cancer.* (2001) 93:741–4. doi: 10.1002/ijc.1383
- Da H. Mortality and cancer incidence among individuals with Down syndrome. Arch Intern Med. (2003) 163:705–11. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.6.705
- Goldacre MJ. Cancers and immune related diseases associated with Down's syndrome: a record linkage study. Arch Dis Childhood. (2004) 89:1014–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.046219
- Pátja K, Pukkala E, Sund R, Iivanainen M, Kaski M. Cancer incidence of persons with Down syndrome in Finland: a population-based study. *Int J Cancer.* (2006) 118:1769–72. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21518
- Sullivan SG, Hussain R, Glasson EJ, Bittles AH. The profile and incidence of cancer in Down syndrome. J Intellectual Disabi Res. (2007) 51:228–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006.00862.x
- Mercer ES, Broecker B, Smith EA, Kirsch AJ, Scherz HC, Massad CA. Urological manifestations of Down syndrome. J Urol. (2004) 171:1250–3. doi: 10.1097/01.ju.0000112915.69436.91
- Vachon L, Fareau GE, Wilson MG, Chan LS. Testicular microlithiasis in patients with Down syndrome. J Pediatrics. (2006) 149:233–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.03.051
- Miller RW. Relation between cancer and congenital defects in man. N Engl J Med. (1976) 295:87–93.
- Porter KR, McCarthy BJ, Davis FG, Kupelian V, Freels S, McCarthy B, et al. Prevalence estimates for primary brain tumors in the United States by behaviour and major histology groups. *Neuro-Oncology*. (2001) 3:152–8. doi: 10.1215/S1522851700000569
- Satgé D, Stiller CA, Rutkowski S, Von Bueren AO, Lacour B, Sommelet D, et al. A very rare cancer in Down syndrome: medulloblastoma. epidemiological data from 13 countries. *J Neuro-Oncol.* (2013) 112:107–14. doi: 10.1007/s11060-012-1041-y
- 32. Mangum R, Varga E, Boué DR, Capper D, Benesch M, Leonard J, et al. SHH desmoplastic/nodular medulloblastoma and Gorlin syndrome in the setting of

Down syndrome: case report, molecular profiling, and review of the literature. *Child's Nervous Syst.* (2016) 32:2439–46. doi: 10.1007/s00381-016-3185-0

- Yamamoto T, Shinojima N, Todaka T, Nishikawa S, Yano S, Kuratsu JI. Meningioma in down syndrome. World Neurosurg. (2015) 84:866.E1–E6. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2015.03.065
- 34. Moore W, Mathis D, Gargan L, Bowers DC, Klesse LJ, Margraf L, et al. Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma of childhood: MR imaging and diffusion MR imaging features. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2014) 35:2192–6. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4011
- Ida CM, Rodriguez FJ, Burger PC, Caron AA, Jenkins SM, Spears GM, et al. Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma: natural history and long-term follow-up. *Brain Pathol.* (2015) 25:575–86. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12217
- Pfister S, Janzarik WG, Remke M, Ernst A, Werft W, Becker N, et al. BRAF gene duplication constitutes a mechanism of MAPK pathway activation in low-grade astrocytomas. J Clini Invest. (2008) 118:1739–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI33656DS1
- Antonelli M, Badiali M, Moi L, Buttarelli FR, Baldi C, Massimino M, et al. KIAA1549:BRAF fusion gene in pediatric brain tumors of various histogenesis. Pediatr Blood Cancer. (2015) 62:724–7. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25272
- Hsiao SJ, Karajannis MA, Diolaiti D, Mansukhani MM, Bender JG, Kung AL, et al. A novel, potentially targetable TMEM106B-BRAF fusion in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma. *Cold Spring Harb Mol Case Stud.* (2017) 3:a001396 doi: 10.1101/mcs.a001396
- Nicolaides TP, Li H, Solomon DA, Hariono S, Hashizume R, Barkovich K, et al. Targeted Therapy for BRAFV600E malignant astrocytoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:7595–604. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1456
- Chessells JM, Harrison G, Richards SM, Bailey CC, Hill FG, Gibson BE, et al. Down's syndrome and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: clinical features and response to treatment. *Arch Dis Child.* (2001) 85:321–5. doi: 10.1136/adc.85.4.321

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Petruzzellis, Valentini, del Bufalo, Ceglie, Carai, Colafati, Agolini, Diomedi-Camassei, Corsetti, Alessi, Mastronuzzi, Locatelli and Cacchione. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Elevated NLR May Be a Feature of Pediatric Brain Cancer Patients

Michal Yalon^{1†}, Amos Toren^{1,2†}, Dina Jabarin², Edna Fadida³, Shlomi Constantini³ and Ruty Mehrian-Shai^{1*}

¹ Pediatric Hemato-Oncology, Edmond and Lilly Safra Children's Hospital and Cancer Research Center, Sheba Medical Center, Ramat Gan, Israel, ² The Sackler School of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, ³ Department of Pediatric Neurosurgery, Dana Children's Hospital, Tel-Aviv-Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel

Pediatric brain tumors are the most common solid tumor type and the leading cause of cancer-related death in children. The immune system plays an important role in cancer pathogenesis and in the response to immunotherapy treatments. T lymphocytes are key elements for the response of the immune system to cancer cells and have been associated with prognosis of different cancers. Neutrophils on the other hand, which secrete pro-angiogenic and anti-apoptotic factors, enhance the ability of tumor cells to grow and develop into metastases. We conducted a retrospective study of 120 pediatric brain cancer patients and 171 elective pediatric patients hospitalized in Dana Children's Hospital and Sheba Medical Center. Data on age, sex, treatment, lymphocyte, neutrophil, and monocyte count were collected from routinely performed preoperative blood tests. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and the lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio (LMR) were calculated and significance was determined by paired T test. p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. NLR was significantly higher in the pediatric brain cancer patients. The high NLR in pediatric brain cancer patients is the result of a combination of low lymphocytes and high neutrophils. Both of these factors can have a role in cancer development and propagation and also in response to therapy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Carai, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Joseph Louis Lasky, Cure 4 The Kids, United States Ute Katharina Bartels, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

*Correspondence:

Ruty Mehrian-Shai ruty.shai@sheba.health.gov.il

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 05 February 2019 Accepted: 11 April 2019 Published: 30 April 2019

Citation:

Yalon M, Toren A, Jabarin D, Fadida E, Constantini S and Mehrian-Shai R (2019) Elevated NLR May Be a Feature of Pediatric Brain Cancer Patients. Front. Oncol. 9:327. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00327 Keywords: pediatric brain cancer, neutrophils, lymphocytes, NLR, LMR

INTRODUCTION

Pediatric brain tumors are the most common solid tumor type and the leading cause of cancerrelated deaths in children aged 0–14 years (1). There is increasing evidence that malfunction of immune system may contribute to tumor development. Failure to eliminate tumor cells or keeping the tumor cells in a dormant state by the immune system are included in the "hallmarks of cancer" (2). Understanding these underlying mechanisms has provided a basis for the development of new immunotherapies against tumors.

Lymphocytes have, among others, an anti-tumor effect (3). T lymphocytes are key elements to eliminate cancer cells and their dysfunction have been associated with development of cancer (4) and prognosis for several cancer types.

Neutrophils and monocytes on the other hand, may promote tumor progression (5). Neutrophils which secrete pro-angiogenic and anti-apoptotic factors, enhance the ability of tumor cells to grow and develop into metastases (6). Elevated numbers of neutrophils in the peripheral blood is associated with poor outcome in several types of cancers (7). Tumor-associated neutrophils can acquire a pro-tumor phenotype, supporting tumor growth, and suppressing the antitumor

immune response (8). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) which are closely related to neutrophils and monocytes (9) play a major role in suppression of T cells (10, 11). Not only are levels of MDSC increased in the blood of patients with cancer, MDSC frequencies correlate to clinical cancer stage in several cancers including bladder cancer (12) and breast cancer (13).

Neutrophils, lymphocytes and monocytes have prognostic value in patients with a variety of common solid tumors (14). These patients are characterized by an increase in circulating neutrophil levels accompanied by a fall in circulating lymphocyte levels thus the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is increased. In general, the blood NLR is high in patients with more advanced or aggressive cancers (15) and correlates with poor survival of patients with many solid tumors (16, 17).

Lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio (LMR) has been suggested to be an important factor for predicting prognosis in patients with lung cancer, colon cancer and hematologic malignancies (18, 19). In a meta-analysis of adult solid tumors it was concluded that low pre-treatment LMR is an unfavorable prognostic factor (20).

In this study we investigated NLR and LMR in pediatric brain cancer patients on day of diagnosis before any treatment administration.

METHODS

Clinical data from pediatric brain cancer patients (M = malignant group) and elective pediatric patients hospitalized for hernia repair were retrospectively analyzed. Exclusion criteria were steroid treatment before the blood test and a history of concomitant diseases. Age, Sex, treatment, blood count plus differential were collected from blood tests performed before surgery in both groups. NLR, and the LMR were calculated and significance was determined by paired *T*-test. *p* < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. ANOVA test was used to compare mean of NLR value in different brain tumor types.

RESULTS

Clinical data from 120 pediatric brain cancer patients and 171 elective pediatric patients hospitalized for hernia repair were retrospectively analyzed. The study was approved by the ethical review boards of both Sheba and Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Centers and was consistent with the declaration of Helsinki. Cancer patients who received dexacort before the blood test were excluded. Children from the elective hernia surgery control group with known background diseases were also excluded. Ninety-nine cancer and 62 control patients that met the inclusion criteria and had all the data in the medical records were included in the analysis. Brain cancer patients consisted of 37 astrocytoma patients, 27 medulloblastoma patients, 25 patients with pilocytic astrocytoma, and 10 glioblastoma patients. Age, Sex, treatment, lymphocyte, Neutrophil count, and monocyte count were collected from routinely performed preoperative blood tests. NLR and the LMR were calculated and significance was determined by paired *T*-test. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Male/female ratios in the study and control group were 64%/36% and 61%/29%, respectively. Mean age was 10.26 and 8.7 years old, respectively. No significant NLR and LMR differences were found between males and females in the patient group. **Table 1** summarizes the blood count results, differential, NLR, and LMR in both groups.

The mean percentage of neutrophils was higher in the patient group (64.3%) compared to the control group (56.11%) p = 0.001. In contrast, the mean percentage of lymphocytes was significantly higher in the control group (32.08%) compared to the patient group (27.11%) p = 0.009. As a result, the NLR was significantly higher in the patient group (4.59) compared to the control group (2.96) p = 0.025. Although the mean percentage of monocytes was higher in the patient group (6.1%) compared to the control group (3.3%) p = 0.001, there was no significant difference in LMR between the patient group (5.3) compared to the control group (4.2) (p = 0.08).

Table 2 summarizes the mean NLR results in different brain tumor types in children. Although NLR values of astrocytoma and pilocytic astrocytoma are lower than glioblastoma and medulloblastoma, no significant difference was found between the mean of NLR value in different tumor types by ANOVA test $\{F = 3.75, p = 0.13\}$.

DISCUSSION

Pediatric cancers and especially solid tumors can have devastating effects on young lives and their families. There is increasing evidence that failures of the immune system may contribute to tumor development. Lymphocytes have an important role in tumor cells elimination. Neutrophils and

TABLE 1 | Blood count results, differential, NLR, and LMR in brain cancer and hernia groups.

Parameter	Brain cancer	SD	Hernia	SD	p-value
White blood cells	10.2 X 109/L	5.3	11.2X109/L	10.9	0.550
Neutrophils	64.3%	16.5	56.1%	16.7	0.001
Lymphocytes	27.1%	14.3	32.0%	14.9	0.009
Monocytes	6.1%	2.9	3.3%	3.3	0.001
NLR	4.5	5.4	2.9	3.4	0.025
LMR	5.3	3.9	4.2	2.5	0.086

SD, Standard deviation.

TABLE 2 | NLR value results in different brain tumor types in children.

	A/		
Tumor type	Ν	NLR	
Astrocytoma	37	3.7	
Medulloblastoma	27	6.0	
Pilocytic astrocytoma	25	3.3	
Glioblastoma	10	5.4	

N, number of samples.

monocytes on the other hand, may promote tumor progression. In fact, suppression of the immune response to cancer cells is one of the impediments to develop effective immunotherapeutic approaches for glioma patients (21). Overcoming the suppression can be done by blocking the inhibitory signals of the immune system by anti CTLA4 and anti PD1/PDL1 therapy (22). On the other hand, persisting response of the inflammatory milieu paves the way to cancer (23). Neutrophils trigger and sustain a state of chronic inflammation (6) and high systematic immune-inflammation is significantly associated with a lower overall survival rate of patients with colon cancer (24), lung cancer (25), and breast cancer (26). Suppressing this arm of the immune response is necessary to limit proliferative signaling, angiogenesis, migration and invasion processes (2). Inhibitors of inflammatory pathways have been successful in pre-clinical tumor models and early clinical trials (27).

It has been shown that elevated NLR is predictive of poorer overall survival in patients with hepatocellular/ squamous cell carcinoma, GBM (28-30), pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (31), ovarian cancer (32) and pediatric sarcoma (33). In addition, preoperative elevated NLR reflects a systemic inflammatory response and is a predictor of poor survival in gastric cancer (16). Finally, high NLR is associated with poorer outcomes in patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors (34). In our study, pediatric brain cancer patients' blood samples present both increased neutrophil count and decreased lymphocyte count resulting in significantly higher NLR. Moreover, although no significant difference was found between the mean of NLR value in different tumor types in children, NLR values of astrocytoma and pilocytic astrocytoma are lower than glioblastoma and medulloblastoma. It is important to note that pediatric astrocytoma and pilocytic astrocytoma are with a more favorable prognosis compared to glioblastoma and medulloblastoma.

Using the body's own immune system to fight cancer is increasingly desirable treatment for cancer because of its' potential to specifically target the tumor while limiting damage to normal tissue. Because lymphocytes account for only 20–40% of the total WBC count, low levels of T cells may go unnoticed when WBC count is checked without a differential count of CD4+ (helper) T cells/CD8+ (suppressor) T cells/B cells. Reduced lymphocyte numbers may contribute to cancer development and may affect treatment, especially the current promising treatment of immunotherapy. Furthermore, the success of immunotherapy in tumors of the central nervous system depends on the immune microenvironment and lymphocyte tracking through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) into the central nervous system

REFERENCES

- Grob ST, Levy JMM. Improving diagnostic and therapeutic outcomes in pediatric brain tumors. *Mol Diagn Ther.* (2018) 22:25–39. doi: 10.1007/s40291-017-0299-3
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

(35). The brain is presumably an immune-privileged organ due to the BBB (36). During gliomagenesis, the BBB is broken and circulating immune cells including T cells, B cells, macrophages, and MDSC cross the BBB (37). The resulting bi-directional communication between immune cells and glioma cells create an immunosuppressed microenvironment that promotes tumor survival and growth (38). Glioma-associated microglia and macrophages are attracted to the tumor (39) and can be polarized into M2 becoming tumor-supportive and immunosuppressive cells (40). The glioma immunosuppressive environment is further enhanced by elevated numbers of regulatory T cells (41). Immunophenotyping of pediatric brain tumors reveal immunosuppressive phenotype in higher grade tumors with more regulatory T cells present in these tumor types (42). Interestingly, it has been shown recently that intracranial tumors like GBM may cause depletion of mature T cells (43). The tumor imposed depletion of Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 from the T cell surface prevents their trafficking from lymphoid organs into the circulation. It may well be that in pediatric brain cancer patients the T cells are sequestered in the lymph nodes and can inversely be released to fight cancer by manipulations yet to be discovered. Thus, Immunotherapy via adoptive cell transfer, especially with T cells engineered to express chimeric antigen receptors, represents a promising approach (44). Recent evidence has demonstrated that systemic therapy for brain tumors is not limited by the BBB (45). Cellular therapy as well as reversing immune-suppression through immune checkpoint blockade are showing promising results for GBM (46). In light of these findings the prognostic as well as treatment response prediction value of the NLR warrants prospective validation in large cohorts of children with CNS tumors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was retrospective study of clinical files. Clinical data from 120 pediatric brain cancer patients and 171 elective pediatric patients hospitalized for hernia repair were retrospectively analyzed. The study was approved by the ethical review boards of both Sheba and Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Centers and was consistent with the declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RM-S and DJ contributed to implementation, analysis, and interpretation of the data. RM-S, DJ, MY, AT, EF, and SC were involved in experimental design, in the writing of the manuscript, and have read and approved the final version.

^{3.} Lee HJ, Hong CY, Kim MH, Lee YK, Nguyen-Pham TN, Park BC, et al. *In vitro* induction of anterior gradient-2-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes by dendritic cells transduced with recombinant adenoviruses as a potential therapy for colorectal cancer. *Exp Mol Med.* (2012) 44:60– 7. doi: 10.3858/emm.2012.44.1.006

Thommen DS, Schumacher TN. T Cell dysfunction in cancer. Cancer Cell. (2018) 33:547–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.012

- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. (2002) 420:860– 7. doi: 10.1038/nature01322
- Rosales C. Neutrophil: a cell with many roles in inflammation or several cell types? *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:113. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00113
- Schmidt H, Bastholt L, Geertsen P, Christensen IJ, Larsen S, Gehl J, et al. Elevated neutrophil and monocyte counts in peripheral blood are associated with poor survival in patients with metastatic melanoma: a prognostic model. *Br J Cancer*. (2005) 93:273–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602702
- Fridlender ZG, Albelda SM. Tumor-associated neutrophils: friend or foe? Carcinogenesis. (2012) 33:949–55. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgs123
- Aarts CEM, Kuijpers TW. Neutrophils as myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Eur J Clin Invest. (2018) 48 (Suppl 2):e12989. doi: 10.1111/eci.12989
- Bronte V, Zanovello P. Regulation of immune responses by L-arginine metabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. (2005) 5:641–54. doi: 10.1038/nri1668
- Habibi D, Jalili RB, Forouzandeh F, Ong CJ, Ghahary A. High expression of IMPACT protein promotes resistance to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenaseinduced cell death. J Cell Physiol. (2010) 225:196–205. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22220
- Yuan XK, Zhao XK, Xia YC, Zhu X, Xiao P. Increased circulating immunosuppressive CD14(+)HLA-DR(-/low) cells correlate with clinical cancer stage and pathological grade in patients with bladder carcinoma. *J Int Med Res.* (2011) 39:1381–91. doi: 10.1177/147323001103900424
- Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and doxorubicincyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2009) 58:49–59. doi: 10.1007/s00262-008-0523-4
- Leitch EF, Chakrabarti M, Crozier JE, McKee RF, Anderson JH, Horgan PG, et al. Comparison of the prognostic value of selected markers of the systemic inflammatory response in patients with colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer*. (2007) 97:1266–70. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604027
- Guthrie GJ, Charles KA, Roxburgh CS, Horgan PG, McMillan DC, Clarke SJ. The systemic inflammation-based neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio: experience in patients with cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2013) 88:218– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.03.010
- Paramanathan A, Saxena A, Morris DL. A systematic review and metaanalysis on the impact of pre-operative neutrophil lymphocyte ratio on long term outcomes after curative intent resection of solid tumours. *Surg Oncol.* (2014) 23:31–9. doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2013.12.001
- Templeton AJ, McNamara MG, Seruga B, Vera-Badillo FE, Aneja P, Ocaña A, et al. Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2014) 106:dju124. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju124
- Hu P, Shen H, Wang G, Zhang P, Liu Q, Du J. Prognostic significance of systemic inflammation-based lymphocyte- monocyte ratio in patients with lung cancer: based on a large cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e108062. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108062
- Peng J, Li H, Ou Q, Lin J, Wu X, Lu Z, et al. Preoperative lymphocyteto-monocyte ratio represents a superior predictor compared with neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratios for colorectal liver-only metastases survival. *Onco Targets Ther.* (2017) 10:3789–99. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S140872
- Nishijima TF, Muss HB, Shachar SS, Tamura K, Takamatsu Y. Prognostic value of lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio in patients with solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2015) 41:971– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.10.003
- Grauer OM, Nierkens S, Bennink E, Toonen LW, Boon L, Wesseling P, et al. CD4+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells gradually accumulate in gliomas during tumor growth and efficiently suppress antiglioma immune responses *in vivo*. *Int J Cancer*. (2007) 121:95–105. doi: 10.1002/ijc.22607
- Fan Y, Zhang C, Jin S, Gao Z, Cao J, Wang A, et al. Progress of immune checkpoint therapy in the clinic (Review). Oncol Rep. (2019) 41:3– 14. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6819
- 23. Weiss U. Inflammation. Nature. (2008) 454:427. doi: 10.1038/454427a
- 24. Tao MY, Wang ZH, Zhang MH, Ma TH, Yang XZ, Wu SN, et al. Prognostic value of the systematic immune-inflammation index among patients with operable colon cancer: a retrospective study. *Medicine*. (2018) 97:e13156. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000013156

- 25. Gao Y, Zhang H, Li Y, Wang D, Ma Y, Chen Q. Preoperative increased systemic immune-inflammation index predicts poor prognosis in patients with operable non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2018) 484:272– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2018.05.059
- 26. Qian Y, Tao J, Li X, Chen H, Lu Q, Yang J, et al. Peripheral inflammation/immune indicators of chemosensitivity and prognosis in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Onco Targets Ther.* (2018) 11:1423–32. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S148496
- Marelli G, Sica A, Vannucci L, Allavena P. Inflammation as target in cancer therapy. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2017) 35:57– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2017.05.007
- Mascarella MA, Mannard E, Silva SD, Zeitouni A. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in head and neck cancer prognosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Head Neck.* (2018) 40:1091–100. doi: 10.1002/hed.25075
- Lopes M, Carvalho B, Vaz R, Linhares P. Influence of neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in prognosis of glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurooncol. (2018) 136:173– 80. doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2641-3
- Najjar M, Agrawal S, Emond JC, Halazun KJ. Pretreatment neutrophillymphocyte ratio: useful prognostic biomarker in hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatocell Carcinoma*. (2018) 5:17–28. doi: 10.2147/JHC.S86792
- Abe T, Nakata K, Kibe S, Mori Y, Miyasaka Y, Ohuchida K, et al. Prognostic value of preoperative nutritional and immunological factors in patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2018) 25:3996– 4003. doi: 10.1245/s10434-018-6761-6
- 32. Yang Z, Gu JH, Guo CS, Li XH, Yang WC. Preoperative neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio is a predictor of survival of epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:46414–24. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16793
- Vasquez L, Leon E, Beltran B, Maza I, Oscanoa M, Geronimo J. Pretreatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and lymphocyte recovery: independent prognostic factors for survival in pediatric sarcomas. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* (2017) 39:538–46. doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000000911
- Sacdalan DB, Lucero JA, Sacdalan DL. Prognostic utility of baseline neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors: a review and meta-analysis. Onco Targets Ther. (2018) 11:955– 65. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S153290
- Ameratunga M, Coleman N, Welsh L, Saran F, Lopez J. CNS cancer immunity cycle and strategies to target this for glioblastoma. *Oncotarget*. (2018) 9:22802– 16. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24896
- Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:1368–79. doi: 10.1172/JCI41911
- Gieryng A, Pszczolkowska D, Walentynowicz KA, Rajan WD, Kaminska B. Immune microenvironment of gliomas. *Lab Invest.* (2017) 97:498– 518. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2017.19
- Galvao RP, Zong H. Inflammation and gliomagenesis: bi-directional communication at early and late stages of tumor progression. *Curr Pathobiol Rep.* (2013) 1:19–28. doi: 10.1007/s40139-012-0006-3
- Okada M, Saio M, Kito Y, Ohe N, Yano H, Yoshimura S, et al. Tumor-associated macrophage/microglia infiltration in human gliomas is correlated with MCP-3, but not MCP-1. *Int J Oncol.* (2009) 34:1621–7. doi: 10.3892/ijo_00000292
- Wu SY, Watabe K. The roles of microglia/macrophages in tumor progression of brain cancer and metastatic disease. *Front Biosci.* (2017) 22:1805– 29. doi: 10.2741/4573
- El Andaloussi A, Lesniak MS. CD4+ CD25+ FoxP3+ T-cell infiltration and heme oxygenase-1 expression correlate with tumor grade in human gliomas. J Neurooncol. (2007) 83:145–52. doi: 10.1007/s11060-006-9314-y
- 42. Plant AS, Koyama S, Sinai C, Solomon IH, Griffin GK, Ligon KL, et al. Immunophenotyping of pediatric brain tumors: correlating immune infiltrate with histology, mutational load, and survival and assessing clonal T cell response. *J Neurooncol.* (2018) 137:269–78. doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2737-9
- Chongsathidkiet P, Jackson C, Koyama S, Loebel F, Cui X, Farber SH, et al. Sequestration of T cells in bone marrow in the setting of glioblastoma and other intracranial tumors. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1459– 68. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0135-2

- Choi BD, Maus MV, June CH, Sampson JH. Immunotherapy for glioblastoma: adoptive T-cell strategies. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019). 25:2042–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1625
- 45. Zhang I, Formenti SC, Knisely JPS. Immunotherapy plus stereotactic radiosurgery: building on the promise of precision medicine for CNS malignancies-PART 1: principles of combined treatment. Oncology. (2018) 32:e28–e32. Online available at: https://www.cancernetwork.com/ oncology-journal/immunotherapy-plus-stereotactic-radiosurgery-buildingpromise-precision-medicine-cns-malignancies
- Neagu MR, Reardon DA. An update on the role of immunotherapy and vaccine strategies for primary brain tumors. *Curr Treat Options Oncol.* (2015) 16:54. doi: 10.1007/s11864-015-0371-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yalon, Toren, Jabarin, Fadida, Constantini and Mehrian-Shai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

